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POLICY, FINANCE & STRATEGY COMMITTEE
Membership:

13

Meeting Cycle:

Meets on an eight weekly basis, as required or at
the requisition of the Chair

Quorum:

Half of the members

Membership RMA Hearings: An independent Commissioner plus a minimum of either 3 or 4
elected members (including the Chair) and alternates who have
current certification under the Making Good Decisions Training,
Assessment and Certification Programme for RMA Decision-Makers.
Reports to:

Council

OVERVIEW:
This Committee assists Council in setting the broad direction of the city, discharging statutory
functions, and overseeing organisational performance.
The Committee is aligned with the Transformation & Resources, and Strategy & Engagement,
Directorates.
Its areas of focus are:
▪

Long term/high level strategic focus

▪

Long Term Plan/Annual Plan oversight

▪

District Plan oversight

▪

Housing/homelessness

▪

City growth/economic development

▪

Financial and non-financial performance reporting

▪

Oversight of Property Working Group

▪

Oversight of strategies and policies

▪

Bylaw development

▪

Oversight of CCOs/approval of SOIs

PURPOSE:
To assist the Council in setting the broad vision and direction of the city in order to promote the social,
economic, environmental and cultural wellbeing of the city’s communities in the present and for the
future. This involves determining specific outcomes that need to be met to deliver on the vision for the
city, and overseeing the development of strategies, policies, bylaws and work programmes to achieve
those goals. This committee is also responsible for monitoring the overall financial management and
performance of the Council Group.

DELEGATIONS FOR THE COMMITTEE’S AREAS OF FOCUS:
▪ All powers necessary to perform the Committee’s responsibilities including the activities
outlined below.
▪ Develop required strategies and policies. Recommend draft and final versions to Council for
adoption where they have a city-wide or strategic focus.
▪ Implement, monitor and review strategies and policies.
▪ Oversee the implementation of major projects provided for in the LTP or Annual Plan.
▪ Oversee budgetary decisions provided for in the LTP or Annual Plan.
▪ Recommend to Council the approval of any financial decisions required outside of the annual
budgeting process.
▪ Maintain an overview of work programmes carried out by the Council’s Transformation &
Resources, and Strategy & Engagement, Directorates.
▪ Conduct any consultation processes required on issues before the Committee.
▪ Approval and forwarding of submissions.
▪ Any other matters delegated to the Committee by Council in accordance with
approved policies and bylaws.
▪ The committee has the powers to perform the responsibilities of another committee where it is
necessary to make a decision prior to the next meeting of that other committee. When exercised, the
report/minutes of the meeting require a resolution noting that the committee has performed the
responsibilities of another committee and the reason/s.
▪ If a policy or project relates primarily to the responsibilities of the Policy, Finance & Strategy
Committee, but aspects require additional decisions by the Communities Committee, Infrastructure &
Regulatory Committee and/or Climate Change & Sustainability Committee, then the Policy, Finance
& Strategy Committee has the powers to make associated decisions on behalf of those other
committees. For the avoidance of doubt, this means that matters do not need to be taken to more
than one of those committees for decisions.
District Plan Delegations:
▪ Undertake a full review of the City of Lower Hutt District Plan, including oversight of the District
Plan Review Subcommittee in establishing a District Plan work programme and monitoring its
implementation.
▪ Consideration of matters related to the preparation and ongoing monitoring of the City of Lower
Hutt District Plan.
▪ Preparation of required Changes and Variations to the City of Lower Hutt District Plan for
Council approval to call for submissions.
▪ Make recommendations to Council on private District Plan Change requests for Council to
accept, adopt or reject.
▪ The Chair of the Policy, Finance & Strategy Committee, in conjunction with the Chief
Executive, is authorised to appoint a District Plan Hearings Subcommittee of suitably qualified
persons to conduct hearings on behalf of the Committee.
Bylaw Delegations:
▪ Develop and agree the Statement of Proposal for new or amended bylaws for consultation.

▪ Recommend to Council the approval of draft bylaws prior to consultation.
▪ The Chair of the Policy, Finance & Strategy Committee, in conjunction with the Chief
Executive, is authorised to appoint a Subcommittee of suitably qualified persons to conduct
hearings on draft bylaws on behalf of the Committee.
▪ Recommend to Council new or amended bylaws for adoption.
Financial, Project and Performance Reporting Delegations:
▪ Recommend to Council the budgetary parameters for preparation of the Council’s Long Term
Plans (LTP) and Annual Plans.
▪ Monitor progress towards achievement of budgets and objectives for the Council Group as set out in
the LTP and Annual Plans, including associated matters around the scope, funding, prioritising and
timing of projects.
▪ Monitoring and oversight of significant city-wide or strategic projects including operational contracts,
agreements, grants and funding, except where these are the responsibility of another standing
committee.
▪ Monitor progress towards achievement of the Council’s outcomes as set out in its overarching
strategies for the city and their associated plans.
▪ Oversee the activities of the Property Working Group in its implementation of the Purchase and Sale
of Property for Advancing Strategic Projects Policy.
▪ Oversee the acquisition and disposal of property in accordance with the LTP.
▪ Monitor the integrity of reported performance information at the completion of Council’s
Annual Report process.
▪ Review and recommend to Council the adoption of the Annual Report.
▪ Recommend to Council the approval of annual Statements of Corporate Intent for Council
Controlled Organisations and Council Controlled Trading Organisations and granting
shareholder approval of major transactions.
▪ Monitor progress against the CCO and CCTO Statements of Intent and make
recommendations to Council in the exercising of Council powers, as the shareholder, in
relation to Council Controlled Organisations/Council Controlled Trading Organisations under
sections 65 to 72 of the Local Government Act.
▪ Oversee compliance with Council’s Treasury Risk Management Policy.
▪ Consider and determine requests for rates remissions.
▪ Consider and determine requests for loan guarantees from qualifying community organisations
where the applications are within the approved guidelines and policy limits.

NOTE:

The Ministry for the Environment advocates that Councils offer specialist RMA training in
areas of law which are difficult to grasp or where mistakes are commonly made. This is to
complement the Good Decision Making RMA training that they run (which is an overview
and basic summary of decision making, rather than an in-depth training in specific areas of
the RMA). Therefore in order to facilitate this, the RMA training run for councillors that wish
to be hearings commissioners is mandatory.

Reasons for the importance of the training:
1. Hearings commissioners are kept abreast of developments in the legislation.
2. Legal and technical errors that have been made previously are avoided (many of which have
resulted in Environment Court action which is costly, time consuming and often creates
unrealistic expectations for the community).
3. The reputation of Council as good and fair decision makers or judges (rather than legislators) is
upheld.
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HUTT CITY COUNCIL
KOMITI RATONGA RANGATŌPŪ ME TE RAUTAKI
POLICY, FINANCE AND STRATEGY COMMITTEE
Meeting to be held via Zoom on
Thursday 28 April 2022 commencing at 2.00pm.
ORDER PAPER
PUBLIC BUSINESS
1.

APOLOGIES
An apology from Cr Rasheed has been received.

2.

OPENING FORMALITIES - KARAKIA TIMATANGA (22/906)

Whakataka te hau ki te uru
Whakataka te hau ki te
tonga
Kia mākinakina ki uta
Kia mātaratara ki tai
E hī ake ana te atakura
He tio, he huka, he hau hū
Tīhei mauri ora.

3.

Cease the winds from the west
Cease the winds from the south
Let the breeze blow over the land
Let the breeze blow over the ocean
Let the red-tipped dawn come with a sharpened
air.
A touch of frost, a promise of a glorious day.

PUBLIC COMMENT
Generally up to 30 minutes is set aside for public comment (three minutes per
speaker on items appearing on the agenda). Speakers may be asked questions on
the matters they raise.

4.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST DECLARATIONS
Members are reminded of the need to be vigilant to stand aside from decision
making when a conflict arises between their role as a member and any private or
other external interest they might have

5.

RECOMMENDATIONS TO COUNCIL | TE KAUNIHERA O TE AWA
KAIRANGI - 24 May 2022
a)

Water Supply Bylaw Review 2022 (22/556)
Report No. PFSC2022/2/67 by the Senior Policy Advisor
CHAIR’S RECOMMENDATION:
“That the recommendations contained in the report be endorsed.”

9

7

b)

28 April 2022

Proposed Private District Plan Change 54: Boulcott's Farm Heritage Golf
Club - Rezoning to General Residential Activity Area (22/658)
Report No. PFSC2022/2/68 by the Policy Planner

32

CHAIR’S RECOMMENDATION:
“That the recommendations contained in the report be endorsed.”
c)

New Zealand Local Government Funding Agency Green, Social and
Sustainability Lending Programme (22/762)
Report No. PFSC2022/2/69 by the Treasury Officer

90

CHAIR’S RECOMMENDATION:
“That the recommendations contained in the report be endorsed.”
d)

Intensification Planning Instrument: Financial Contributions Assessment
(22/982)
Report No. PFSC2022/2/80 by the Principal Environmental Policy Analyst
100
CHAIR’S RECOMMENDATION:
“That the recommendations contained in the report be endorsed.”

6.

NEW ZEALAND LOCAL GOVERNMENT FUNDING AGENCY DRAFT STATEMENT OF INTENT 2022-2025 AND HALF YEAR
PERFORMANCE RESULTS (22/593)
Report No. PFSC2022/2/70 by the Treasury Officer

113

CHAIR’S RECOMMENDATION:
“That the recommendations contained in the report be endorsed.”
7.

RATES REMISSION ON MĀORI LAND POLICY 2022 (22/752)
Report No. PFSC2022/2/72 by the Policy Advisor
CHAIR’S RECOMMENDATION:
“That the recommendations contained in the report be endorsed.”

163
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INFORMATION ITEM
Policy, Finance and Strategy Committee Forward Programme 2022
(22/863)
Report No. PFSC2022/2/71 by the Democracy Advisor
CHAIR’S RECOMMENDATION:
“That the recommendation contained in the report be endorsed.”

9.

QUESTIONS
With reference to section 32 of Standing Orders, before putting a question a
member shall endeavour to obtain the information. Questions shall be concise
and in writing and handed to the Chair prior to the commencement of the
meeting.

10.

CLOSING FORMALITIES - KARAKIA WHAKAMUTUNGA (22/907)

Unuhia!
Unuhia!
Unuhia i te uru-tapu-nui
Kia wātea, kia māmā
Te ngākau, te tinana, te
wairua i te ara takatū
Koia rā e Rongo
whakairihia ake ki runga
Kia wātea, kia wātea!
Ae rā, kua wātea!
Hau, pai mārire.

Judy Randall
DEMOCRACY ADVISOR

Release us from the supreme sacredness of our
tasks
To be clear and free
in heart, body and soul in our continuing
journey
Oh Rongo, raise these words up high
so that we be cleansed and be free,
Yes indeed, we are free!
Good and peaceful

180
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Policy, Finance and Strategy
Committee
04 March 2022

File: (22/556)

Report no: PFSC2022/2/67

Water Supply Bylaw Review 2022
Purpose of Report
1.

To report to the Committee the background information associated with the
s155 review of the Water Supply Bylaw 2010.

Recommendations
That the Committee recommends that Council:
(1) notes the Local Government Act 2002 (LGA 2002) requires Council to review
its bylaws to ensure that they comply with the matters set out in sections 155
and 159 of the LGA 2002;
(2) notes the Water Supply Bylaw 2010 has been reviewed in accordance with
section 155 of the LGA 2002;
(3) notes the outcome of the section 155 review of the Water Supply Bylaw is to
propose amendments to the bylaw, as more particularly detailed in the
Statement of Proposal (a draft of which is attached as Appendix 1 to the
report) and that a Summary of the proposed Water Supply Bylaw is attached
as Appendix 2 to the report;
(4) agrees to consult on the Water Supply Bylaw (a draft of which is attached as
Appendix 3 to the report) in accordance with the requirements of the LGA
2002;
(5) notes if the Committee agrees to make the recommendation to Council in (4)
above, the proposed Water Supply Bylaw (subject to any changes requested
by the Committee) will be included on the agenda for Council’s
consideration at its meeting on 24 May 2022, together with the Committee’s
DEM15-4-2 - 22/556 - Water Supply Bylaw Review 2022
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recommendations; and
(6) agrees that the Chief Executive be delegated authority to make minor
changes to the proposed Water Supply Bylaw if required prior to
consultation.
For the reasons that it is necessary to report to Council the background
information associated with the s155 review of the Water Supply Bylaw 2010.
Background
2.

The review of the Water Supply Bylaw is taking place in a complex and
shifting environment, introducing new legislation and regulatory
requirements, with more legislation and regulatory requirements likely in
the next few years.

3.

The Water Services Act came into effect 15 November 2021. Under this Act
duties for drinking water suppliers include providing drinking water that
meets drinking water standards, the creation of drinking water safety plans,
protecting against risks of backflow and a requirement to register the supply
of drinking water with a new Government regulator – Taumata Arowai.

4.

The new regulatory framework for ensuring safe drinking water and
improved environmental outcomes for wastewater and stormwater, will be
overseen by Taumata Arowai.

5.

Taumata Arowai is developing new drinking water standards for water
suppliers to replace the current Drinking Water Standards for New Zealand
(DWSNZ)—the standards relevant for the Water Supply Bylaw 2022. New
drinking water standards will come into effect 1 July 2022. This will likely
necessitate another review of the Water Supply Bylaw 2022 before its expiry
date of 21 September 2027.

6.

From 1 July 2024 four new water service entities, established through the
Three Waters Reform, will deliver drinking water, wastewater and
stormwater services to people across Aotearoa.

7.

From now until 1 July 2024, councils will play a role in the transition to the
four new water service entities, supported by a National Transition Unit
(NTU). Councils will continue to be responsible for the delivery of water
services until 30 June 2024. This transition will likely require councils to
review water supply bylaws again.

8.

The current Hutt City Council Water Supply Bylaw lapses in September
2022, after the date for the introduction of new drinking water standards (ie
1 July 2022) and prior to the transition date to the new water service entities
(ie 1 July 2024). Legal advice from Local Government New Zealand suggests
that councils should maintain/roll over current water supply bylaws that
lapse during this transition period, citing only legislative updates, changes to
standards and any other minor changes.

DEM15-4-2 - 22/556 - Water Supply Bylaw Review 2022
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Discussion
Legal position
9. Section 155 of the LGA 2002 provides that a local authority must consider the
following matters when undertaking a bylaw review process:
9.1 Determine whether a bylaw is the most appropriate way of addressing
the perceived problem;
9.2 Determine whether the proposed bylaw is the most appropriate from of
the bylaw; and
9.3 That any proposed bylaw is not inconsistent with the New Zealand Bill of
Rights Act 1990.
Bylaw review conclusions
10. Despite the complex and shifting environment surrounding water supply
regulations, councils are required to keep water supply bylaws renewed
throughout the transition period between now and 1 July 2024.
11. The review of the Water Supply Bylaw reflects legislative and standards
changes that have taken effect since the previous review in 2010.
Options
12. Having established that there is a need to review and recommend changes to
the Water Supply Bylaw 2010, it is proposed that Council establish the
proposed new bylaw.
Climate Change Impact and Considerations
13. The matters addressed in this report have been considered in accordance
with the process set out in Council’s Climate Change Considerations Guide
and there is no climate change assessment required in this instance.
Consultation
14. Wellington Water Limited was consulted as the technical expert as part of
the review process and has approved the content of the Water Supply Bylaw
2022. Once approved by Council, the draft Water Supply Bylaw will go out
for general public consultation.
Legal Considerations
15. Legal advice received from Local Government New Zealand has confirmed
that councils are recommended to maintain/roll over current water supply
bylaws during the transition period between now and 1 July 2024, avoid
widespread or speculative changes.
16. If Council agrees with this proposal, the next legal step requires Council to
undertake consultation pursuant to the LGA 2002.
Financial Considerations
17. The review of this Water Supply Bylaw is being managed internally within
existing baselines.

DEM15-4-2 - 22/556 - Water Supply Bylaw Review 2022
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18. There is no expected impact on budgets with the proposed changes to the
Bylaw.
Appendices
No.

Title

Page

1⇩

Appendix 1: Statement of Proposal to review the Hutt City Council
Water Supply Bylaw 2022

13

2⇩

Appendix 2: Summary of Proposal to review the Hutt City Council
Water Supply Bylaw 2022

19

3⇩

Appendix 3: Water Supply Bylaw Review 2022

21

Author: Olivia Miller
Policy Advisor

Author: Angela Gordon
Senior Policy Advisor

Author: Bruce Hodgins
Strategic Advisor

Reviewed By: Kiri Waldegrave
Acting Head of Strategy and Planning

Reviewed By: Bradley Cato
Chief Legal Officer

Approved By: Jarred Griffiths
Director Strategy and Engagement
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Appendix 1: Statement of Proposal to review the Hutt City Council Water Supply
Bylaw 2022

STATEMENT OF PROPOSAL TO
REVIEW THE HUTT CITY COUNCIL
WATER SUPPLY BYLAW 2010
April 2022
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Appendix 1: Statement of Proposal to review the Hutt City Council Water Supply
Bylaw 2022

CONTENTS

Statement of Proposal to review the Hutt City Council Water Supply Bylaw 2010

1.

Introduction..................................................................................................................................... 3

2.

Background..................................................................................................................................... 3

3.

4.

2.1

The perceived problem ..................................................................................................................... 4

2.2

Most appropriate way to address perceived problem ........................................................................ 4

2.3

Most appropriate form of bylaw ......................................................................................................... 4

2.4

Implications under the New Zealand Bill of Rights Act 1990 (“NZBORA”) ........................................ 4

The Proposed Bylaw ...................................................................................................................... 4
3.1

Additions, modifications and deletions made in respect of existing bylaw......................................... 5

3.2

Explanation of the proposed Bylaw content ...................................................................................... 5

Process for the Development of the Proposed Bylaw ............................................................... 6
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1.

Appendix 1: Statement of Proposal to review the Hutt City Council Water Supply
Bylaw 2022

INTRODUCTION

Statement of Proposal to review the Hutt City Council Water Supply Bylaw 2010

Hutt City Council proposes to replace the existing Hutt City Council Water Supply Bylaw 2010 with a
new Water Supply Bylaw 2022.
This Statement of Proposal has been prepared in accordance with section 83 of the Local
Government Act 2002 (“LGA”). It includes information about the review process and whether it is
appropriate for the Council to have a bylaw relating to water supply.

2.

BACKGROUND
Council is required to review its Water Supply Bylaw by 21 September 2022, under section 159 of the
LGA. If the review is not undertaken by this date, the bylaw lapses. Under sections 159 and 155, the
review of a bylaw must take the form of reconsideration of the matters that the Council is normally
required to consider before making a bylaw.
The Council must therefore determine whether a bylaw is the most appropriate way of addressing the
perceived problem. If so, the Council must determine whether the proposed Bylaw is the most
appropriate form of bylaw, and whether the proposed Bylaw gives rise to any implications under the
New Zealand Bill of Rights Act 1990 (“NZBORA”). No bylaw can be inconsistent with the NZBORA.
In reviewing a bylaw, the Council may use the special consultative procedure set out in section 156.
Under section 145, the Council may make bylaws for its district with the purposes of:
a.
b.
c.

protecting the public from nuisance;
protecting, promoting, and maintaining public health and safety;
minimising the potential for offensive behaviour in public places.

Council can also make bylaws for specific purposes as listed in section 146, for the purposes of:
a. regulating 1 or more of the following:
i. on-site wastewater disposal systems
ii. waste management
iii. trade wastes
iv. solid wastes
v. keeping of animals, bees and poultry
vi. trading in public places
b. of managing, regulating against, or protecting from, damage, misuse, or loss, or for preventing
the use of, the land, structures, or infrastructure associated with 1 or more of the following:
i. water races
ii. water supply
iii. wastewater, drainage, and sanitation
iv. land drainage
v. cemeteries
vi. reserves, recreation grounds, or other land under the control of the territorial authority
The 2010 Bylaw can be viewed by visiting the Council’s website: www.huttcity.govt.nz

Page 3 of 6
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2.1

Appendix 1: Statement of Proposal to review the Hutt City Council Water Supply
Bylaw 2022

THE PERCEIVED PROBLEM

Statement of Proposal to review the Hutt City Council Water Supply Bylaw 2010

The perceived problem means that a bylaw about water supply is consistent with the provisions in the
LGA relating to the Council’s bylaw-making powers. The Council considers that it is still necessary to
have a bylaw relating to water supply for the relative purposes listed in sections 145 and 146 of the
LGA 2002.
Hutt City Council has a commitment to achieving city wide outcomes identified by the community.
Community Outcomes are set out on page 134 of the Hutt City 10-Year Plan 2021-2031. The Water
Supply Bylaw contributes to our community outcomes of a safe community, healthy people and a
healthy natural environment.
The proposed Bylaw is generally intended to ensure adequate controls and monitoring are retained to
meet public expectations of the Council’s contribution to safe and well-managed water supply in Lower
Hutt.

2.2

MOST APPROPRIATE WAY TO ADDRESS PERCEIVED PROBLEM
Council considers that the proposed Bylaw is the most appropriate way to address the perceived
problem. The Council also considers that the proposed Bylaw will contribute to achieving the
community outcomes identified in the Council’s Long Term Plan.

2.3

MOST APPROPRIATE FORM OF BYLAW
The proposed Bylaw addresses the perceived problem by ensuring it is line with current legislative
requirements and current standards.
The proposed Bylaw clearly states the Council’s position by stating whether or not an activity is
permitted, and which activities constitute an offence of the bylaws. The Bylaw sets out what action
needs to be taken to comply with it, for example, whether prior written permission of the Council is
required.
The proposed Bylaw has been prepared in the same style to be consistent with other parts of the Hutt
City Council Bylaws.
The proposed Bylaw is therefore the most appropriate form of bylaw. It clearly states the Council’s
position on each issue, how the Bylaw can be complied with, reflects the Council’s existing policies
and practices, and addresses the perceived problem.

2.4

IMPLICATIONS UNDER THE NEW ZEALAND BILL OF RIGHTS ACT 1990
(“NZBORA”)
Section 155(2)(b) of the LGA requires the Council to determine whether the Water Supply Bylaw gives
rise to implications under the New Zealand Bill of Rights Act 1990. It is the Council’s view that no
provision of the proposed Bylaw is inconsistent with the Bill of Rights Act 1990.

3.

THE PROPOSED BYLAW
This section outlines the outcome of the review of the existing Bylaw, and provides an explanation of
the proposed Bylaw.
Page 4 of 6
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Appendix 1: Statement of Proposal to review the Hutt City Council Water Supply
Bylaw 2022

Statement of Proposal to review the Hutt City Council Water Supply Bylaw 2010
The proposed Bylaw is based on the existing 2010 Bylaw that was adopted under the Local
Government Act 2002.

3.1

ADDITIONS, MODIFICATIONS AND DELETIONS MADE IN RESPECT OF EXISTING
BYLAW
The additions, modifications or deletions proposed when compared to the 2010 Bylaw originate from
updated legislation and standards; namely:
•

Fire and Emergency New Zealand Act 2017

•

Water Supply Act 2021

•

Drinking Water Standards for New Zealand 2005 (revised 2018)

•

AS/NZS 2845.1 Water Supply – Backflow prevention devices 2010

•

Regional Standard for Water Services v3.0 (December 2021)

The additions, modification or deletions are technical in nature and have been approved by Wellington
Water as the technical expert of the contents of this Bylaw.

3.2

EXPLANATION OF THE PROPOSED BYLAW CONTENT
In general terms, the proposed Bylaw provides a mechanism by which the Council can prevent or
manage the perceived problem. The following outlines the rationale for the inclusion of each of the
clauses in the proposed bylaw.
Proposed clause 1 – Interpretation and definitions
This clause is proposed so that the meaning of terms used in the bylaw is clear.
Proposed clause 2 – Protection of water supply
The purpose of this clause is to ensure that access to the water supply system is done with permission
from the Water Supply Authority and adheres to restrictions to working around buried services and
access to water via fire hydrants.
Proposed clause 3 – Types of supply
The purpose of this clause is to clearly explain the various types of supply including ordinary,
extraordinary and restricted flow and the associated fees and rules of use eg times and days for
garden and lawn watering. This clause also sets out the Water Supply Authority’s responsibilities for
the continuity of supply.
Proposed clause 4 – Point of Supply
The purpose of this clause is to explain where the responsibilities lie between the Water Supply
Authority and the customer and when access to the point of supply can be granted to the Water
Supply Authority for the purposes of maintenance. This clause also explains expectations of
maintenance and repair work at the point of supply.
Proposed clause 5 – General conditions of supply
The purpose of this clause is to make it clear the various conditions under which the customer supply
may be used or changed including prohibiting or restricting the use of water for a specific purpose,
related liabilities in relation to a change in customers water supply, expectations for backflow
prevention, wastewater and prohibited use, flow restrictors and meters, and water used for fire
protection.

Page 5 of 6
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Appendix 1: Statement of Proposal to review the Hutt City Council Water Supply
Bylaw 2022

Statement of Proposal to review the Hutt City Council Water Supply Bylaw 2010
Proposed clause 6 – Applications for supply
The purpose of this clause is to outline the expectations for customers applying for new connections
for water supply, disconnections, replacements, or alterations including water meters, fire service, flow
restrictors or backflow devices. The expectations also include relevant fees and application process
times.
Proposed clause 7 – Administration
The purpose of this clause is to explain the various administration areas related to this Bylaw including
payment of fees, transfer of rights and responsibilities, change in ownership, offences against the
bylaw, penalties for a breach of any part of the bylaw and the resolution of power.

4.

PROCESS FOR THE DEVELOPMENT OF THE PROPOSED
BYLAW
The public engagement via a notice in the Hutt News and on the Hutt City Council website will end at
XXXXXXXXXXXXXXX.
An analysis of all submissions will then be presented to the relevant committee for consideration. The
proposed bylaw will then be referred to the Council for consideration and adoption.

Page 6 of 6
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Appendix 2: Summary of Proposal to review the Hutt City Council Water Supply
Bylaw 2022

SUMMARY OF PROPOSAL –
WATER SUPPLY BYLAW 2022
Council proposes to make a Hutt City Council Water Supply Bylaw to replace the current
2010 Water Supply Bylaw.
THE CURRENT 2010 WATER SUPPLY BYLAW
The 2010 Bylaw outlines technical aspects of water supply:
a)

application for supply

b)

points of supply;

c)

responsibility for maintenance;

d)

on demand supply

e)

restricted flow supply

f)

continuity of supply

g)

fire protection connection

h)

backflow prevention

i)

meters and flow restrictors

j)

customer responsibilities

k)

working around buried services

l)

council equipment

m)

payment

n)

transfer of rights and responsibilities

o)

change of ownership

p)

termination

q)

offences

r)

resolution power and code of practice

.
The current Hutt City Water Supply Bylaw 2010 can be viewed by visiting the Council website:
www.huttcity.govt.nz

APRIL 2022
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Appendix 2: Summary of Proposal to review the Hutt City Council Water Supply
Bylaw 2022
SUMMARY OF PROPOSAL –
WATER SUPPLY BYLAW 2022 SUPPLY BYLAW 2022

THE PROPOSED 2022 WATER SUPPLY BYLAW

A bylaw about water supply is consistent with the provisions in the Local Government Act 2002 under
section 145 relating to the Council’s bylaw-making powers. Council considers that it is necessary to
have a bylaw relating to water supply for the purposes of:
−

protecting the public from nuisance;

−

protecting, promoting and maintaining public health and safety;

−

minimising the potential for offensive behaviour in public places.

The proposed 2022 Bylaw will ensure adequate controls are retained to meet public expectations
around providing and maintaining drinking water supply in Lower Hutt.
In preparing the proposed 2022 Bylaw, Council considered that the provisions of the 2022 Bylaw
remain the most appropriate way of addressing the range of activities and behaviours as summarised
above.

CONCLUSION
The proposed 2022 Water Supply Bylaw seeks to ensure the safe provision of drinking water within
Lower Hutt so as to maintain standards for public health and safety, protect the public from nuisance,
minimise the potential for offensive behaviour in public places. The proposed bylaw will replace the
existing Hutt City Council Water Supply Bylaw 2010.
Council is seeking submissions on this proposal. The full statement of proposal to create the 2022
Bylaw as noted above along with a submission form are available on the Council website
www.huttcity.govt.nz or at the Hutt City Council Administration Building, 30 Laings Road, Lower Hutt,
and all Hutt City Council libraries.

Submissions open on XXXXXXXXXXXXXX and close at 5.00pm on XXXXXXXXXXXXXXXX.

APRIL 2022
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1. INTERPRETATION AND DEFINITIONS
“Air Gap Separation” means a minimum vertical air gap between the outlet of the water supply fitting
which fills a storage tank, and the highest overflow water level of that storage tank.
"Backflow" means flow that is contrary to the normal intended direction of flow. It refers to flow from
the customer’s premises back into a public water supply, or back into an aquifer.
“Backflow Prevention Device” means a device used to prevent backflow, excluding secondary
backflow devices between individual apartments or units.
"Customer" is the owner of the premises that is being supplied with water.
"Disconnection" means the physical cutting off of the supply to a premise.
"Extraordinary Supply" is water for non-domestic uses. Extraordinary use includes water supplied
for the following:
a) Domestic spa and swimming pools in excess of 10 cubic metres capacity
b) Commercial and business uses;
c) Industrial uses;
d) Horticultural, agricultural, and viticultural uses;
e) Fire protection systems, other than sprinkler systems installed to comply with NZS 4517;
f) Temporary supply; and
g) Premises exhibiting unusually high-water use, determined at the discretion of the Water
Supply Authority
"Level of Service" means the measurable performance standards on which the Water Supply
Authority aims to supply water to its customers.
"Ordinary Supply" Ordinary supply is water solely for domestic purposes. This includes the use of a
hose for:
a) Washing down a car, boat, caravan, or vehicle on a non-commercial basis;
b) Garden watering by hand;
c) Garden watering by sprinkler or irrigation system; and
d) Use of a fire sprinkler system installed to comply with NZS 4517 (subject to prior
approval of the Water Supply Authority).
"Point of Supply” means the boundary between the water supply network and a private water supply
pipe.
"Premises" means:
a) A property or allotment which is held under a separate Certificate of Title or for
which a separate Certificate of Title may be issued, and in respect to which a
building consent has been or may be issued; or
b) A building that has been defined as an individual unit by a cross-lease, unit title or
company lease and for which a Certificate of Title is available; or
c) Land held in public ownership, such as a reserve, for a particular purpose.

Page 3 of 11
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"Prescribed Fee" means any fees or charges approved by the Water Supply Authority for and items
or services associated with the supply of water and includes any fees/charges adopted by the Council
in accordance with the Local Government (Rating) Act 2002.
"Publicly Notified" means published on the Hutt City Council website and one occasion in one daily
or weekly newspaper circulating in the district, or under emergency conditions, in the most effective
way to suit the particular circumstances.
"Restricted Flow Supply" is where a small continuous flow is supplied through a restrictor and
across an air gap separation, and storage is provided by the customer to cater for their demand
fluctuations.
"Restrictor" means a control device to regulate the flow of water to a customer’s premises.
"Service Pipe" means that section of water pipe between a watermain and the point of supply. This
section of pipe is owned and maintained by the Water Supply Authority.
"Service Valve (Toby)" is the public valve at the customer end of the service pipe owned and
maintained by the Water Supply Authority.
"Supply Pipe" means that section of pipe on the customer’s side of the point of supply through which
water is conveyed to the premises. This section of pipe is owned and maintained by the Customer.
“Urban Zone” means all land parcels not zoned rural in the operative Lower Hutt District Plan.
“Water Supply Authority” means Hutt City Council and its authorised agents.
“Water Supply Authority Approved Contractors” are contractors approved by the Water Supply
Authority.
“Water Supply System” means all those components of the Water Supply Authority network, up to
and including the point of supply. This may include but is not limited to: mains, treated water
reservoirs, trunk mains, service mains, rider mains, pump stations and pumps, valves, hydrants, scour
lines, service pipes, boundary assemblies, meters, backflow prevention devices and tobies. This does
not include water supply system assets owned by Greater Wellington Regional Council.

2. PROTECTION OF WATER SUPPLY
2.1

Access to water supply system and equipment
a) No person other than the Water Supply Authority shall have access to any part of the Water Supply
System without approval, subject to clause 2.2a, except to operate the service valve (toby).
b) No person shall cause damage or otherwise interfere with the water supply system.
c) Any person who breaches clause 2.2a must report that damage or interference to the Water Supply
Authority immediately. The person causing the damage shall be liable for the cost of the repair.

2.2

Working around buried services
a) New connections, including all pipes, fittings, and any other equipment, up to the point of supply,
shall only be installed by Water Supply Authority contractors.
b) No person may excavate or build within 3 meters, or carry out pile driving within 5 meters, of the
Water Supply System without written approval from the Water Supply Authority where water
supply services are located in a road reserve, access must also follow the procedures required to
obtain a Corridor Access Request.
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Fire and emergency
a) Fire and Emergency New Zealand or the Water Supply Authority shall gain access to draw water
from fire hydrants for the purpose of firefighting, including testing, training, or emergency incidents.
b) The right to gain access to, and draw water from the water supply for uses other than firefighting
(for example, flow testing or pipe flushing) shall be restricted to:
i.

The Water Supply Authority; and

ii.

Permit holders, being those persons who after having applied to the Water Supply Authority
are subsequently approved to draw water from fire hydrants or tanker filling points. Such
permits shall be valid only so long as the permit holder complies with the conditions endorsed
on the permit. Without prejudice to other remedies available, the Water Supply Authority may,
pursuant to sections 163 and 164 of the Local Government Act 2002, remove and hold any
equipment used by an offender to gain access to, or draw water from a fire hydrant, and assess
and recover the value of water drawn without authorisation and any other associated costs.

3. TYPES OF SUPPLY
3.1

Ordinary supply
a) All premises are entitled to an ordinary supply of water subject to:
i. The premises being within an urban zone.
ii. During the official periods of ‘daylight saving’, garden and lawn watering is permitted only:
1. by sprinkler, irrigation or watering system, or a single unattended hose, and
2. during the hours of 6-8 am and 7-9 pm, and
3. on alternate days – even-numbered houses on even-numbered days and uneven (odd)
numbered house on uneven (odd) numbered days.
iii. The exclusion of its use under any restrictions imposed by the Water Supply Authority under
clause 5.1 (Demand Management) of this bylaw.
iv. A payment of any prescribed charges in respect of the premises.
v. Compliance with the terms and conditions of this Bylaw.
vi. Payment of any other charges or costs associated with subdivision development.
vii. The Water Supply Authority reserves the right to:
1. require the customer to supply, install and maintain an approved water meter and pay any
prescribed fees; and
2. install a meter or flow restrictor and charge accordingly where it considers water use is
excessive.

3.2

Extraordinary supply
a) The Water Supply Authority shall be under no obligation to provide an extraordinary supply.
b) Extraordinary supply of water, other than where the supply is for fire protection only, shall be
metered.
c) Extraordinary supply of water shall be charged for in accordance with any prescribed fees.
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d) The customer will meet all costs in relation to the installation, maintenance, testing and
replacement of the water meter and backflow prevention device.

3.3

Restricted flow supply
a) The Water Supply Authority shall be under no obligation to provide a supply of restricted flow.
Restricted flow may be available to rural premises where the property boundary is within 100
meters of the urban network.
b) The Water Supply Authority shall charge for the restricted flow supply by on the basis of an agreed
number of water units supplied at a uniform flow rate.

3.4

Continuity of supply
a) The Water Supply Authority does not guarantee an uninterrupted or constant supply of water. Nor
does the Water Supply Authority guarantee maintenance of existing maximum or minimum
pressure.
b) If a customer has a particular requirement for an uninterrupted level of service (flow, pressure, or
quality), it will be the responsibility of that customer to provide any necessary storage, back up
facilities, or equipment.
c) Wherever practical the Water Supply Authority shall make very reasonable attempt to notify the
customer of a scheduled maintenance shutdown of the supply or any works of a permanent or
temporary nature that are planned which will affect existing supply before the work commences.
Where immediate action is required, and notification is impractical, the Water Supply Authority may
shut down the supply without notice.

4. POINT OF SUPPLY
The point of supply makes the boundary of responsibility between the customer and the Water Supply
Authority irrespective of the property boundary and is defined as the tail end of the furthest
downstream asset owned by the Water Supply Authority (typically the service valve) regardless of
whether that asset is inside or outside the property boundary.

4.1

Maintenance and access to point of supply
a) The Water Supply Authority shall maintain the service pipe and fittings up to the point of supply.
b) Where the point of supply is on private property, the customer shall allow the Water Supply
Authority access to, and about, the point of supply between 07:30 and 18:00 on any day for:
i. Meter reading without notice; and
ii. Checking, testing, and maintenance work, with notice being given whenever possible.
c) Outside the house in clause 4.1b (such as for night-time leak detection) the Water Supply Authority
shall give notice to the customer.
d) Under emergency conditions, the customer shall allow the Water Supply Authority free access to,
and about, the point of supply at any hour.
e) The customer shall maintain the area in and around the point of supply, keeping it free of soil,
growth, or other matter, or obstruction which prevents, or is likely to prevent convenient access.
Water Supply Authority may charge for work required to access and maintain access to the point of
supply.
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Maintenance of customers’ services
a) The customer shall maintain the supply pipe and fittings on the customer’s side of the point of
supply.
b) All maintenance and repair works shall be in accordance with this bylaw, relevant regulations,
Council policies, the Regional Standard for Water Services.
c) Quick-closing valves, pumps, or any other equipment which can cause pressure surges or
fluctuations to be transmitted within the water supply system or compromise the ability of the Water
Supply Authority to maintain its levels of service shall not be used on any piping beyond the point
of supply. The Water Supply Authority reserves the right to approve such equipment in special
circumstances.

5. GENERAL CONDITIONS OF SUPPLY
5.1

Demand Management
a) The customer shall comply with any restrictions which shall be publicly notified by the Water Supply
Authority to manage demand, high seasonal or other demands.
b) During emergency conditions, the Water Supply Authority may restrict or prohibit the use of water
for any specified purpose, for any specified period, and for any or all its customers. Such
restrictions shall be publicly notified.

5.2

Liability
a) The Water Supply Authority shall not be liable for any loss, damage, or inconvenience which the
customer (or any person using the supply) may sustain because of deficiencies in, or interruptions
to, the water supply.

5.3

Fire protection connection
a) The Water Supply Authority shall be under no obligation to provide a fire protection supply at any
particular flow or pressure.
b) All fire service connections require a double check detector backflow prevention device.
c) A connection to supply water to a fire protection system shall be used for no other purpose than
firefighting and testing the fire protection system.
d) It shall be the customer’s responsibility to ascertain and monitor whether the fire protection supply
available is adequate for the intended purpose.
e) Water used for the purpose of extinguishing fires will be supplied free of charge.
f) Whenever water has been used for firefighting purposes, the Water Supply Authority shall, upon
notification, assess the quantity of water used, and a sum based on the estimate at the appropriate
charge rate shall be credited to the customer’s account.

5.4

Backflow prevention
a) It is the customer’s responsibility to take all the necessary measures on the customer’s side of the
point of supply to prevent water which has been drawn from the Water Supply Authority’s water
supply from returning to that supply.
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b) Extraordinary use customers must fit a backflow prevention device appropriate to the hazard
classification of the premises as specified by the Water Supply Authority.
c) The customer is required to maintain the backflow prevention device in good working order and
undertake annual inspection by an Independent Qualified Person (IQP). The annual inspection
certification for each device shall be forwarded to the Water Supply Authority.
d) The Water Supply Authority may charge a prescribed fee for the annual inspection of backflow
prevention devices where the customer has not undertaken the annual inspection.
e) Where a backflow prevention device is found to be non-compliant, the Water Supply Authority will
issue an infringement notice to the customer and reserves the right to install a flow restrictor until
the customer demonstrates that the device is compliant.

5.5

Meters
a) All meters must be installed and maintained by the customer in compliance with the requirements
of the Water Supply Authority, including the requirements contained in the Wellington Water
Regional Standard for Water Services.
b) Testing, maintenance, and replacement of meters shall be undertaken by the customer when
required by the Water Supply Authority.
c) The Water Supply Authority retains the right to carry out an independent test on any water meter.
d) If any meter, after being tested, needs to be repaired or replaced, the customer must complete
such repair or replacement within ten working days of the date of the test certificate. If:
i. The meter is repaired, the customer must also provide the Water Supply Authority with an
independent test certificate indicating the meter is functioning accurately withing ten working
days; or if
ii. The meter is to be replaced, the new meter must be installed in compliance with the
requirements of the Water Supply Authority.
e) If any meter, after being tested, is found to register a greater or lesser consumption than the
quantity of water passed through the meter, the Water Supply Authority shall make an adjustment
to the customer’s account in accordance with the results shown by such tests, backdated for a
period at the discretion of the Water Supply Authority but not exceeding 12 months.

5.6

Flow restrictors
a) All flow restrictors for restricted flow supplies must be installed and maintained by the customer in
compliance with the requirements of the Water Supply Authority, including the requirements
contained in the Regional Standard for Water Services.
b) Testing, maintenance and replacement of flow restrictors shall be undertaken by the customer
when required by the Water Supply Authority.
c) The Water Supply Authority retains the right to carry out an independent test on any flow restrictor.
d) If any flow restrictors, after being tested, needs to be repaired or replaced, the customer must
complete such repair or replacement within ten working days of the date of the test certificate. If:
i. The flow restrictors are repaired, the customer must also provide the Water Supply Authority
with an independent test certificate indicating the flow restrictor is functioning accurately within
10 working days: or if
ii. flow restrictors are to be replaced, the new flow restrictors must be installed in compliance with
the requirements of the Water Supply Authority.
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Water waste and prohibited use
a) The customer shall not allow water to run to waste, or leak from any pipe, tap, or other fitting on the
customer’s side of the point of supply, nor allow the condition of the plumbing within the premises
to deteriorate to the point where leakage or wastage occurs.
b) Where a leak is detected or suspected from the customer’s side of the point of supply, the Water
Supply Authority shall notify the customer of the leak.
c) Any customer who receives such notice shall carry out the works necessary to repair the leak and
do this within the timeframe set out in the Water Supply Authority notice.
d) Where a customer fails to fully carry out the necessary repair work within the set timeframe, the
Water Supply Authority reserves the right to install a flow restrictor until the issue is resolved and
notified to the Water Supply Authority.
e) No person shall without written approval of the Water Supply Authority:
i. Use water or water pressure directly from the supply for driving lifts, machinery, elevators,
generators, or any similar device, unless specifically approved; and
ii. Use water for a single pass cooling system or to dilute trade waste prior to disposal, unless
specifically approved.

6. APPLICATIONS FOR SUPPLY
6.1

Application for connection or alteration of connection
a) For every connection to the water supply, disconnection, replacement, alteration of existing
connections or change of use, including application for installation or disconnection of water
meters, fire service, restrictors, or backflow prevention devices, an application must be made to the
Water Supply Authority on the prescribed form and any prescribed fee paid.
b) The applicant must be the owner of the premises or have the written authority to act on behalf of
the owner of the premises for which the supply is sought.
c) On receipt of a complete application and prescribed fee, the Water Supply Authority will:
i. Approve the application, subject to any conditions the Water Supply Authority considers
appropriate, including conditions to comply with this bylaw, relevant regulations, Council policies
and the Regional Standard for Water Services;
ii. Refuse the application; or
iii. Request further information is supplied by the applicant.
d) The Water Supply Authority will notify the applicant of its decision in writing.
e) All work on the public network shall be by contractors approved by the Water Supply Authority and
paid for by the applicant.
f) An approved application under clause 6.1 has not been implemented within six months of the date
of the application will lapse unless the Water Supply Authority approves an extension before the 6
months expires.
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7. ADMINISTRATION
7.1

Payment
a) The customer shall be liable to pay for the supply of water and related services in accordance with
the Water Supply Authority’s prescribed fees and charges.
b) The Water Supply Authority may recover all unpaid water charges as a debt.

7.2

Transfer of rights and responsibilities
a) The customer's rights and responsibilities provided for under this Bylaw are not transferable.
b) A connection to the water supply shall serve only one Customer and shall not extend by hose or
any other pipe beyond that Customer’s property.
c) In particular, and not in limitation of the above, any water which the Customer draws from Water
Supply Authority supply shall not be provided to any other party without approval of Water Supply
Authority.

7.3

Change of ownership
a) In the event of a premises changing ownership or tenant the Water Supply Authority requires the
outgoing owner/tenant to advise details of the new owner or tenant as being the customer at that
premises.
b) Where a premise is metered the outgoing customer shall give the Water Supply Authority five
working days’ notice to arrange a final reading.

7.4

Offences
a) Every person commits an offence against this bylaw who:
i. Does or permits anything contrary to this Bylaw.
1. Not adhering to any restrictions under clause 5.6.
2. Not complying with the requirements of clause 5.7, in the first instance non-compliance has
occurred, a second or greater non-compliance will be prosecuted in accordance with clause
7.5 below, or
3. Any breach of this Bylaw not covered by clauses 5.4 (a) and 5.4 (b) above.
4. Omits or neglects to do anything which ought to be done at the time and in the manner
provided in this Bylaw.
5. Fails to comply with any duty, obligation, or condition imposed by this Bylaw.
6. Fails to comply with any resolution made under this Bylaw.
7. Fails to comply with any approval granted under the Bylaw, including any condition of an
approval granted under this Bylaw.
8. Provides an incorrect application for supply which fundamentally affects the provisions of this
Bylaw.
9. Gains access to and draws water from a fire hydrant without prior approval from the Water
Supply Authority.
10. Makes any connection to the water supply system without prior written approval from the
Water Supply Authority.
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Penalties
a) Any person who commits a breach of any part of this bylaw or an offence will be liable to the
penalties for breach of bylaw prescribed by the Local Government Act 2002.
b) Without prejudice to any of the foregoing, the Water Supply Authority may pursue any other legal
steps it is authorised to take.

7.6

Resolution power
a) The Water Supply Authority may, by resolution, impose such prohibitions, restrictions, controls, or
directions regarding the use of water and impose any requirements it sees fit in relation to the
installation and maintenance of infrastructure necessary for water supply.
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Policy, Finance and Strategy
Committee
21 March 2022

File: (22/658)

Report no: PFSC2022/2/68

Proposed Private District Plan Change 54:
Boulcott's Farm Heritage Golf Club - Rezoning
to General Residential Activity Area
Purpose of Report
1.

This report presents the recommended decisions of the independent hearing
panel on Proposed Private District Plan Change 54: Boulcott’s Farm Heritage
Golf Club - Rezoning to General Residential Activity Area.

Recommendations
That the Committee recommends that Council:
(1) receives the report and recommendation of the hearing panel dated 30
March 2022 (attached as Appendix 1 to the report), acting under delegated
authority pursuant to s34A of the Resource Management Act 1991, for the
hearing of submissions and further submissions on Proposed Private District
Plan Change 54 – Boulcott’s Farm Heritage Golf Club – Rezoning to General
Residential Activity Area;
(2) notes the process under the Resource Management Act 1991 for Proposed
Private District Plan Change 54;
(3) adopts the recommended decisions on Proposed Private District Plan
Change 54, and reasons for those decisions, set out in the hearing panel’s
report.
(4) approves Proposed Private District Plan Change 54 as notified, as
recommended in paragraph 5.1 of the hearing panel’s report;
(5) resolves to publicly notify its decision on Proposed Private District Plan
Change 54 within 10 working days of this decision, and to serve that
decision on the applicant and submitters; and
(6) instructs staff to investigate the roading interventions described in
paragraph 4.18 of the hearing panel’s report, in accordance with
DEM15-4-2 - 22/658 - Proposed Private District Plan Change 54: Boulcott's Farm
Heritage Golf Club - Rezoning to General Residential Activity Area
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recommendation 5.2 of that report, and report to the Traffic Subcommittee.
For the reason that the hearing panel has considered the issues and all
submissions on Proposed Private District Plan Change 54, based on the evidence
provided to the hearing panel.
Background
2.

Urban Perspectives Ltd., on behalf of Boulcott’s Farm Heritage Golf Club,
lodged a private plan change request with Council on 23 October 2020. The
purpose of the request is to rezone part of the golf course’s land to the
General Residential Activity Area.

3.

Officers requested further information on 5 November 2020, and this was
supplied on 4 February 2021.

4.

At its 24 March 2021 meeting, Council resolved to accept the plan change
request, and instructed officers to begin the plan change process as set out in
Schedule 1 of the Resource Management Act 1991.

5.

The proposal was publicly notified for submissions on 13 April 2021. 16
submissions were received.

6.

A summary of decisions requested in submissions was publicly notified on
15 June 2021, to provide for further submissions. One further submission
was received.

7.

Council appointed a hearing panel to hear the application and submissions
and make a recommendation to Council. That panel conducted a hearing
over the course of 1 February to 2 February 2022. The panel has assessed the
evidence presented at the hearing and in other submissions and has now
prepared a recommended decision which is attached as Appendix 1 to this
report.

8.

The hearing panel’s overall recommendation is as follows:
(5.1) Based on our consideration of all the material before us, including the
s42A report from the Council’s consultants, the submissions, further submission,
evidence presented at the hearing and other relevant statutory matters, and for
the reasons we have set out in sections 3 and 4 above, we recommend to the
Council that:
a) The plan change be accepted as notified;
b) That all submissions and the further submission on the plan change be
accepted or rejected to the extent that they correspond with that
conclusion and the matters we have set out in the preceding report
sections; and as summarised in Appendix 1; and
c) Pursuant to Clause 10 of the First Schedule of the RMA, Council gives
notice of its decision on submissions to PC54.
(5.2) Although not within the scope of the plan change, we separately recommend
that the Council’s transport division undertake investigations into roading
improvements as detailed in paragraph 4.18 of this decision. Namely investigating
the:
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a) extension of the No Stopping lines along the High Street frontage
from Kingston Street towards the south to provide the Minimum Gap
Sight Distance (MGSD) of 69m and ideally to accommodate the Safe
Intersection Sight Distance (SISD) of 97m; and
b) flush median through the Kingston/High Streets intersection be
widened to permit left turning traffic to complete their manoeuvre when
a vehicle is waiting to turn right into High Street.

Options
9. The decisions before Council are:
•

to either adopt or reject the hearing panel’s first recommendation (5.1 in
the panel’s report) to approve Proposed Private District Plan Change 54
as notified, including recommended decisions on submissions; and

•

how to acknowledge the hearing panel’s second recommendation (5.2 in
the panel’s report) around investigating potential roading interventions
on High Street near the intersection with Kingston Street.

Recommendations (iii) to (v): Adopt the hearing panel’s recommendation to
approve the plan change as notified and related procedural requirements
10. If Council decides to adopt the recommendation to approve the plan change,
the availability of the Council decision will be publicly notified in the Hutt
News and on Council’s website. At the same time a copy of the public notice
and information about how to lodge an appeal will be served on the
applicant and all submitters, in accordance with clause 29(6) of Schedule 1 to
the Resource Management Act 1991.
11. Any person who has made a submission on the proposed plan change, and
the requestor, has the right to appeal to the Environment Court in respect of
the provisions included or excluded in the proposal, or the provisions the
Council’s decision proposed to include or exclude in the plan change.
12. The right of appeal of submitters is limited to matters raised in their
submission.
13. Council does not have the option of making changes to the hearing panel’s
recommendation because Council has not heard the evidence presented at
the hearing and to change the recommendation would not demonstrate
fairness or natural justice to the plan change requestor and to submitters.
14. If Council decides to reject the recommendation to approve the plan change,
the process would need to return to at least the hearing stage. All submitters
and the requestor of the proposed plan change would need to be re-heard,
either by the same hearing panel or by a newly appointed panel. The panel
would then present a new (and possibly unchanged) recommendation to
Council to again make this decision to accept or reject. This would cause
additional costs and time delays.
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15. If no appeals on the plan change are received, no further action on Council’s
part is required. The District Plan will be amended as set out in the plan
change request and the hearing panel’s recommendation.
16. If one or more appeals are received, Council will need to defend its decision
in the Environment Court.
Recommendation (vi): Adopt the hearing panel’s recommendation to investigate
roading interventions on High Street
17. Although not required as part of the decision on the plan change, because of
the evidence it heard around the transport effects of the proposed plan
change, the hearing panel recommended investigating certain roading safety
interventions near the High Street / Kingston Street intersection.
18. The panel found these interventions would mitigate the transport effects of a
future subdivision and residential development on the land affected by the
plan change if it were to proceed, and may have value even if such a
development does not proceed.
19. These interventions were recommended based on evidence the panel heard
from consultant traffic planners engaged by Council and the plan change
applicant, who had in turn consulted with Council’s transport team.
20. However, the interventions have not yet been assessed in light of Council’s
existing work programs, budget, or conflict with other possible projects.
Climate Change Impact and Considerations
21. Climate change impact has been considered by the hearing panel in making
its recommendation to the extent relevant under the Resource Management
Act and is discussed further in the hearing panel’s report.
Consultation
22. Full public notification, a submissions process, and a public hearing were
conducted in the processing of the plan change as required by the Resource
Management Act 1991, which has specific requirements about the public
engagement involved with private plan change proposals.
Legal Considerations
23. All legal considerations under the Resource Management Act 1991 have been
taken into account and processes have so far been carried out in accordance
with the Act.
Financial Considerations
24. The costs with processing the plan change are and will be passed on to the
applicant in accordance with the provisions of the Resource Management
Act 1991 and Council policy.
25. There would be cost to Council and additional cost to the requestor and
submitters if the decision is appealed.
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26. If Council decided not to adopt the first recommendation of the hearing
panel to approve the plan change, there would be significant extra cost to
Council, the requestor, and submitters associated with repeating all or parts
of the plan change process.
27. The investigation of the roading interventions can be accommodated in the
existing budget of Council’s transport team. If the investigation results in a
recommendation to proceed with work, this would be presented to the
Traffic Subcommittee along with costs to make an additional decision about
how to proceed.
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INDEX OF ABBREVIATIONS
This report utilises several abbreviations and acronyms as set out in the glossary below:
Abbreviation

Means…

“the Act”

Resource Management Act 1991

“BFHGC”

Boulcott’s Farm Heritage Golf Club

“the Council” / “HCC”

Hutt City Council

“CRD(s)”

Comprehensive Residential Development(s)

“District Plan”

Operative City of Lower Hutt District Plan 2004

“FDS”

Future Development Strategy

“GWRC”

Greater Wellington Regional Council

“HBDCA”

Housing and Business Development Capacity Assessment for the Wellington Region
2019

“NESCS”

National Environmental Standard for Assessing and Managing Contaminants in Soil to
Protect Human Health 2011

“NPS-UD”

National Policy Statement on Urban Development 2020

“PC54”

Plan Change 54

“the plan change”

Proposed Plan Change 54 to the Plan

“PNRP”

Proposed Natural Resources Plan

“the Requestor”

Boulcott’s Farm Heritage Golf Club

“RMA”

Resource Management Act 1991

“RPS”

The Regional Policy Statement for the Wellington Region

“s[#]”

Section Number of the RMA, for example s32 means section 32

“s32 report”

The report prepared by the Requestor, pursuant to s32, RMA

“s42A report”

The report prepared by HCC pursuant to s42A, RMA

“the site”

The land situation on the Boulcott’s Farm Heritage Golf Club – subject to this plan
change request

“TIA”

Transportation impact assessment

“UGS”

Hutt City Urban Growth Strategy 2012 - 2032
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Hutt City Council
Private Plan Change 54
Boulcott’s Farm Heritage Golf Club – Rezoning Part of Site to General
Residential Activity Area
Recommendations of the Independent Hearing Panel
Proposal Description:
Proposed Private Plan Change 54 to the City of Lower Hutt District Plan: Boulcott’s Farm Heritage Golf
Club – Rezoning Part of the Site to General Residential Activity Area
Hearing Panel:
R Schofield – Independent RMA Hearing Commissioner, Chair
E A Burge – Independent RMA Hearing Commissioner
Councillor B Dyer – Sitting as an Independent Commissioner
Date of Hearing:
1 February 2022
Hearing Officially Closed:
2 February 2022

1

INTRODUCTION
Report Purpose

1.1

This report sets out our recommendation as to a decision on Proposed Private Plan Change 54
(PC54) to the Operative City of Lower Hutt District Plan 2004.

1.2

We were appointed by the Council to hear submissions made on the private plan change and to
consider and make a recommendation as to a decision. We have the delegated authority of the
Council under section 34A of the Resource Management Act 1991 (RMA) as to whether PC54
should be declined, approved or approved with amendments.

1.3

The plan change (as notified) seeks to rezone approximately 1.6 hectares of the Boulcott Farm’s
Heritage Golf Club’s (BFHGC) land from General Recreation Activity Area to General Residential
Activity Area and to remove the Secondary River Corridor Overlay.

1.4

No new provisions or amendments to existing zone provisions in the District Plan are proposed.
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1.5

We will canvas the plan change’s background in due course. It has been the subject of a section
32 report1, consultation with stakeholders, and, of course, the public notification and hearing
process, culminating in our recommendation as to a decision.

1.6

Before setting out the details of PC54, the submissions to it and our substantive evaluation,
there are some procedural matters that we will address, beginning with our role as an
Independent Panel.

Role and Report Outline
1.7

As noted above, our role is to make a recommendation as to a decision about the outcome of
the plan change on the Council’s behalf. The authority delegated to us by the Council includes
all necessary powers under the RMA to hear and make a recommendation as to a decision on
the submissions received on the plan change.

1.8

The purpose of this report is to satisfy the Council’s various decision-making obligations and
associated reporting requirements under the RMA.

1.9

Having familiarised ourselves with PC54 and its associated background material, read all
submissions and evidence, conducted a site/locality visit and held a hearing, we hereby record
our recommendations.

1.10

In this respect, our report is broadly organised into the following two parts:
Factual context for the plan change:
This non-evaluative section (comprising Section 2 in this report) is largely factual and
contains an overview of the land subject to the plan change, an outline of the background
to the plan change and the relevant sequence of events. It also outlines the main
components of the plan change as notified. This background section provides relevant
context for considering the issues raised in submissions to the plan change. Here, we also
briefly describe the submissions received to the plan change and provide a summary
account of the hearing process itself and our subsequent deliberations. We also consider
here various procedural matters about the submissions received.
Evaluation of key issues:
The second part of our report (comprising Sections 3 to 5) contains an assessment of the
main issues raised in submissions to PC54 and, where relevant, amplification of the
evidence/statements presented at the hearing (in Section 3). We conclude with a
summary of our recommendations (in Section 5), having had regard to the necessary
statutory considerations that underpin our considerations (in Section 4). All these parts of
the report are evaluative, and collectively record the substantive results of our
deliberations.

1.11

1

In advance of setting out the plan change context, we would like to record our appreciation at
the manner in which the hearing was conducted by all the parties taking part. Due to the Covid-

S32 of the RMA sets out the requirements for preparing reports that evaluate the appropriateness of a plan change
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19 Red Alert level, the hearing was held via audio-visual link. All those in attendance via this link
enabled a focused hearing process that greatly assisted us in assessing and determining the
issues, and in delivering our recommendation as to a decision. We thank all attendees for their
patience using the technology.
1.12

These initial thoughts recorded, we now set out the factual background to PC54.

2

PLAN CHANGE CONTEXT
Site and Local Environment

2.1

The site is located in the Boulcott suburb of Lower Hutt. Totalling approximately 1.6 hectares,
it forms a portion of the golf course (being primarily the 10th fairway), to the west of Kingston
and Allen Streets. The street address for the entire golf course is 33 Military Road, Boulcott,
Lower Hutt. The site is undulating in contour, primarily covered in grass, with plantings of
mature trees, forming a typical golf course landscape.

2.2

The site is shown in Figure 1 below, overlying the current zoning pattern in the Plan. The area
subject to the plan change is outlined in red, denoted by green and yellow stripes.

2.3

The s32 evaluation report for PC54 provides the following description for the site:2
The site includes the southern half of the 10th hole of the golf course and is
approximately 260m long (north to south) and 70m wide at the northern end and 50m
wide at the southern end. The site contains the 10th tee area at the southern end, the
fairway and some scattered mature vegetation. At the northern end the site aligns
with a 5m buffer area, protected by an easement on Record of Title, that extends
around the stopbank. To the south of the DPC site is the club’s
maintenance/greenkeepers building. This land is [zoned] General Recreation Activity
Area and is not part of the DPC request. The land to the north is occupied by the
stopbank, utilised as part of the golf course, and a large expanse of golf course. To the
west is a large expanse of golf course land zoned General Recreation Activity Area.
The land to the immediate east of the DPC site is zoned General Residential Activity
Area and is typically occupied by dwellings on sites in the order of 558m2. Most of
these sites have large rear yards adjacent to the golf course although there are
accessory buildings present in some yards. Two sites, namely 34 Allen Street and 35
Kingston Street, contain dwellings that are positioned close to the boundary with the
golf club. Beyond the greenkeepers building to the south is General Residential
Activity Area with the Special Residential Activity Area starting to the south west.
At the western end of Allen and Kingston Streets are two strips of land that are owned
by Hutt City Council. These strips are held in one Record of Title Lots 176/177 & 207
DP 8543/4 PS 39 C2/840. The Lots are not legal road. The DPC site southern boundary

2

Page 2, Boulcott’s Farm Heritage Golf Course District Plan Change Request , prepared by Urban Perspectives Ltd October
2020

22 March 2022

DEM15-4-2 - 22/658 - Proposed Private District Plan Change 54: Boulcott's Farm Heritage Golf Club Rezoning to General Residential Activity Area

Page 6 of 53

Page 44

Attachment 1

Appendix 1: Report of the Independent Hearing Panel

Proposed Private Plan Change 54

Panel Report and Recommendations

does not extend, or align with, the full width of Allen Street. The location of the
southern boundary has been chosen to preserve yard space for the greenkeepers and
provide physical separation between the greenkeepers building and future residential
development. The traffic impact assessment has considered this arrangement and
noted that the proposed access to the site is the same width as the existing sealed
road width and the width would not affect capacity issues to and from the site.

Figure 1. Plan Change 54 site and existing zoning pattern in locality.
(image source: Plan Change prepared in response to request.)

Operative District Plan
2.4

The current zoning of the site and broader area is illustrated in Figure 1 above. The application
site is currently zoned General Recreation Activity Area, is designated by GWRC (WRC 11- Flood
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Protection Purposes) and is located within the “Secondary River Corridor”. The properties
immediately to the east have a Residential General Activity Area zoning.
2.5

Under the Operative General Recreation Activity Area provisions, the only permitted use for the
site are “recreational activities” (Rule 7A 2.1(a)), with buildings no larger than 100m2 (Rule 7A
2.1.1(d)).

2.6

It is requested the subject site be changed to General Residential Activity Area. No new
provisions or amendments to the existing General Residential Activity Area provisions in the
District Plan are proposed.

2.7

The works undertaken by GWRC pursuant to its designation to realign the Hutt River stopbank
and associated works to the golf course mean the area subject to the plan change request is now
on the city side of the stopbank and the site is now protected from flooding of the Hutt River.

2.8

In regard to the ongoing use of the site as a golf course, if the PC54 request is successful, then
s10(1)(a) of the RMA 1991 allows this via ‘existing use rights’. To maintain existing use rights
under section 10(1)(a) the golf ‘activity’ would need to have been lawfully established and the
effects of the use must remain the same or similar in character, intensity, and scale to those
which existed prior to the plan change. In this case the activity is long established, over 80 years,
and is a permitted activity under rule 7A 2.1(a) which permits ‘Recreation Activities’. In regard
to the effects of the use there would be no change in effects from the current use in that golf
activity would continue as it currently does if the land was not developed for housing.

Plan Change Request: Reasons, Purpose, Evaluations and Provisions
2.9

Part 2 of the RMA’s First Schedule sets out various requirements for private plan changes such
as PC54. Under clause 22, any private plan change request is to:
Explain in writing the purpose of, and reasons for, the proposed change;
Contain the required evaluation under s32 of the Act; and
Describe the anticipated environmental effects of the proposal in such detail that
corresponds with the scale and significance of the effects.

2.10

Each of these are discussed further below.

Reasons and Purpose for the Proposed Change
2.11

As notified, the plan change proposes to rezone the area to which it relates from General
Recreation Activity Area to General Residential Activity Area, as illustrated in Figure 1.

2.12

The purpose of the plan change is described in the s32 evaluation report as follows:
The Plan Change Request is proposed for the following main reasons:


the rezoning would assist with Council meeting its housing needs under the
National Policy Statement for Urban Development;



the rezoning allows for Council to meet the growth targets set out in the
Urban Growth Strategy;

22 March 2022
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the proposed zoning is consistent with the adjoining residential area;



the General Residential Activity Area allows for a variety of housing forms



the site can be developed in a manner that allows stormwater discharge to be
fully accommodated on site;



the land that is the subject of the Request is now protected from flooding; and



the site provides a logical extension to urban development; and



the plan change would allow the golf club to continue to function with minor
modifications to the course layout.3

As an aside, we note that, because the notified plan change does not propose any changes to
the objectives of the District Plan, for the purpose of determining whether the objective of the
plan change proposal is the most appropriate way to meet the purpose of the Act we must,
under subsection (6) of s32, treat the purpose of the plan change as the relevant objective of
the proposal.

Section 32 Report
2.14

S32 requires, in this case, an evaluation which:


examines the extent to which the purpose of the plan change is the most appropriate way
to achieve the purpose of the Act (s32(1)(a)); and



examines whether the provisions proposed to be changed are the most appropriate way
to achieve the purpose of the plan change (s32(1)(b)) - by:
o identifying other reasonably practicable options
o assessing the efficiency and effectiveness of the provisions in achieving the purpose
of the plan change by, in accordance with s32(2), identifying and assessing benefits
and costs of anticipated effects (including economic growth and employment), if
practicable quantify those benefits and costs, and assessing the risk of acting or not
acting if there is uncertain or insufficient information about the subject matter of the
provisions, and
o summarising the reasons for deciding on the provisions.4

2.15

3
4

The Requestor’s s32 evaluation report outlined four main zone options for the land in question.


Option 1 – Maintain the Existing Zoning of General Recreation Activity Area



Option 2 – Change to Special Residential Activity Area



Option 3 – Change to Medium Density Residential Activity Area



Option 4 – Change to General Residential Activity Area.

Pages 5 and 6, Boulcott’s Farm Heritage Golf Course District Plan Change Request, prepared by Urban Perspectives Ltd 2020
S32, RMA
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2.16

We concur with the s32 finding that: “Other residential zones (e.g. Historic Residential and Hill
Residential) provide for quite specific environments within the urban area of Hutt City, and in
terms of their particular objectives and policies do not provide a comfortable ‘fit’ with the site.
Other zoning options (i.e. Commercial, Industrial etc) are considered to be unsuitable given their
particular provisions and aims.”5

2.17

The s32 report finds that Option 4 is the recommended approach for the plan change, as it:

2.18



Is the most appropriate way to achieve the objectives of the District Plan;



Provides for the most appropriate zoning of the site subject to the plan change, by using
the provisions that apply to the adjacent residential sites; and



Is the most appropriate way of achieving the sustainable management of the site as it
implements s5 of the RMA (enabling the efficient utilisation of the site in a way and at a
rate that will best meet the wellbeing of the people of the city, and the wider region, now
and in the future).

In regard to the proposal to remove the Secondary River Corridor notation, the s32 report
concludes that:
This notation should be removed from the site because the realignment of the stop
bank means that the site is now protected from flooding of the Hutt River. The GWRC
has not raised any concerns with removing the overlay.
It is not efficient or effective for a notation that is now not applicable to the site to be
retained. There are negligible costs involved because this provision is an ancillary part
of this DPC. The benefit is that the District Plan is updated and does not contain a
redundant notation.6

2.19

In regard to quantification, Section 32(2)(b) requires that, if practicable, the benefits and costs
of environmental, economic, social, and cultural effects that are anticipated from a proposal,
are quantified. We concur with the s32 report findings, that:
No development plans are associated with this plan change request so quantification of
benefits in regard to employment can only be speculated. The construction of dwellings
will clearly result in greater employment compared to retaining the land as a golf course.
While economic growth has not been quantified it is reasonable to conclude that during
the construction period will boost economic growth. Therefore, while costs and benefits
have been considered in evaluating different options above, an exact quantification of
benefits and costs was not considered necessary, beneficial or practicable.7

2.20

5
6
7

The s32 report does not include a discussion of the risk of acting or not acting, as it considers
that there is sufficient information about the zoning options. Such an evaluation is only required
under s32 of the Act where there is uncertain or insufficient information about the subject
matter of the plan change provisions.

Page 7, Boulcott’s Farm Heritage Golf Course District Plan Change Request, prepared by Urban Perspectives Ltd 2020
Page 9, Boulcott’s Farm Heritage Golf Course District Plan Change Request, prepared by Urban Perspectives Ltd 2020
Ibid
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Environmental Effects Assessment
2.21

The plan change request included an assessment of environmental effects (Section 6). It
concluded that residential development of the site:


can and will be efficiently serviced in terms of water, wastewater and stormwater, the
latter two can be appropriately managed through on-site infrastructure. It was noted that
downstream capacity issues currently existed with the stormwater and wastewater
networks;



can occur with no adverse traffic effects. It noted the site access could be affected
through a non-public process to legalise the two strips of land at the end of Kingston and
Allen Streets under the Public Works Act;



would have no adverse cultural effects on the site;



would result in significant and ongoing positive social and community effects for
residential of the city as it would be an efficient and effective use of the land;



may produce adverse amenity and character effects on the immediate neighbours, in
terms of an altered vista (residential buildings instead of a golf course) and the
introduction of residential activities and associated effects e.g. residential noise and traffic
(instead of effects associated with a golf course); however that these adverse effects can
be suitably avoided, remedied or mitigated through the provisions of the General
Residential Activity Area;



may produce adverse amenity effects on 34 Allen Street and 35 Kingston Street due to
the location of the dwellings on these sites;



would have positive economic effects as the construction activity would provide
employment, additional housing would increase the ratings base for the city and the sale
of the site would provide an economic boost of the financial position of the BFHGC;



would be affected by flooding to the same extent as the wider Boulcott residential area
and that it was very unlikely the area would be flooded by the Hutt River that due to the
realignment of the stopbank;



was no more or less exposed to the risk of earthquake hazard than the wider Boulcott
residential area;



was no more or less exposed to the risk of tsunami or the effects of sea level rise than the
wider Boulcott residential area;



would have no material effect on the availability and accessibility of the General
Recreation Activity Area, as the subject land was non-public and its change to allow for
residential development would not affect the amount of General Recreation Activity Area
that the general public could access;



would not materially affect the operation of the golf course, as the course layout could be
modified to accommodate the loss of land;
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would not materially affect public access to the stopbank, as currently no public access
was possible across the subject land;



did not affect the change of ownership of the stopbank land to GWRC;



could occur as the site was most likely not contaminated and that historic pesticide use
would not have any impact on the ability to develop the site for residential purposes;



would have no adverse ecological effects as although there will probably be a loss of some
trees, none are listed as being Notable Trees, there is no Significant Natural resources
overlay over the subject land, and the requirements of the General Residential Activity
Area in regards to protection of vegetation are more restrictive than those under the
current General Recreation Activity Area;



could occur under the recently reviewed General Residential Activity Area provisions; and



would contribute to meeting the Urban Growth Strategy 2014 and requirements of the
NPS-UD.

The plan change documentation, as notified, included correspondence from GWRC, Ministry for
the Environment and iwi authorities. It contained historical aerial photographs of the site. It
also included expert effects assessments as follows:


Transportation Effects Assessment, prepared by Ms L Skilton, Cardno (NZ) Ltd



Infrastructure Effects Assessment, prepared by Cuttriss Consultants Ltd, with associated
correspondence from Wellington Water Ltd (WWL), Wellington Electricity and Chorus,
and GWRC;



The Housing and Business Capacity Assessment, HCC; and



Expert comments regarding the National Environmental Standard for Assessing and
Managing Contaminants in Soil to Protect Human Health 2011, from Prattle Delamore
Partners Ltd.

Notification and Submissions
2.23

The proposed plan change was publicly notified on 20 April 2021 and the submission period
closed on 21 May 2021, by which time fifteen submissions had been lodged. A late submission
was received by the Council on 23 June 2021.

2.24

Two submissions were in support of the proposal and one submission was neutral. The two
submissions in support cited the benefits of additional residential land with one submission
noting the appropriateness of the location.

2.25

One neutral submission was received from Hutt City Council’s Parks and Recreation Division and
sought provision for consideration during the resource consent assessment process of providing
public access and recreation opportunities along the stopbank.

2.26

The summary of decisions requested by submitters was notified on 15 June 2021, and further
submissions closed on 29 June 2021. There was one further submission lodged. The submissions
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received are shown in the following tables (submission numbering is used for the analysis of the
issues later in this report):
Submission Number
DPC54/001
DPC54/002
DPC54/003
DPC54/004
DPC54/005
DPC54/006
DPC54/007
DPC54/008
DPC54/009
DPC54/010
DPC54/011
DPC54/012
DPC54/013
DPC54/014
DPC54/015
DPC54/016 (late)

Name
James Brodie
Paul and Kerry Gillan
Danny Langstraat
Hutt City Council – Parks and Recreation Division
Robert Chisholm
Craig Burnett and Keryn Davis
Steve Machirus
Jennifer Butler for St James Ave Collective
Paul Laplanche
David Cody for St James Ave Collective
Henry Clayton and Margaret Waghorn
Wendy MacDougall
Long Young
Roger Harvey
Charlie Lee
Amy and Alastair Sidford

Further Submission No.
DPC54/FS001

2.27

2.28

Name
Robert Chisholm

Position
Support
Oppose
Oppose
Neutral
Oppose
Oppose
Oppose
Oppose
Oppose
Oppose
Support
Oppose
Oppose
Oppose
Oppose
Oppose

Position
Confirms submitters’ position in DPC54/005

Twelve of the submissions in opposition used a common format that all addressed the same
broad themes, as follows:


Loss of recreation space



Loss of residential amenity



Infrastructure capacity



Traffic effects



Vegetation loss



Potential decline in property values, and



Contamination on the golf course.

The submissions in opposition also asked that HCC investigate and assist the BFHGC to secure
additional funding to enable the land to be left as it is. They also asked that should PC54 be
approved, caveats be placed on the land limiting the scale and style of development and
maximizing the amount of open green space. They further requested all affected parties be
consulted regarding such caveats.

Pre-Hearing Directions and Procedures
2.29

Prior to the commencement of the hearing, we issued a minute to the parties to address various
administrative and substantive matters
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In summary, the first minute, dated 8 October 2021 addressed the following:


Advice as to the date of the hearing



Advice as to the dates for receipt of the Council evidence, Requestor’s evidence and
Submitter’s evidence



Where the reports associated with PC54 can be viewed



The hearing process



Matters relating to Covid-19



A request that all expert witnesses engage in pre-hearing meetings and conferencing



Advise that the Panel would be conducting an independent site/locality visit, and



Administrative address for any queries relating to the hearing.

2.31

A second minute was issued on 3 February 2022 and advised that deliberations into the matter
had been closed, resulting in the official closure of the hearing being 2 February 2022.

2.32

This minute, and the one we issued prior to the hearing, are available on Council file.

2.33

In the lead-up to the hearing, the following reports and evidence were received and made
available to all parties in accordance with the proposed timetable:
The s42A Officer’s report, prepared by Mr Tom Anderson, a consultant planner from Incite
Planning, acting for Hutt City Council, dated 3 December 2021, and incorporating evidence
from the Traffic Engineer, Ms Harriet Fraser of Harriet Fraser Traffic Engineering and
Transportation Planning, and evidence from the Land Development Engineer, Mr Ryan Rose
of Envelope Engineering.
The statement of evidence from the consultant planner for the Requestor, Mr Dan Kellow,
dated 10 December 2021. Accompanying statements of evidence from the Consultant
Engineer, Mr Neil Johnstone of Cuttriss Consultants Ltd, and the Consultant Traffic
Engineer, Ms Laura Skilton of Cardno (NZ) Ltd.

2.34

No expert evidence was received on behalf of the submitters either during the lead-up to or
during the course of the hearing.

The Hearing
2.35

The hearing commenced at 9.00am on Tuesday 1 February 2022 in the Council Chambers at 30
Laings Road, Lower Hutt.

2.36

Mr Cameron Kapua-Morrell, Pou Reo me Ōna Tikanga (HCC Māori Cultural Advisor) opened the
hearing proceedings with a karakia via audio visual link.

2.37

Those present in person were the Hearing Panel, the Council Administrative Assistant, Ms Asha
Surrey, and the Council Minute Taker, Mrs Heather Clegg. All other attendees joined the
meeting via audio-visual link.
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2.38

At the outset of proceedings, we outlined the manner in which we expected the hearing to be
conducted, and the order of appearances. We outlined our role, and requested the two traffic
experts be available at the same time, in order for questions to be asked of both of them.

2.39

No procedural matters were raised during the course of the hearing that we were obliged to
make a finding on.

2.40

Over the course of the hearing, we heard from the following people:
a

Requestor
Mr Dan Kellow, Planning Consultant at Urban Perspectives Ltd
Ms Laura Skilton, Traffic Engineer at Cardno New Zealand Ltd
Mr Neil Johnstone, Consultant Engineer at Cuttriss Consultants Ltd

b.

Council s42A Advisors
Mr Tom Anderson, Planning Consultant at Incite
Ms Harriet Fraser, of Harriet Fraser Traffic Engineering and Transportation Planning
Mr Ryan Rose, Consultant Land Development Engineer at Envelope Engineering
Mr Stephen Davis, Policy Planner, Hutt City Council

c.

Submitters
Mr Paul Gillan (on behalf of himself and his wife, Mrs Kerry Gillan)
Mr Robert Chisholm
Mr Henry Clayton
Mr Danny Langstraat

2.41

All other submitters had formally withdrawn their right to be heard. However, the issues raised
in submissions remain ‘live’ for our consideration, whether heard or not, and we have done so,
as we are required to do. A number of observers and interested parties also joined the audiovisual link, although they did not participate in the hearing.

2.42

We adjourned the hearing at 3.50pm on Tuesday 1 February 2022 after receiving a verbal right
of reply from the Requestor and carried out our deliberations on Wednesday 2 February. These
deliberations closed at 12.20pm on Wednesday 2 February 2022, and we sent out a minute as
already detailed in paragraph 2.31 above formally closing the hearing.

Late Submission
2.43

One late submission to the plan change was received by the Council. Under Section 37(1) RMA,
the Council has the authority to waive a failure to comply with a requirement under this Act,
regulations, or plan for the time or method of service of documents. Under its delegated
authority, the Council may therefore exercise discretion to receive submissions made out of time
by waiving a failure to comply with the deadline for the close of submissions in respect of PC54.

2.44

The Council cannot exercise this discretion until it has complied with the provisions of Section
37A of the Resource Management Act 1991 which states that a local authority must not waive
compliance with a time limit in accordance with Section 37 unless it has taken into account:
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The interests of any person who, in its opinion, may be directly affected by the …
waiver; and



The interests of the community in achieving adequate assessment of the effects of
the proposal, policy statement, or plan; and



Its duty under Section 21 to avoid unreasonable delay.

2.45

No person is considered to be adversely affected by the grant of a waiver of time. The late
submission raised no new issues, but simply repeated the issues raised in most other
submissions. The submission raised the same matters that were summarised in the public notice
for further submissions.

2.46

It is in the interest of the community to test the provisions of PC54, and the late submission
would assist that process. It is also a matter of natural justice to allow the fullest participation
in the development of policy under the RMA and the District Plan.

2.47

The receipt of the late submission did not cause an unreasonable delay in terms of the
preparation of the summary of submissions, or the processing of the proposed plan change
generally. There was no risk to the Council’s ability to meet its duty to avoid unreasonable delay.

2.48

Accordingly, we agreed to waive the time limit in respect of the late submission from Amy and
Alistair Sidford.

3

STATUTORY FRAMEWORK
Evaluation Preamble – Statutory Framework

3.1

Before formally recording our consideration of the issues raised in relation to PC54, we
summarise here the relevant statutory matters that frame our evaluation. They have been
derived from the Environment Court’s Colonial Vineyards decision8, and include the following
considerations:
General Requirements
the District Plan should be designed in accordance with9, and assist the Council to carry out,
its functions10 so as to achieve the purpose of the Act;11
when changing the District Plan, the Council must:
i.
ii.

8
9
10
11
12
13

give effect to any National Policy Statement, the New Zealand Coastal Policy
statement or any Regional Policy Statement for Wellington;12
have regard to any proposed RPS13;

ENV-2012-CHC-108, [2014] NZEnvC 55
s74(1), RMA
s31, RMA
ss 72, 74(1), RMA
s75(3)(a)-(c), RMA
s74(2), RMA
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v.

have regard to any management plans and strategies under any other Acts and
to any relevant entry on the NZ Heritage List and to various fisheries regulations
(to the extent relevant), and to consistency with plans and proposed plans of
adjacent authorities14;
take into account any relevant planning document recognised by an iwi
authority15;
not have regard to trade competition16;

vi.

be in accordance with any regulation17;

iv.

in relation to regional plans:
i.
ii.

the District Plan must not be inconsistent with an operative regional plan for any
matter specified in s30(1) or any water conservation order18; and
shall have regard to any proposed regional plan on any matter of regional
significance19;

the District Plan must also state its objectives, policies and the rules (if any) and may state
other matters20;
the Council has obligations to prepare an evaluation report in accordance with section 32
and have particular regard to that report21;
the Council also has obligations to prepare a further evaluation report under s32AA where
changes are made to the proposal since the s32 report was completed;
Objectives
the objectives of the plan change are to be evaluated to the extent which they are the
most appropriate way to achieve the Act’s purpose22;
Provisions
the policies are to implement the objectives, and the rules (if any) are to implement the
policies23;
each provision is to be examined as to whether it is the most appropriate method for
achieving the objectives of the District Plan, by:

14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23

s74(2)(b)-(c), RMA
s74(2A), RMA
s74(3), RMA
s75(1)-(c), RMA
s75(4), RMA
s74(1)(f), RMA
s75(1)-(2), RMA
Schedule 1, Part 2, Clause 22, RMA
s32(1)(a), RMA
s75(1), RMA

22 March 2022

DEM15-4-2 - 22/658 - Proposed Private District Plan Change 54: Boulcott's Farm Heritage Golf Club Rezoning to General Residential Activity Area

Page 17 of 53

Page 55

Attachment 1

Appendix 1: Report of the Independent Hearing Panel

Proposed Private Plan Change 54

Panel Report and Recommendations

i.

identifying other reasonably practicable options for achieving the objectives24;

ii.

assessing the efficiency and effectiveness of the provisions in achieving the
objectives25, including:
a.

identifying and assessing the benefits and costs anticipated, including
opportunities for economic growth and employment opportunities that
may be provided or reduced26;

b.

quantifying those benefits and costs where practicable27;

c.

assessing the risk of acting or not acting if there is uncertainty or
insufficient information about the subject matter of the provisions28;

Rules
in making a rule, the Council shall have regard to the actual or potential effect on the
environment of activities, including (in particular) any adverse effect29;43 and
Other Statutes
the Council may be required to comply with other statutes
3.2

Our powers in relation to this proposal are set out in clause 29(4) of Schedule 1 of the Act. Under
this clause, we may recommend declining the proposal, approving it, or approving it with
modifications. We must give reasons for the recommendation as to a decision that we reach. In
arriving at our recommendation, we must undertake the further evaluation required under
s32AA and have regard to that evaluation. As indicated above, the further evaluation under
s32AA is required only in respect of any changes arising since the plan change was notified. This
evaluation must:
examine the extent to which the objectives of PC54 are the most appropriate way to
achieve the purpose of the Act
examine whether the policies, rules, standards, zoning and other methods of PC54 are the
most appropriate way to achieve the existing Plan objectives and the PC54 objectives
in relation to (b) above, to the extent relevant:

24
25
26
27
28
29

s32(1)(b)(i), RMA
s32(1)(b)(ii), RMA
s32(2)(a), RMA
s32(2)(b), RMA
s32(2)(c), RMA
s76(3), RMA
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i.

identify any other reasonably practicable options for achieving the existing
and proposed objectives; and

ii.

assess the efficiency and effectiveness of the provisions in achieving the
objectives, and

contain a level of detail that corresponds to the scale and significance of the
environmental, economic, social and cultural effects that are anticipated from the
implementation of the proposal.
3.3

Further, in relation to matters (a) and (b) above, we note that PC54 contains no new objectives.
In accordance with section 32(6), the purpose of the proposal stands in for objectives where
these are not otherwise contained or stated by the proposal. In other words, the term ‘objective’
is synonymous with the plan change’s purpose and not the technical meaning of the term
otherwise used in the Plan. PC54 proposes to rezone a portion of approximately 1.6 hectares of
the Golf Course from General Recreation to General Residential, and to remove the Secondary
River Corridor Overlay. The purpose of these changes is to allow the club or another future
owner of this part of the site the ability to develop the land for residential purposes at a scale
similar to that enabled in the adjacent residential area.

3.4

That aside, and for our evaluation of the provisions of the plan change against the objectives
(matter (b) above), however, the term ‘objective’ assumes a dual meaning:
those goals or aspirations set out in the plan change’s purpose; and
the relevant (and settled) objectives of the operative Plan.

3.5

Accordingly, we have considered whether the proposed plan change:
has been designed to accord with, and assist the Council to carry out its functions so as to
achieve the purpose of the Act;
gives effect to any relevant National Policy Statement and the New Zealand Coastal Policy
Statement;
gives effect to the regional policy statement (“RPS”); and
is consistent with any regional plans.

3.6

In considering all of the matters above, we record that our recommendation as to a decision is
based upon our consideration of the following documents:
the notified plan change and s32 evaluation;
the submissions and further submissions received;
the Council’s s42A report; and
the statements/presentations from all parties appearing before us.

3.7

We note for the record that no s32AA evaluations were provided over the course of, and
subsequent to, the hearing as no further amendments to the plan change were being proposed.

3.8

It is important that all parties understand that it is not for us to introduce our own evidence on
the issues that have been raised, and we have not done so – rather, our role has been to:
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establish that all relevant evidence is before us (or where it is not, consider whether
we should commission additional reports or information); and
test the evidence of others, and to determine the most appropriate outcome based on the
views we consider best achieve sustainable management.
3.9

It is that dual role to which the following evaluation addresses. Before doing so, and as a closing
comment to this preamble, we observe that s32AA(1)(d)(ii) enables our further evaluation
reporting to be incorporated into this report as part of the decision-making record. To this end,
our evaluation of each issue has been structured to satisfy the evaluation report requirements
of s32AA as outlined above.

Statutory Overview
3.10

As explained in the Requestor’s section 32 report, section 73(2) of the RMA enables any person
to request a territorial local authority to change a District Plan in the manner set out in Schedule
1 of the Act. We find that PC54 has been prepared in accordance with Schedule 1. The Council
formally accepted the request (but did not adopt it) on 23 March 2021, enabling the plan change
to proceed to public notification and the hearing process.

3.11

PC54 is subject to a number of statutory and non-statutory documents. We discuss these in this
section and note that both planning experts were in agreement as to the relevance or otherwise
of these documents.

National Statutory Documents
RMA – Part 2
3.12

Part 2 (sections 5-8) of the RMA states the purpose and principles of the Act. Part 2 is
overarching, and the assessments required under other sections of the Act are subject to it. In
order to recommend PC54 is adopted, the Panel must be able to conclude that the plan change
will promote the sustainable management of natural and physical resources (purpose of section
5 of the Act). The operative District Plan was developed under this same RMA framework, and
Council is required to ensure all proposed changes to the Plan will also result in outcomes which
meet this purpose.

3.13

We discuss our findings in more detail in the following section. However, in summary, we find
that PC54 will appropriately provide for residential development on suitable land which is not
prone to flooding and is fully serviceable. Once rezoned, the land could be sold by BFHGC to
ensure the continued viability of the Club. Any future development could be accessed by the
existing roading networks and there will be economic and employment benefits arising from the
construction. Flat, fully serviceable greenfield residential land in Lower Hutt is scarce.
Therefore, we find that PC54 will promote the sustainable management of a scarce land
resource.

3.14

Section 6 sets out a number of matters of national importance to be recognised and provided
for. Of these, we consider that the following are relevant:
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a) the protection of areas of significant indigenous vegetation and significant
habitats of indigenous fauna:
b) the relationship of Māori and their culture and traditions with their ancestral
lands, water, sites, waahi tapu and other taonga:
3.15

The site does not contain any areas of significant indigenous vegetation. We acknowledge
concerns of some submitters regarding the potential loss of existing trees on the golf course and
will discuss these in more detail in our evaluation of issues.

3.16

The relationship of Māori with the area has been acknowledged through consultation by the
applicant with mana whenua and no concerns were raised about the proposal.

3.17

The site does not contain wetlands, a lake or river and is not on the margin of any of these. It is
not within or adjacent to a coastal environment. It is not identified as a Significant Natural
Resource or outstanding natural landscape feature or as an historic heritage resource. The site
will continue to be physically separated from the Hutt River by the stopbank (land to be
transferred to GWRC ownership should PC54 be approved) and the privately owned golf course.
We find there are no matters of national importance as listed under section 6 that relate to
PC54.

3.18

Section 7 sets out other matters that must be had particular regard to. Of these, we consider
the following are relevant:
a) the efficient use and development of natural and physical resources;
b) the maintenance and enhancement of amenity values;
c) maintenance and enhancement of the quality of the environment; and
d) any finite characteristics of natural and physical resources.

3.19

We find that PC54 is consistent with this section as any future development will be required to
comply with the General Residential Activity Area objectives, policies, rules and standards in the
Plan. These provisions are designed to maintain and enhance the existing amenity of the local
residential environment, and any adverse effects are required to be avoided, remedied or
mitigated. PC54 will provide for an efficient use and development of a scarce land resource.

3.20

Section 8 requires the Council to take into account the principles of the Treaty of Waitangi. We
note that Te Rūnanga o Toa Rangatira, Te Rūnanganui o Te Ātiawa ki te Upoko o Te Ika a Māui,
the Port Nicholson Block Settlement Trust, the Wellington Tenths Trust and the Palmerston
North Māori Reserve Trust were consulted by the requestor prior to the request being accepted
by Council. A letter of No Objection was received from the latter two trusts which referenced a
Cultural Impact Assessment completed by Raukura Consultants for Plan Change 35 (concerning
land approximately 180m to the west). They stated that this Assessment was a good record of
the area. We find that this document is a good reference and contains some pertinent
information; however, it has no direct application to the PC54 land, and therefore it did not
influence our recommended decision.
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National Policy Statements
3.21

We concur with the Council’s consultant planner that the NPS-Freshwater Management 2020
does not apply to PC54 as it only directs regional councils, regional policy statements and
regional plans. Likewise, we agree that the national policy statements covering indigenous
biodiversity and highly productive land do not apply to PC54. As the land is not in a coastal
environment, the NZ Coastal Policy Statement does not apply. The site is not occupied or
traversed by any assets that are the subject of the NPS on Electricity Transmission or the NPS for
Renewable Energy Generation. The subject site is not identified as containing any outstanding
or significant natural areas and is not identified as highly productive land. We find that the only
relevant national policy statement (NPS) for PC54 is the National Policy Statement on Urban
Development 2020 (NPS-UD).
NPS-UD

3.22

The NPS-UD identifies Lower Hutt City as being a Tier 1 Urban Environment, and the Council as
being a Tier 1 Local Authority. Such authorities are required to provide sufficient development
capacity to meet the demand for housing in the short, medium and long terms as well as
enabling well-functioning urban environments. The NPS-UD requires that rules employed
should not unnecessarily constrain growth. It is an enabling NPS as it directs actions to be taken
to increase housing supply.

3.23

Objectives 1-8 of the NPS-UD are of relevance to PC54. The Requestor’s application details these
objectives and the reasons why PC54 meets them30 and we concur with these findings. The
NPS-UD also requires Councils to develop and implement a Future Development Strategy (FDS).
We were informed by the Council’s consultant planner that, although required to, HCC has yet
to develop an FDS. Such a document is required to promote long-term strategic planning by
setting out how a local authority intends to:
a) achieve well-functioning urban environments in its existing and future urban
areas; and
b) provide at least sufficient development capacity, as required by clauses 3.2 and
3.3, over the next 30 years to meet expected demand;31

3.24

As well, the FDS needs to assist the integration of planning decisions under the Act with
infrastructure and funding decisions. We concur with the Council’s consultant planner that
given the site is adjacent to an existing General Residential Area, and can be serviced with
infrastructure, it is a likely candidate for inclusion as a future development area under an FDS.

3.25

Policy 1 of the NPS-UD is of particular relevance to PC54 as it requires Councils to appropriately
plan for growth and ensure well-functioning urban environments are developed. It defines a
well-functioning urban environment:
Planning decisions contribute to well-functioning urban environments, which are
urban environments that, as a minimum:

30
31

Pages 13, 14 Boulcott’s Farm Heritage Golf Course District Plan Change Request, prepared by Urban Perspectives Ltd 2020
Section 3.13(1)(a) of the NPS-UD 2020
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a) have or enable a variety of homes that:
i.

meet the needs, in terms of type, price, and location, of different
households; and

ii.

enable Māori to express their cultural traditions and norms; and

b) have or enable a variety of sites that are suitable for different business sectors
in terms of location and site size; and
c) have good accessibility for all people between housing, jobs, community
services, natural spaces, and open spaces, including by way of public or active
transport; and
d) support, and limit as much as possible adverse impacts on, the competitive
operation of land and development markets; and
e) support reductions in greenhouse gas emissions; and
f)

are resilient to the likely current and future effects of climate change.32

3.26

PC54 is a land zoning request, not an actual application for a subdivision or any form of land
development. The planning decision to be made is whether the rezoning is consistent with this
Policy. In terms of Policy 1 above, we find that PC54 would enable a well-functioning urban
environment to be created.

3.27

Policy’s 2 and 7 are also considered relevant as they specify that Tier 1 and 2 local authorities
need to provide at least sufficient development capacity to meet expected demand for housing,
and to set housing bottom lines in District Plans. We find that PC54 will assist HCC in meeting
expected demand for housing.

3.28

Policy 8 of the NPS-UD is also relevant to PC54. It states that:
Local authority decisions affecting urban environments are responsive to plan changes
that would add significantly to development capacity and contribute to wellfunctioning urban environments, even if the development capacity is:
a) unanticipated by RMA planning documents; or
b) out-of-sequence with planned land release.33

3.29

We find that the proposal will add to the development capacity of the City. It relates to land
that, whilst not identified by the Council for future residential development (because it is
currently privately owned recreational space), it would be classified as ‘unanticipated’. It can be
serviced by the necessary infrastructure.

3.30

Overall, we find PC54 is consistent with the NPS-UD because it is providing for a well-functioning
urban environment at a time when urban development capacity is needed.

32
33

Section 2.2, NPS-UD 2020 – Policy 1
Section 2.2, NPS-UD 2020 – Policy 8
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Resource Management (Enabling Housing Supply and Other Matters) Amendment Act 2021
3.31

The purpose of this Act is to amend the RMA to rapidly accelerate the supply of housing where
the demand for housing is high. This Act also has implications for the NPS-UD as it proposes
bringing forward the timing as to when NPS-UD provisions must be implemented by Councils.
Tier 1 local authorities must amend their residentially zoned land to incorporate specific medium
density residential standards (unless such land is subject to heritage or hazard overlay). We
were informed by the Council’s consultant planner at the hearing that this requirement will be
implemented as a plan change, which is required to be notified no later than August 2022. There
are no immediate implications for PC54. If the subject land does change to be residentially
zoned, it will be subject to this legal requirement in the same way as all the surrounding
residentially zoned land will also be.

Regional Statutory Documents
Regional Policy Statement
3.32

A District Plan must give effect to any Regional Policy Statement (RPS). The RPS for the
Wellington Region became operative on 24 April 2013 and postdates the District Plan. However,
the General Residential Activity Area provisions of the District Plan were reviewed under Plan
Change 43, which was notified in 2017 and made operative on 23 February 2021. As such, the
General Residential Activity Area provisions have been considered against the RPS. The s42A
report prepared by the Council’s consultant planner provides a comprehensive list of the
relevant RPS provisions to PC54 34 and we concur with this list. We note the planning consultant
for the Requestor was in agreement and we concur with both their findings regarding how PC54
meets these RPS provisions.

3.33

We find that PC54 will give effect to the relevant objectives and policies of the RPS as it seeks to
provide for residential development within an existing urban environment, efficiently using
existing infrastructure (albeit requiring some mitigation measures for the stormwater and
wastewater networks). The subject land is located in close proximity to community facilities and
transport networks. Furthermore the golf course can be slightly reconfigured to enable a full
course to be retained which meets the needs of existing and future club members.
Operative and Proposed Regional Plans

3.34

When preparing or changing a District Plan, a Council shall also have regard to any relevant
proposed or operative regional plan.35 The s42A report outlined that there are five operative
regional plans and one proposed regional plan for the Wellington Region. The Proposed
Regional Plan consolidates the five operative Regional Plans into one document and is at the
appeal stage at the Environment Court.

3.35

For PC54, the only potential crossover between the function of HCC and GWRC relates to
stormwater management that would be subject to the Management of Discharges to Land

34
35

Pages 16, 17 sec 42A Report
Section 74(2)(b)(ii), RMA
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section of the Proposed Natural Resources Regional Plan (PNRP). PC54, if accepted, would result
in the General Residential Activity Area provisions of the District Plan applying to the site. We
find that these provisions include stormwater management, which are provided in accordance
with the PNRP.

Housing and Business Development – Capacity Assessment Hutt City
Council
3.36

The Housing and Business Development Capacity Assessment (HBDCA) for the Wellington
Region was published in November 2019. This assessment was a requirement of the then in
force NPS on Urban Development Capacity. The s32 Report prepared by the Requestor
reproduced a section related to the Hutt City: 36
The HBA reports on the demand for, and supply of, residential and business
development capacity over the 30 years to 2047. The HBA is a key source of housing
development capacity information and ought to be taken into account when
considering this plan change request. The report states:
“Moderate on-going population growth combined with a decline in average
household size will significantly increase demand for dwellings over the next 30
years in Hutt City. Moderate on-going population growth combined with a decline
in average household size will significantly increase demand for dwellings over the
next 30 years in Hutt City. Hutt City has experienced rapid price and rent rises since
about 2015 due to an emerging shortage of housing.
Hutt City’s constrained geography means the City has limited scope for greenfield
expansion and will have to increasingly rely on the intensification of existing urban
areas to accommodate population growth.”37
The HBA includes two growth scenarios and “under both projected growth scenarios
Hutt City has insufficient development capacity to meet demand over the 30-year time
frame with a projected shortfall of between 1632 and 6783 dwellings.”38 The report
does note that the provisions introduced by PC43 will provide increased opportunity
for residential development but does not quantify the increased residential
opportunities.
It is acknowledged that the provisions introduced by PC43 would alter the above
figures as PC43 loosened provisions around infill and medium density housing.
Nevertheless, the HBA clearly shows that there is a significant gap between supply
and demand of housing in the Hutt City.

36
37
38

Page 18 Boulcott’s Farm Heritage Golf Course District Plan Change Request, prepared by Urban Perspectives Ltd 2020.
Page 114, HBDCA
Page 114 HBDCA

22 March 2022

DEM15-4-2 - 22/658 - Proposed Private District Plan Change 54: Boulcott's Farm Heritage Golf Club Rezoning to General Residential Activity Area

Page 25 of 53

Page 63

Attachment 1

Appendix 1: Report of the Independent Hearing Panel

Proposed Private Plan Change 54

Panel Report and Recommendations

District Statutory Documents
Operative District Plan
3.37

PC54 proposes to rezone the site from General Recreation Activity Area to General Residential
Activity Area. We reiterate PC54 proposes no changes to the objectives, policies, rules or
standards of the General Residential Activity Area. The existing objectives and policies of the
Operative District Plan relating to the General Residential Activity Area are therefore relevant,
as are the relevant objectives and policies of the Earthworks and Transport chapters.

3.38

The s42A report contained a summary of the relevant Objectives and Policies39. We concur with
the summary of provisions and reproduce it here for completeness:
General Residential Activity Area
• Housing capacity and variety is increased, at a pattern consistent with a low to
medium density built environment;
• The built environment provides high quality on-site amenity for residents and high
quality residential amenity for adjoining properties and the street;
• Built development is adequately serviced by network infrastructure or addresses any
network infrastructure constraints on the site; and
• Built development is located and designed to manage significant risk from natural
hazards.
Transport
• The transport network is integrated with land-use patterns, and facilitates and
enables urban growth;
• Adverse effects from the transport network on the adjacent environment are
managed; and
• The transport network is safe and efficient, and provides for all transport modes.
Earthworks
• Earthworks maintain natural features, and do not adversely affect visual amenity,
cultural or historical site values; and
• Earthworks do not adversely affect flood protection structures.

3.39

We find, for reasons more fully explained in the following section, that PC54 is appropriate for
a General Residential Activity Area zoning.

Non-Statutory Documents
3.40

39

We find that there are four non-statutory documents which are relevant to PC54. These are the
Urban Growth Strategy 2012-2032 (UGS), the Environmental Sustainability Strategy 2015-2045

Page 18, Sec42A Report - a full list is contained in Appendix 3 to the s42A report
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(ESS), the Walk and Cycle The Hutt Strategy 2014-2019 and the Reserves Strategic Directions
2016-2026.
Urban Growth Strategy 2012-2032
3.41

We were advised by the Council’s consultant planner that this document was prepared under
the Local Government Act 2002 and reflects the Council’s strategy for directing growth and
development within the city to 2032. It was adopted by council in March 2014. The UGS will
only be given statutory weight through future District Plan changes.

3.42

The s42A report provides a good commentary on the UGS40. We concur with this commentary,
especially with regard to the intention to increase the supply of land available for greenfield
development. We note the UGS identified greenfields land at Kelson and Wainuiomata only,
and that that would only potentially meet half of the City’s housing growth to 2032. We also
note that the population of the city appears to be increasing faster than was anticipated by the
UGS.41
Environmental Sustainability Strategy 2015-2045

3.43

This Strategy was prepared to provide guidance for Council decision-making, outlining an
increased focus on good environmental management. Focus Area 3 of the Strategy is Transport.
It identified that walking and cycling links can assist in the reduction of emissions, and like the
UGS, notes that Council intends to develop comprehensive cycling networks linking key
population centres in the city and providing access through the City. Focus Area 4 is concerned
with land-use, including housing. Focus Area 4 acknowledges that all development has an
impact on the environment and focuses on urban form and development to minimise
environmental effects. The overall Strategy also states the City’s environmental amenity is aided
by a range of outdoor public open space, including the river, and acknowledges that they are
important for the community’s wellbeing, particularly in providing recreational opportunities.
Access and proximity to nature is seen as a key element in defining the ‘liveability’ of the city.

3.44

We find that PC54 will enable future development of the subject land to be undertaken in
accordance with this Strategy. The development of the site will enable the continued viability
of the Golf Club, which, although not a public asset, nevertheless provides amenity and
recreation for the city. The objectives, policies, rules and standards relating to the General
Residential Activity Area, and the Transport and Earthworks Chapters include provisions in line
with this Strategy.
Walk and Cycle The Hutt 2014-2019

3.45

40
41

This document was prepared to inform Council decision-making to achieve a safe and integrated
transport system that prioritises active travel. Objective 5.1 is of particular relevance: Safe and
Integrated networks for commuting and recreational purposes. We find that PC54 enables the

Paragraphs 95-100, s42A report
Paragraph 97, s42A Report
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relevant purposes of this Strategy to be fulfilled, through adherence to the relevant General
Residential Activity Area and Transport Chapters.

4

EVALUATION OF ISSUES
Overview

4.1

For the purposes of this evaluation, we have grouped our discussion of the submissions and the
reasons for accepting, rejecting, or accepting them in part by the matters to which they relate –
rather than assessing each issue on a submitter-by-submitter basis.

4.2

This approach is not to downplay the importance of the input from submitters; to the contrary,
their input has been invaluable in shaping the grouping of issues and for our consideration of
those matters. However, we note that there was some commonality among the submissions on
key issues and we consider it will be to everyone’s benefit for our recommendation as to a
decision to be as tightly focused on the key issues as possible.

4.3

We reiterate that PC54 is a private plan change request to rezone a piece of land. It is not an
application for a subdivision of the land or for any form of development on the land. Such an
occurrence would require a new application to Council. We note the s32 report provided two
possible scenarios for development of the land, which assisted expert witnesses to analyse
possible effects of a proposed development. These two scenarios were a low-density
development of 29 dwellings (under existing District Plan General Residential rules), and a
comprehensive development of up to 63 dwellings (under existing District Plan General
Residential rules). In both these scenarios, vehicular access to the proposed developments
would be provided from both Allen Street and Kingston Street.

Issue 1. Traffic Effects
4.4

42

The proposed plan change was accompanied by a Transportation Impact Assessment (TIA)
prepared by Ms Laura Skilton from Cardno (NZ) Ltd. It provided an assessment of the existing
roading environment, a description of the traffic environment, an analysis of crash history of the
area and an impact assessment relating to the proposal based on an indicative concept of the
two subdivision scenarios: one of 29 dwellings and one of 63 dwellings. After an analysis of the
submissions received, Ms Skilton revisited her assessment, as her initial analysis had been
undertaken during a Covid-19 lockdown and could not be considered to be ‘typical’. Her
subsequent evaluation confirmed her initial conservative analysis and utilised data from HCC
traffic counts outside Boulcott Hospital on High Street. She concluded that the March 2021
hourly traffic flow pattern represented a typical hour traffic flow on High Street, and that
November hourly flows were a good representation of a typical day during the year. 42 We have
considered Ms Skilton’s evidence and concur with her statistical findings regarding traffic flows
and wait times at intersections, and that her analyses of these could be considered conservative.

Paragraph 27 of Ms Skilton’s Statement of Evidence
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4.5

The s42A report prepared by the Council included a review of Ms Skilton’s TIA. This was carried
out by Council’s traffic consultant Ms Harriet Fraser of Harriet Fraser Traffic Engineering and
Transportation Planning. Ms Fraser also carried out traffic counts, which verified the 2015
numbers in Ms Skilton’s TIA that were modified to estimate typical peak hour traffic flows for
2020.

4.6

At the hearing, we heard from these two traffic expert witnesses. We appreciated the flexibility
of Ms Skilton and Ms Fraser to accommodate our request for hearing from both witnesses at
one time on-line at the hearing and note the high level of agreement between them.

4.7

Both expert witnesses agreed that there were no encumbrances that would restrict a proposed
development of the land from complying with District Plan subdivision and roading rules and
standards. They both acknowledged the narrow neighbourhood street width and advised that
narrow streets also resulted in slower traffic speeds, acting as an enforced speed calming
measure. The experts concluded the roads have capacity to cope with additional load should
PC54 proceed and the zoning change to General Residential Activity Area. The witnesses agreed
as to the potential residential trip generation numbers from any proposed development of the
land.

4.8

Ms Fraser, however, recommended an extension of the No Stopping Lines on High Street at the
Kingston Street/High Street intersection to protect sightlines, and a widening of the flush median
(to improve safety for right turning vehicles).43 We return to these recommendations later in our
decision.

4.9

We thank Ms Skilton for her detailed analysis and photographs of the existing neighbourhood
street network. These photographs confirmed our observations during our site/locality visit and
the relatively narrow carriageway width of most of these streets compared to the actual road
reserve width (as observed by the wide berm widths).

4.10

Ms Skilton’s evidence provided analysis of the crash history, using Waka Kotahi (NZTA) Crash
Analysis System of data up to 2019, the most recent available at that time. This analysis
concluded that there were few crashes in the area, and most were non-injury.

4.11

In her review on behalf of the Council, Ms Fraser checked the Waka Kotahi crash database for
any crashes in 2020 and to date in 2021 for the intersections of High Street/ Kingston Street and
Taita Drive/ Fairway Drive. She found there have been three reported non-injury crashes at or
close to the High Street/ Kingston Street intersection. Of these one involved a vehicle turning
right into Kingston Street being hit by a northbound vehicle on High Street. Based on this local
crash data, Ms Fraser concluded that there is a possibility that increased traffic flows on High
Street are beginning to result in crashes occurring at or near to the Kingston Street intersection
with High Street.

4.12

Ms Fraser also noted that there had been a serious injury and a non-injury crash reported at the
Fairway Drive/ Taita Drive intersection. Both crashes involved vehicles turning from the northern
approach on Taita Drive.

43

Paragraph 64 Statement of Evidence of Laura Skilton; Paragraph 38 of the Brief of Evidence of Harriet Fraser
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4.13

A number of submitters gave their first-hand accounts of traffic movements in the area. We
heard the submitters’ concerns that increased traffic volumes would be difficult to manage, and
increased flows on Kingston Street and St James Avenue would be too great for streets to cope.
Access to High Street from Kingston Street was already difficult especially at peak times and
access to SH2 via Taita Drive (from St James and Kingston) was also difficult. Submitters
declared that the use of the 2015 traffic numbers was out of date, and that improvements to
Kingston/High Street intersection were required at the developers’ expense. They also raised a
concern that the expert’s figures relating to wait times at intersections were incorrect.

4.14

In regard to the issue of the local roads being over capacity now, we acknowledge the evidence
of Ms Skilton and Ms Fraser. Both traffic experts advised that should the land be rezoned, there
was a possibility of increased traffic flows within the neighbourhood and onto High Street,
especially at the intersection with Kingston Street. Submitters told us of increased wait times at
the intersection, and of the inability to turn left from Kingston Street into High Street when there
is traffic waiting to turn right into High Street, due to the layout of the road and kerbing. Our
site visit confirmed this situation.

4.15

We heard from submitters that some utilise the route along Stellin Street to Taita Drive and
thence Fairway Drive to gain access to SH2, rather than negotiate High Street and the Melling
interchange. Some submitters were concerned at the additional impact of traffic from the
proposed PC54 land on the High Street/Fairway Drive intersection (roundabout) at peak times.
We agree with Ms Fraser that a portion of trips from any development of the proposed rezoned
land will also take this route. Given that there are a number of ways to access SH2 from the
proposed PC54 land and having given consideration to the evidence from the expert witnesses
(who were in agreement), we consider the proposed PC54 will not result in significant additional
traffic on the existing roundabout.

4.16

We learnt of the situation of “rat running” which submitters maintained exacerbated traffic
congestion issues in the neighbourhood streets. Both expert witnesses also agreed that this
phenomenon occurred, especially in peak traffic times, to avoid congestion on the main traffic
routes. We find that Ms Fraser’s suggested mitigation measures should help to alleviate this
issue.

4.17

We agree that the wait times at the Kingston/High Streets intersection will increase (but on
average will not exceed 1 minute) which may result in increased driver frustration and greater
risk taking regarding turning into traffic flow. To aid in mitigating this potential risk, we agree
with Ms Fraser about the need to enhance sight lines and investigate installing a flush median
on High Street.

4.18

To this end, we recommend the Council’s traffic division investigate the extension of the no
stopping lines along the High Street frontage from Kingston Street towards the south to provide
the Minimum Gap Sight Distance (MGSD) of 69m and ideally to accommodate the Safe
Intersection Sight Distance (SISD) of 97m.44 We concur with Ms Fraser’s findings that such action
will assist in providing longer sight lines for vehicles attempting to turn right from Kingston Street
into High Street. We further recommend that the Council investigate widening the flush median

44

Paragraphs 25 and 26 of the brief of Evidence of Harriet Fraser

22 March 2022

DEM15-4-2 - 22/658 - Proposed Private District Plan Change 54: Boulcott's Farm Heritage Golf Club Rezoning to General Residential Activity Area

Page 30 of 53

Page 68

Attachment 1

Appendix 1: Report of the Independent Hearing Panel

Proposed Private Plan Change 54

Panel Report and Recommendations

through the Kingston/High Streets intersection to permit45 left turning traffic to complete their
manoeuvre when a vehicle is waiting to turn right into High Street. We acknowledge that such
mitigation measures may well be dealt with at subdivision design/application stage (with the
requirement for a TIA), but nevertheless we believe there could be improvements made now
which would improve existing traffic flows, whether or not the subject land is developed for a
residential subdivision.
4.19

Submitters raised concerns with the existing width of the neighbourhood streets, and that
additional traffic flows will create congestion. Our site visit confirmed the streets are narrow;
however, there is always sufficient width for at least one vehicle to proceed. Ms Fraser’s
evidence concluded that additional traffic flows will require vehicles to give way to each other
more frequently, and that this will also force vehicles to travel more slowly.46

4.20

We note that, should any future development take place on the land, it may be subject to a TIA
– any proposed subdivision exceeding 60 lots or a comprehensive residential development of
over 60 dwellings is required to provide such an assessment. We were informed the High Trip
Generator Threshold is 60 dwellings. A TIA is required to assess the traffic impacts of a
development on the wider neighbourhood and transport networks. The recommended
mitigation measures would typically occur as part of the engineering approval stage during a
resource consent process. The s42A report detailed the Transport Asset and Planning Lead’s
response to such measures47, and we concur. If traffic improvement measures are conditioned
on any future resource consent application, they are the responsibility of the developer and not
the ratepayer.

4.21

There was a concern expressed by some submitters that no detailed analysis had occurred of
the impact of the proposal on the Taita Drive/Fairway Drive intersection. If more traffic did use
this access route to SH2, we concur with the expert witnesses that the potential impact on the
Kingston/High Street intersection would lessen. We also concur with the expert witnesses that
the figures used in their calculations were conservative, and that given the variety of routes
available to access SH2, and with the mitigation measures suggested (lengthened yellow line
markings and a reconfigured Kingston/High Street intersection), traffic effects can be mitigated.

4.22

Overall, we accept the evidence presented by the expert traffic witnesses and find that although
there may be adverse traffic effects arising from a residential development of the subject land,
these adverse effects can be mitigated or remedied. We note that both traffic experts agreed
that traffic flows in the neighbourhood will most likely increase, regardless of the future use of
the subject land.

Issue 2. Trees and Vegetation
4.23

45
46
47

We were presented with well researched information from the submitters regarding the trees
located within the subject land and we thank those people responsible. We analysed all the
maps and aerial photography submitted either as evidence or during the hearing and are

Paragraph 34 of the brief of Evidence of Harriet Fraser
Paragraph 37 of the brief of Evidence of Harriet Fraser
Paragraphs 140-141 of the s42A report
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satisfied that all the trees under discussion (approximately 60) are within the PC54 site. We note
these trees would all have been planted by the golf course itself since the course’s inception in
1909 (a full 18-hole golf course was established by 1921) for the amenity of players, to mark
fairway boundaries and, as an unintended consequence, to provide a visually pleasing backdrop
for adjoining residential areas. We further note that all the trees are on privately owned land
(belonging to the BFHGC).
4.24

The further submission received from Mr Robert Chisholm believed the HCC Urban Forest Plan
2010 applied to the site. However, we concur with the applicant’s planning consultant that this
Plan relates to trees on public open space only, and therefore it is not applicable to PC54.

4.25

Mr Chisholm highlighted the Totara tree avenue at the south end of the PC54 site that appears
to have been planted in the 1920/30’s. Whilst no documentation exists as to reasons why this
avenue was planted, we accept it was probably planted as a memorial to victims and survivors
of WWI.

4.26

The current zoning of the land is General Recreation Activity Area which allows for recreation
activities and ancillary activities as permitted activities. It contains no rules that relate
specifically to vegetation removal or protection. We therefore acknowledge that the trees on
the subject land could be felled at any stage by the current owner of the land.

4.27

Mr Chisholm requested that a qualified arborist report on all the trees within the PC54 parcel of
land, including input from Tangata Whenua. We note Tangata Whenua were consulted as part
of the process of PC54 and they expressed no concerns regarding the trees on the land. As noted
earlier, the trees are all on privately owned land, not public open space, and there is currently
no jurisdiction to require an arborist report. We note also that no tree has undergone a STEM
assessment and none are identified as Notable Trees in the District Plan.

4.28

The proposed zoning of General Residential Activity Area has a Rule relating to vegetation
removal (Rule 4A 4.1.11), which has come into effect since the plan change request was lodged.48
This Rule provides greater protection to vegetation on the subject land than what currently
applies under its General Recreation zoning. We understand this Rule does not apply to any
Notable Trees – such trees having been identified in the District Plan are subject to different
rules in Chapter 14G. We were informed at the hearing that the Council is currently conducting
a Notable Trees review as part of its District Plan Review process and we encourage all
submitters to become involved with this.

4.29

Under the General Residential zoning, while the removal of exotic vegetation is a permitted
activity under Rule 4A 4.1.11 (b), the removal of indigenous vegetation likely to require resource
consent under Rule 4A 4.1.11(e) as a Restricted Discretionary activity.49 The matters of discretion
are limited to amenity values, site stability, and the indigenous biodiversity and intrinsic values
of ecosystems.

4.30

We note that several submitters were concerned that removal of trees could have an
undermining effect on the stopbank. GWRC were consulted, and as a consequence of comments

48
49

Plan Change 36, operative 23 February 2021
City of Lower Hutt Operative District Plan Rule 4A 4.1.11
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from them, the boundary of the PC54 area was shifted to be setback 5.0m from the bottom of
the stopbank. GWRC subsequently did not make a submission on the plan change. We concur
with the Council’s planning consultant that, should any tree be removed, it will not compromise
the stopbank.
4.31

We do acknowledge that residential development of some form is likely to result in an
application for tree removal in the future, and that such an application will need to be assessed
on its own merits. We also acknowledge that the loss of trees can result in changes to visual
amenity and ecological values, and that it would be positive to see any future development take
the trees into consideration. We note the golf course land contains an abundance of trees, all of
which currently sustain wildlife and contribute to a green corridor.

4.32

On balance, we find that the trees on the subject land are offered greater protection under the
proposed rezoning than at present, and that any potential loss of trees can be adequately
managed by the existing District Plan provisions.

Issue 3. Appropriateness of Rezoning
4.33

Submissions both in support of and against PC54 were received with regard to the
appropriateness of the proposed rezoning. James Brodie believed that more land for residential
development was required within the city, and that PC54 would enable more people to enjoy
living and raising families in the area. He noted the close proximity of schools, playgrounds and
recreational areas.50 Henry Clayton and Margaret Waghorn also supported the proposed
rezoning51, acknowledging the current housing crisis in the City and believed that the land was
a suitable location for residential development, being close to public transport routes and
existing facilities.

4.34

Other submitters were concerned that PC54 was not driven by the NPS-UD and that the future
residential land development would not consist of affordable housing options. They asserted
that there was no strong national direction to push residential subdivisions onto green
recreational space and believed that the Council had an obligation to ensure green spaces were
preserved for future generations. They stated that if granted, any future development should
be subject to caveats limiting the scale and style of development and maximising the provision
of green space.

4.35

The planning consultant for the Requestor noted that rezoning to General Residential would
supply additional residential land consistent with the requirements of the NPS-UD; would enable
CRDs to occur; would be consistent with the provisions for residential developments that apply
to the adjoining residential lots; and would implement section 5 of the RMA by enabling the
efficient utilisation of the site in a way that would best meet the wellbeing of the people of the
City and wider region.

4.36

Council adopted its UGS2012-2032 in 2014. We concur with the Council’s planning consultant
that this UGS does establish a need for land to be rezoned for residential purposes in Hutt City.

50
51

Submission DPC54/001
Submission DPC54/011
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Combined with the HBDCA, it is evident that Lower Hutt City faces a shortage of land for
residential development. The NPS-UD has identified Lower Hutt City as a Tier 1 authority, and as
such, the City must provide for additional housing within the City, preferably close to transport
and commercial hubs and local facilities. Both expert planners were in agreement as to the
relevance of the UGS, HBDCA and NPS-UD. We were directed to Policy 8 of the NPS-UD, which
states:
Local authority decisions affecting urban environments are responsive to plan changes
that would add significantly to development capacity and contribute to well
functioning urban environments, even if the development capacity is:
(a) unanticipated by RMA planning documents; or
(b) out-of-sequence with planned land release.52
4.37

We note Tier 1 authorities are required to be responsive to plan changes that would add
significantly to development capacity and contribute to well-functioning urban environments.
PC54 could cater for potentially 63 dwellings, albeit at a slightly higher density than the existing
residential development pattern (such a pattern having been developed under previous District
Plan rules which specified 500m2 minimum lot sizes). The subject land is also close to local
amenities.

4.38

Changing the land to a General Residential Activity Area means development can be
appropriately accommodated within the existing infrastructural network, albeit with some
mitigation measures required to the wastewater and stormwater networks. The District Plan
provisions would be the same as those of the adjoining residential area. We find this represents
an efficient utilisation of a land resource in a way that will meet the wellbeing of the people of
the City and future residents.

4.39

We accept that there is a housing crisis in the City and also that the residential development of
this land is unlikely to contribute to the affordable housing market. Whether the housing
provided within a new subdivision is affordable is not something the RMA has jurisdiction over.
However, we find that the development of this land for general residential purposes could
produce flow-on effects within the housing markets, whereby people “upgrade” to a new house
in a new subdivision, vacating their existing dwelling for new owners.

4.40

Despite the current General Recreation zoning, this piece of land is privately owned and does
not benefit as wide a range of people as public open space does. BFHGC is open only to
members, their guests and green-fee paying golfers and is not open to the general public and
the golf course can be modified to accommodate the loss of the PC54 land. The amount of
General Recreation Activity Area land that the public can access will not be diminished. We
acknowledge the public’s visual outlook across the green open space will alter, should the land
be developed for residential purposes, but their current use of the application land is severely
restricted, unless they are golf club members.

52

Policy 8, National Policy Statement – Urban Development
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4.41

With regard to why the land should not stay zoned General Recreation, we heard that the golf
course can be adequately reconfigured to accommodate the loss of the land.53 The HCC Parks
and Recreation Division submitted a neutral submission to the proposed plan change. They
recommended the matters of control or discretion for subdivision consent relating to the PC54
land, be altered to allow for the ability to create a cohesive network of paths and linkages from
the river (Te Awa Kairangi) to the surrounding residential area and to maintain access to and
from the stopbank.

4.42

We agree that connectivity of open spaces and recreational areas is an important issue and find
that such an action would more appropriately be addressed at subdivision design and
application stage and would be in alliance with the Reserves Strategic Directions 2016-2026
document. We note there is currently no public access to the stopbank through the subject
private land. There is public access between Connolly Street and Boulcott Street; however, this
access is not owned by BFHGC and is some 700m to the west. Retaining the recreational zoning
would incur social and community costs by contributing to the City’s identified lack of adequate
amounts of suitably zoned land for residential purposes.

4.43

We understand that currently the stopbank is owned by BFHGC and were informed by the
Requestor, that the Title of the land requires that ownership of the stopbank be passed from
BFHGC to GWRC should the use of the land be altered, or the land sold. This encumbrance does
not require public linkages to be formed to the stopbank and is not bound by the land having a
specific zoning.

4.44

Several submitters stated that if the land is to be rezoned for residential purposes, it should be
for low density development with possibly restrictive caveats placed upon any new lots. We note
the current zoning of the surrounding residential neighbourhood is General Residential, which
provides for minimum lot sizes of 400m2. We acknowledge current lot sizes in the vicinity are
slightly more than this minimum size (at just over 500m2); however, we were not presented with
any evidence as to why the subject land should be treated any differently to the surrounding
residential neighbourhood. It is a relatively narrow strip of basically flat land, immediately
adjacent to similar land zoned General Residential. We find the existing quiet residential
neighbourhood with pleasant streetscape and berm plantings has evolved under the current and
previous residential zoning. We note that this existing zoning also provides for CRDs as
Restricted Discretionary Activities.

4.45

We observe that the subject land is not currently a residential area with special residential
attributes. If a low density zoning were implemented it would be at odds with the zoning of the
surrounding area, and would yield a small amount of residential lots which would be contrary to
the requirements of the NPS-UD. The planning experts were in agreement that there was
nothing in terms of bulk and location attributes of adjacent sites, or of sites in the wider
neighbourhood, that would indicate that specific bulk and location requirements were justifiable
for the PC54 area. We find that a low-density zoning would not be an efficient use of the land
resource.

53

Section 1 ‘The Site’, Boulcott’s Farm’s Heritage Golf Course District Plan Change Request, prepared by Urban Perspectives
Ltd. 2020
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4.46

We also assessed whether a more intensive residential zoning could be applied to the land. We
were persuaded that the existing residential form of development was such that a more
intensive development would be out of character (by the submitters and planning consultants).
We repeat that General Residential zoning provides for CRDs to occur as Restricted Discretionary
Activities, with a series of rules and standards that would need to be met. Such requirements
are designed to ensure residential amenity is maintained and enhanced.

4.47

We acknowledge that a medium density zoning would likely provide higher numbers of
residential lots and dwellings, thereby increasing revenue for a developer and the Council (in
rates payments). However, such an intensive land use would be contrary to the character and
scale of the existing surrounding residential area, would result in a vastly altered vista and could
have adverse effects on the infrastructure capabilities of the area.

4.48

We find that PC54 will add to the housing development capacity of the City, and is consistent
with the NPS-UD, the HBDCA and the UGS. Furthermore, we find that residential activity is
compatible with existing surrounding residential activity.

Issue 4. Amenity Effects
4.49

Several submitters raised their concerns with the potential loss of amenity that may occur
should PC54 proceed. We acknowledge a change from a golf course to residential housing will
result in an altered vista from the surrounding neighbourhood. Most of the adjoining residential
properties have large backyards (with the exception of 34 Allen Street and 35 Kingston Street),
with dwellings located several metres from the common boundary. Submitters were also
concerned at the loss of community amenity, with the proposed change of Kingston and Allen
Streets from dead end streets to potential thoroughfares.

4.50

We are mindful of Policy 6 of NPS-UD which acknowledges changes to existing urban
environments may occur:
….changes to urban environments may detract from amenity values appreciated by
some people, but improve amenity values appreciated by other people, communities,
and future generations, including by providing increased and varied housing densities
and types, and are not, of themselves, an adverse effect.54

4.51

We are also cognisant of section 7 of the RMA, which requires particular regard be had to the
maintenance and enhancement of amenity values. We concur with the Council’s planning
consultant, that in combination, these two requirements recognise that change in urban
environments is to be expected, but that it must occur in such a way that amenity values are
maintained and enhanced. We have read the General Residential Activity Area objectives,
policies, rules and standards and find that these will provide for development within the General
Residential Activity Area that achieves high quality on-site amenity for residents and surrounding
areas.

4.52

We acknowledge a change in residential amenity may occur, should a residential development
occur on the subject land. We heard from Mr Clayton that the residents have, in the past, used

54

Policy 6, NPS-UD 2020
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the dead-end streets to host community get-togethers and that such occurrences will not be
able to take place should the streets become thoroughfares. However we note that new
community events may be able to be developed, involving the new residents, and a different
community spirit may evolve.
4.53

Some submitters requested that the Council assist BFHGC in finding additional funding so as to
prevent the necessity of selling the land. We note it is outside of the jurisdiction of the RMA to
require Councils to investigate funding sources for privately owned enterprises.

4.54

We find that whilst the amenity of the area may change if the land is developed for residential
purposes, the requirements of the General Residential Activity Area will ensure high quality
residential amenity values will be protected.

Issue 5. Infrastructural Effects
4.55

The PC54 Request documents contained an assessment of the infrastructural capacity of the
surrounding area, and its ability to cope with any additional load that a residential development
could place upon it. As a result of the submissions that were received to the plan change,
additional testing was carried out in relation to stormwater disposal issues. Initially, it had been
proposed that stormwater could be directed to an existing Golf Club stormwater detention pond
and then released to the Hutt River. Concerns were raised (by both the consultant engineers
and submitters) as to the capacity of the pond on the golf course. The additional testing
(undertaken by Cuttriss Consultants Ltd) found that on-site stormwater disposal (such as soak
pits) would be possible for individual lots, and that the use of the existing detention ponds would
not be required.

4.56

The Council’s engineering consultant did not raise concerns with this suggested method of
stormwater disposal. At the hearing, he advised that individual lot testing would be required at
subdivision stage to ascertain exact soak pit locations, and that this was standard procedure
when dealing with subdivision applications. He acknowledged soak pits have not been widely
used within Hutt City, but that for many local authorities in New Zealand, they are the preferred
stormwater disposal method for example Upper Hutt City Council.

4.57

Advice the Requestor received from Wellington Water Ltd was that stormwater neutrality would
be required for any development of the site, due to capacity issues with the stormwater
networks downstream. We were informed by Mr Rose, Council's Land Development Engineer
Consultant, at the hearing that there are engineering solutions readily available and frequently
used throughout New Zealand to achieve stormwater neutrality.

4.58

The infrastructure assessment that accompanied the Application raised concerns regarding the
ability of the receiving wastewater system to cope with any additional load. Information from
Wellington Water Ltd advised that mitigation works would be required. The Application
suggested an acceptable engineering solution could be individual wastewater storage tanks and
pump systems. We were informed that such systems are widely used throughout New Zealand
and were an acceptable and workable solution to wastewater capacity issues.

4.59

We find that specific infrastructural requirements are best dealt with at subdivision design and
application stage. Indeed Rule 11.2.2.1(b) requires that an engineering assessment of the three
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waters provisions for any subdivision is undertaken. We consider this provides adequate
provision to assess the suitability of the land for residential purposes from an engineering point
of view.
4.60

We heard that should a CRD be proposed (a Restricted Discretionary Activity) on the subject
land, such an application would be subject to achieving stormwater neutrality.

4.61

The Requestor provided evidence that electrical, telecommunications and gas could be provided
to the site. We note Wellington Electricity Lines Ltd advised the existing network can cater for
up to 50 more dwellings, and that an upgrade to the network would be required should more
than that number be proposed. We regard this to be an item a developer of the site would need
to consider at subdivision design and application stage.

4.62

The subject land abuts both Allen and Kingston Streets and the Requestor advised that there are
currently “isolation strips” at the end of each of these streets preventing legal access to the
subject land. We were advised that this matter would be addressed at subdivision
design/application stage, in association with the appropriate Council officers. The consultant
engineers advised there were no impediments to the provision of roading (either public or
private) within the subject land, and that detailed design of such roading would be undertaken
at subdivision design/application stage.

4.63

Our site visit confirmed that the land is gently undulating, with a slight fall from north to south.
We agree with the Requestor’s consultant engineers that some earthworks would be required
upon development of the site, and that such earthworks would be addressed at resource
consent stage, under the relevant rules and standards.

4.64

We find that the site can be adequately serviced through a mix of existing and new infrastructure
and that any potential adverse effects can be adequately mitigated.

Issue 6. Flooding and Removing the Secondary Flood Overlay
4.65

Several submissions questioned the removal of the flooding overlay highlighting there remains
some low points within the plan change area.

4.66

Email correspondence from GWRC Flood Protection Department (submitted as part of the
Application55) advised that the PC54 land should not be shown as being inundated during a 1 in
440 year return period flood event, due to the construction of the new stopbank which has
improved flood protection to the Boulcott area.56 The realigned stopbank and associated works
to the golf course mean that the subject land is now on the city side of the stopbank and is
protected from flooding of the Hutt River / Te Awa Kairangi. As we understand it, this would
indicate that the existing Secondary Flood Overlay is redundant. We note GWRC raised no issues
with potential flooding of the area, or indeed made a submission to PC54.

55
56

Appendix 1, Infrastructure Report for Proposed Plan Change Boulcott Farm Heritage Golf Club Lower Hutt, Prepared by
Cuttriss September 2020
Appendix 3 to the Boulcott’s Farm Heritage Golf Course District Plan Change Request, prepared by Urban Perspectives Ltd
2020
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4.67

We concur with the two planning experts in finding that removing the Secondary River Corridor
Overlay from the site is appropriate, and to retain it would be inefficient and create unnecessary
planning restrictions when assessing any future resource consents for the land.

4.68

The NPS-UD(f) requires that (as a minimum) urban environments are resilient to the likely
current and future effects of climate change. We heard that the land subject to PC54 is protected
from flooding by the improved stopbank. We acknowledge there may still be extreme weather
events which may cause the improved stopbank to be compromised, however, should such an
occurrence eventuate more than just this subject land would be at risk.

4.69

We also acknowledge that in times of heavy rainfall, there may be areas within the
neighbourhood where temporary ponding does occur. Mr Paul Gillan told us of his concern that
water ponds in the vicinity of his property in times of heavy rain, sometimes taking days to
dissipate.

4.70

We heard from the Requestor’s engineer that any new road carriageways are required to
achieve stormwater neutrality, discharging into soak pits. He explained that on-going
maintenance of such soak pits is the responsibility of the asset owner. He advised that on site
testing on the subject land had discovered the soil consisted of free draining river gravels, that
are conducive to quick discharging of water.

4.71

We find that, with adherence to the existing requirements regarding stormwater, any potential
flooding adverse effects can be adequately mitigated.

Issue 7. Contaminated Land
4.72

The Requestor has stated that the area of PC54 has not been used for bulk pesticide storage and
has only ever been used for a fairway and not a putting green. Historic aerial photographs
appear to confirm this, and we understand that the use of pesticides on a fairway is far less
intensive than on putting or bowling greens. We concur with the Requestor when they state:57
The National Environmental Standard for Assessing and Managing Contaminants in
Soil to Protect Human Health 2011 is a regulation that comes into effect when a site’s
use is changing, earthworks are occurring, soil is sampled or subdivision is occurring.
All district and City Councils are required to observe and enforce the requirements of
the NESCS. There is no link in the NESCS to the plan change process but contamination
is a relevant matter to consider when considering a plan change application. The
NESCS does not include any policy direction.
The NESCS references the Hazardous Industries and Activities List (HAIL) which
identifies activities and industries that are likely to cause land contamination resulting
from hazardous substance use, storage or disposal.
Part A (10) of the HAIL (October 2011) lists ‘Persistent pesticide bulk storage or use
including sports turfs, market gardens, orchards, glass houses or spray sheds’ as being
a hazardous activity.

57

Section 6.4, Boulcott’s Farm Heritage Golf Course District Plan Change Request, prepared by Urban Perspectives Ltd 2020
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The expert advice from Pattle Delamore Partners Limited concludes that “the land is
not considered to fall within HAIL category A10 and therefore the NESCS will not apply
during future subdivision and change of use of the land. Sampling is not required.”
The expert advice in appendix 9 should be read in full for the reasoning behind this
conclusion.
4.73

As an aside, we note the NESCS does not apply to plan changes but does apply to actual land use
changes and at subdivision stage.

4.74

Mr Chisholm raised concerns that historic illegal dumping of rubbish has occurred at the rear of
his property. He was concerned that this historic practice could have a detrimental effect on
the quality of the soil on the PC54 land. We heard that the subject site is not listed with GWRC
as a potentially contaminated site, and historic photographs do not reveal any information about
where household rubbish may have been dumped. The Council’s consultant engineer (Mr Rose)
gave evidence that soak pit testing for individual sites will be required as a condition of
subdivision consent, and that this would indicate if any portion of the subject land was
unsuitable for stormwater disposal. We understand individual lot testing for dwelling
construction would be undertaken at building consent stage.

4.75

We find that whilst the plan change is not subject to the requirements of the NESCS, expert
advice received stated the land was not considered to fall within Hail category A10. We find that
the suitability of individual land parcels for residential development will be controlled at
subdivision design/application stage.

Issue 8. Cultural
4.76

BFHGC consulted with Port Nicholson Block Settlement Trust, Te Rūnanga o Toa Rangatira, Te
Rūnanganui o Te Āti Awa ki te Upoko o Te Ika a Māui and Wellington Tenths Trust and
Palmerston North Māori Reserve Trust. A written response was received from the latter two
entities and indicated there were no objections to the proposal. No responses were received
from the other three entities.

4.77

Wellington Tenths Trust response referenced a Cultural Impact Assessment that had been
prepared by Raukura Consultants in association with Plan Change 35, on land approximately
180m to the west. That Assessment would seem to indicate that the historic “Battle of Boulcott”
occurred on land further to the west of the subject site. Our comments recorded above in
paragraph 3.20 apply here.

4.78

We find that, as no Māori entity that was consulted with, raised any cultural issues relating to
the PC54 land or the proposal to change the zoning, there will be no adverse cultural effects
arising from PC54.

Issue 9. Strategic Overview
4.79

Mr Langstraat was concerned that there appeared to be no strategic overview of the
developments that are occurring or potentially occurring in the City. He questioned whether
there was any one entity that assessed the cumulative effects of developments.
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We find that, regarding water (drinking water, stormwater and wastewater), Wellington Water
Ltd has the strategic overview for the Hutt Valley (and indeed for the wider Wellington area).
Regarding roading, HCC has authority over the City’s roads, whilst GWRC looks after the
regionally significant roading network and Waka Kotahi (NZTA) looks after the state highways.
HCC is responsible for assessing land use within the City, including the legal requirement to
identify and provide land for future development. GWRC is responsible for assessing the
regional aspects of growth. Overall, we find that the above mentioned bodies do provide a
strategic overview of development in the City.

Issue 10. Gifting of Land
4.81

Through the course of the hearing, we heard that BFHGC had approached the owners of the two
closest dwellings to the subject land: 34 Allen Street and 35 Kingston Street. These dwellings
have been located on site whereby they completely face the subject land or are built basically
on the boundary with no separation (34 Allen Street). 35 Kingston Street includes an outdoor
patio area that is designed to take advantage of the golf course vista. We understand that the
BFHGC had offered to gift a 1.0m strip of land along these two property boundaries, albeit
dependent on PC54 being approved. We heard that negotiations were ongoing and find that
these are private matters between the three private landowners. We further find that the
outcome of these negotiations has no bearing on our recommended decision.

Issue 11. Economic
4.82

Although not quantifiable, we regard the positive economic effects of a development of land for
residential purposes to be a consideration. The subdivision development will ensure
employment of personnel with the appropriate skill sets, and the subsequent construction of
dwellings will support the construction industry. It is reasonable to assume that during the
construction period, economic growth will be boosted.

Issue 12. Property Values
4.83

Several submitters expressed concern for their property values should residential development
occur on the subject land. They believed that their investment into their properties would be
diminished primarily due to the loss of the ‘borrowed’ golf course vista.

4.84

We concur with the planning consultants on this matter. The potential effects on property values
are not a resource management consideration. We have already made our finding on residential
amenity and further assessment is not required.

4.85

Section 85 of the Act sets out that “an interest in land shall be deemed not to be taken or
injuriously affected by reason of any provision in a plan unless otherwise provided for in this
Act”58. S85 then sets out the circumstances where someone may challenge provisions on the

58

S85(1) RMA
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basis that the provision would render an interest in land incapable of reasonable use. The
proposed plan change clearly does not render adjacent land incapable of reasonable use.59

59

Paragraph 43 Dan Kellow’s Statement of Evidence
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5

OVERALL RECOMMENDATION

5.1

Based on our consideration of all the material before us, including the s42A report from the
Council’s consultants, the submissions, further submission, evidence presented at the hearing
and other relevant statutory matters, and for the reasons we have set out in sections 3 and 4
above, we recommend to the Council that:
The plan change be accepted as notified;
That all submissions and the further submission on the plan change be accepted or rejected
to the extent that they correspond with that conclusion and the matters we have set out in
the preceding report sections; and as summarised in Appendix 1; and
Pursuant to Clause 10 of the First Schedule of the RMA, Council gives notice of its decision
on submissions to PC54.

5.2

Although not within the scope of the plan change, we separately recommend that the Council’s
transport division undertake investigations into roading improvements as detailed in paragraph
4.18 of this decision. Namely investigating the:
extension of the No Stopping lines along the High Street frontage from Kingston Street
towards the south to provide the Minimum Gap Sight Distance (MGSD) of 69m and ideally
to accommodate the Safe Intersection Sight Distance (SISD) of 97m; and
flush median through the Kingston/High Streets intersection be widened to permit left
turning traffic to complete their manoeuvre when a vehicle is waiting to turn right into High
Street.

DATED AT LOWER HUTT THIS 22nd DAY OF MARCH 2022

Robert Schofield
Panel Chair
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APPENDIX 1 – Panel Recommendations on Relief Sought by Submissions and
Further Submissions
DPC54/001

James Brodie

Sub.
Ref.

Topic

Position

Decision Requested

Recommended Decision

1.1

Whole of Plan
Change

Support

Approve the Plan
Change.

Accept.

DPC54/002

Paul and Kerry Gillan

Sub.
Ref.

Topic

Position

Decision Requested

Recommended Decision

2.1

Residents Equity

Oppose

Reject the Plan
Change

Reject.

2.2

Traffic

Oppose

Reject the Plan
Change

Accept in part: We consider that
Council should investigate conducting
traffic safety measures by extending
yellow no-parking line markings on
High Street and reconfiguring the
Kingston/High Street intersection,
although our recommendation that the
Plan Change be adopted is not
conditional upon this.

2.3

Flooding/
Stormwater

Oppose

Reject the Plan
Change

Reject.

2.4

Wastewater

Oppose

Reject the Plan
Change

Reject.

2.5

Urban
Development and
Amenity

Oppose

Reject the Plan
Change

Reject.

DPC54/003

Danny Langstraat

[It is noted that Mr Langstraat’s submission includes a list of people at a number of nearby addresses who
are in support of his submission]
Sub.
Ref.

Topic

Position

Decision Requested

Recommended Decision
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3.1

Stormwater

Oppose

Reject the Plan
Change

Reject.

3.2

Wastewater

Oppose

Reject the Plan
Change

Reject.

3.3

Traffic

Oppose

Reject the Plan
Change

Accept in part: We consider that
Council should investigate conducting
traffic safety measures by extending
yellow no-parking line markings on
High Street and reconfiguring the
Kingston/High Street intersection,
although our recommendation that the
Plan Change be adopted is not
conditional upon this.

3.4

Urban
Development and
Amenity

Oppose

Reject the Plan
Change

Reject.

DPC54/004

Hutt City Council – Parks and Recreation Division (officer submission)

Sub.
Ref.

Topic

Position

Decision Requested

Recommended Decision

4.1

Public Access and
Recreation

Neutral

If approved,
recommends
changes to the
proposal making
public access and
recreation
opportunities
matters of
control/discretion
for subdivision
consent at this site.

Reject.

DPC54/005

We agree that public access and
recreational opportunities are valid
matters for the design of any
subdivision rather than this plan
change.
We note that there is currently no
public access to the stopbank through
the subject land.

Robert Chisholm

Sub.
Ref.

Topic

Position

Decision Requested

Recommended Decision

5.1

Trees

Oppose

A notable tree
analysis be
undertaken

Reject.

A thorough test of a
“dump area” to clear
any concerns about
contaminants,
paints, garden
chemicals, and

Reject.

5.2

Site History

Not
Stated

Matters related to rating are not an
appropriate RMA matter.
The site is not listed with GWRC as a
potentially contaminated site. Testing
of individual sites for soakpit and
residential development suitability
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building and roofing
asbestos.

DPC54/006

would occur at subdivision
design/application stage.

Craig Burnett and Keryn Davis

Sub.
Ref.

Topic

Position

Decision Requested

Recommended Decision

6.1

Stormwater

Oppose

Reject the Plan
Change

Reject.

6.2

Wastewater

Oppose

Reject the Plan
Change

Reject.

6.3

Traffic

Oppose

Reject the Plan
Change

Accept in part: We consider that
Council should investigate conducting
traffic safety measures by extending
yellow no-parking line markings on
High Street and reconfiguring the
Kingston/High Street intersection,
although our recommendation that the
Plan Change be adopted is not
conditional upon this.

6.4

Urban
Development and
Amenity

Oppose

Reject the Plan
Change

Reject.

DPC54/007

It is outside the jurisdiction of the RMA
to require Councils to investigate
funding sources for privately owned
enterprises.

Steve Machirus

Sub.
Ref.

Topic

Position

Decision Requested

Recommended Decision

7.1

Stormwater

Oppose

Reject the Plan
Change

Reject.

7.2

Wastewater

Oppose

Reject the Plan
Change

Reject.

7.3

Traffic

Oppose

Reject the Plan
Change

Accept in part: We consider that
Council should investigate conducting
traffic safety measures by extending
yellow no-parking line markings on
High Street and reconfiguring the
Kingston/High Street intersection,
although our recommendation that the
Plan Change be adopted is not
conditional upon
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Urban
Development and
Amenity

DPC54/008

Oppose

Panel Report and Recommendations

Reject the Plan
Change

Reject.

Jennifer Butler for St James Ave Collective

Sub.
Ref.

Topic

Position

Decision Requested

Recommended Decision

8.1

Stormwater

Oppose

Reject the Plan
Change

Reject.

8.2

Wastewater

Oppose

Reject the Plan
Change

Reject.

8.3

Traffic

Oppose

Reject the Plan
Change

Accept in part: We consider that
Council should investigate conducting
traffic safety measures by extending
yellow no-parking line markings on
High Street and reconfiguring the
Kingston/High Street intersection,
although our recommendation that the
Plan Change be adopted is not
conditional upon this.

8.4

Urban
Development and
Amenity

Oppose

Reject the Plan
Change

Reject.

DPC54/009

Paul Laplanche

Sub.
Ref.

Topic

Position

Decision Requested

Recommended Decision

9.1

Stormwater

Oppose

Reject the Plan
Change

Reject.

9.2

Wastewater

Oppose

Reject the Plan
Change

Reject.

9.3

Traffic

Oppose

Reject the Plan
Change

Accept in part: We consider that
Council should investigate conducting
traffic safety measures by extending
yellow no-parking line markings on
High Street and reconfiguring the
Kingston/High Street intersection,
although our recommendation that the
Plan Change be adopted is not
conditional upon this.
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9.4

Urban
Development and
Amenity

DPC54/010

Oppose

Panel Report and Recommendations

Reject the Plan
Change

Reject.

David Cody for St James Ave Collective

Sub.
Ref.

Topic

Position

Decision Requested

Recommended Decision

10.1

Stormwater

Oppose

Reject the Plan
Change

Reject.

10.2

Wastewater

Oppose

Reject the Plan
Change

Reject.

10.3

Traffic

Oppose

Reject the Plan
Change

Accept in part: We consider that
Council should investigate conducting
traffic safety measures by extending
yellow no-parking line markings on
High Street and reconfiguring the
Kingston/High Street intersection,
although our recommendation that the
Plan Change be adopted is not
conditional upon this.

10.4

Urban
Development and
Amenity

Oppose

Reject the Plan
Change

Reject.

DPC54/011

Henry Clayton and Margaret Waghorn

Sub.
Ref.

Topic

Position

Decision Requested

Recommended Decision

11.1

Whole of Plan
Change

Support

Approve the Plan
Change.

Accept.

Work with the
developers of
additional housing in
the area to consider
ways to manage
traffic impacts, and
to lower vehicle
speeds on Kingston
and Allen St to keep
these as safe
suburban streets.

DPC54/012

We consider that Council should
investigate conducting traffic safety
measures by extending yellow noparking line markings on High Street
and reconfiguring the Kingston/High
Street intersection, although our
recommendation that the Plan Change
be adopted is not conditional upon
this.

Wendy MacDougall

22 March 2022
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Appendix 1: Report of the Independent Hearing Panel

Proposed Private Plan Change 54

Panel Report and Recommendations

Sub.
Ref.

Topic

Position

Decision Requested

Recommended Decision

12.1

Stormwater

Oppose

Reject the Plan
Change

Reject.

12.2

Wastewater

Oppose

Reject the Plan
Change

Reject.

12.3

Traffic

Oppose

Reject the Plan
Change

Accept in part: We consider that
Council should investigate conducting
traffic safety measures by extending
yellow no-parking line markings on
High Street and reconfiguring the
Kingston/High Street intersection,
although our recommendation that the
Plan Change be adopted is not
conditional upon this.

12.4

Urban
Development and
Amenity

Oppose

Reject the Plan
Change

Reject.

DPC54/013

Long Young

Sub.
Ref.

Topic

Position

Decision Requested

Recommended Decision

13.1

Stormwater

Oppose

Reject the Plan
Change

Reject.

13.2

Wastewater

Oppose

Reject the Plan
Change

Reject.

13.3

Traffic

Oppose

Reject the Plan
Change

Accept in part: We consider that
Council should investigate conducting
traffic safety measures by extending
yellow no-parking line markings on
High Street and reconfiguring the
Kingston/High Street intersection,
although our recommendation that the
Plan Change be adopted is not
conditional upon this.

13.4

Urban
Development and
Amenity

Oppose

Reject the Plan
Change

Reject.

DPC54/014

Roger Harvey

22 March 2022
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Proposed Private Plan Change 54

Panel Report and Recommendations

Sub.
Ref.

Topic

Position

Decision Requested

Recommended Decision

14.1

Stormwater

Oppose

Reject the Plan
Change

Reject.

14.2

Wastewater

Oppose

Reject the Plan
Change

Reject.

14.3

Traffic

Oppose

Reject the Plan
Change

Accept in part: We consider that
Council should investigate conducting
traffic safety measures by extending
yellow no-parking line markings on
High Street and reconfiguring the
Kingston/High Street intersection,
although our recommendation that the
Plan Change be adopted is not
conditional upon this.

14.4

Urban
Development and
Amenity

Oppose

Reject the Plan
Change

Reject.

DPC54/015

Charlie Lee

Sub.
Ref.

Topic

Position

Decision Requested

Recommended Decision

15.1

Stormwater

Oppose

Reject the Plan
Change

Reject.

15.2

Wastewater

Oppose

Reject the Plan
Change

Reject.

15.3

Traffic

Oppose

Reject the Plan
Change

Accept in part: We consider that
Council should investigate conducting
traffic safety measures by extending
yellow no-parking line markings on
High Street and reconfiguring the
Kingston/High Street intersection,
although our recommendation that the
Plan Change be adopted is not
conditional upon this.

15.4

Urban
Development and
Amenity

Oppose

Reject the Plan
Change

Reject.

DPC54/016

Amy and Alastair Sidford (late submission)

22 March 2022

DEM15-4-2 - 22/658 - Proposed Private District Plan Change 54: Boulcott's Farm Heritage Golf Club Rezoning to General Residential Activity Area

Page 50 of 53

Page 88

Attachment 1

Appendix 1: Report of the Independent Hearing Panel

Proposed Private Plan Change 54

Panel Report and Recommendations

Sub.
Ref.

Topic

Position

Decision Requested

Recommended Decision

16.1

Stormwater

Oppose

Reject the Plan
Change

Reject.

16.2

Wastewater

Oppose

Reject the Plan
Change

Reject.

16.3

Traffic

Oppose

Reject the Plan
Change

Accept in part: We consider that
Council should investigate conducting
traffic safety measures by extending
yellow no-parking line markings on
High Street and reconfiguring the
Kingston/High Street intersection,
although our recommendation that the
Plan Change be adopted is not
conditional upon this.

16.4

Urban
Development and
Amenity

Oppose

Reject the Plan
Change

Reject.

Further Submission
DPC54FS1 Robert Chisholm
Sub.
Ref.
1.

Topic

Position

Decision Requested

Recommended Decision

Protection of
Trees

Supports
Submission
DPC54/006

Adherence to the
Urban Forest Plan
2010 document and
saving the trees on
the subject land.

Reject.
This document relates only to trees on
public open space.

22 March 2022
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Policy, Finance and Strategy
Committee
28 March 2022

File: (22/762)

Report no: PFSC2022/2/69

New Zealand Local Government Funding
Agency Green, Social and Sustainability
Lending Programme
Purpose of Report
1.

To progress support of the New Zealand Local Government Funding
Agency Green, Social and Sustainability financing option for Hutt City
Council.

Recommendations
That the Committee recommends that Council:
(1) notes and receives the update on the New Zealand Local Government
Funding Agency Green, Social and Sustainability Lending Programme;
(2) notes the cost of funds through the LGFA for Green, Social and
Sustainability funding is set at five basis points lower (-0.05%) than
conventional LGFA funding;
(3) agrees that Council apply to LGFA for green financing of the Naenae pool
rebuild project;
(4) agrees in principal that Council progresses the financing of other applicable
assets under the LGFA Green, Social and Sustainability Lending Programme;
and
(5) notes that the timing of LGFA lending under the Green, Social and
Sustainability Programme will be dependent on cashflow projections of the
relevant projects, together with broader Council Borrowing Strategy
considerations.
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Background
The role of the NZ Local Government Funding Agency

2.

The New Zealand Local Government Funding Agency (LGFA) specialises in
financing the New Zealand local government sector. Their primary purpose
is to provide more efficient financing costs and diversified financing sources
for local authorities.

3.

There are 74 member councils and one Council Controlled organisation
across New Zealand that are eligible to borrow from LGFA.

Debt funding within the Long Term Plan 2021-2031(LTP)

4.

Council uses mostly debt/borrowings to fund the capital investment
programme set out in the LTP. The Financial Strategy and Revenue and
Financing Policy in the LTP provide the overarching principles and
framework for the funding mechanisms. The Treasury Risk Management
Policy provides further details about the management of risk across treasury
activities, which includes borrowings.

5.

Council sources all required debt funding through the LGFA largely due to
pricing benefits, access to debt markets, efficient processes and specialist
expertise.

Discussion
Advantages of accessing Green, Social or Sustainability (GSS) funding from
LGFA

6.

There is increasing investor demand for sustainable/green/social bonds in
the debt markets.

7.

LGFA has set up a programme to lend funds to its borrowers for the purpose
of financing or refinancing projects that meet the requirements set out in
LGFA's Green, Social and Sustainability Lending Programme (GSS). This
programme has been set up as part of the LGFA commitment to assist
councils to finance projects that promote environmental and social
wellbeing.

8.

The key advantages of the GSS loans from LGFA are:
a) Cheaper cost of borrowing to LGFA members especially with the current
additional five basis points (0.05%) discount for GSS Loans.
b) LGFA bears all the establishment costs for GSS funding. This includes
setting up the framework, independent verification, and legal costs of
programme establishment.
c) Less administration with regard to interest payments with only one
lender (LGFA) compared to a council setting up a stand-alone green
programme.
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d) Initial and ongoing reporting less onerous with LGFA compared to a
council setting up a stand-alone green programme via a bank and the
bonds being placed to investors.
e) LGFA offers flexibility – Council can choose volume and tenor to match
Council needs against individual or multiple projects for different
amounts (both large and small).
f) Council can repay a GSS loan prior to maturity if need be – LGFA will
allow this while other investors wouldn’t guarantee it.
g) Council will receive public acknowledgement for borrowing on a
sustainable basis from LGFA.
Examples of other Council's that have used green loans

9.

To date the only green loans undertaken via LGFA have been for Wellington
City Council (WCC) and Greater Wellington Regional Council (GWRC). The
GSS loan to WCC fell under the Green Buildings category (Tākina, the
Wellington Convention and Exhibition Centre) and the GWRC loan under
the Climate Change Adaptation Category (RiverLink Project).

10. Auckland Council has been issuing Green Bonds since June 2018. They have
issued these directly to the market rather than going via LGFA which is in
line with their borrowing strategy to borrow from LGFA and other sources
(This is due to the size of Auckland Council’s borrowing requirements and
LGFA restrictions on how much they can lend to Auckland Council). The
initial Auckland Council Green Bonds related to electric trains, public
walkways and cycleways.
Council GSS financing opportunities

11. There are likely to be a range of Council projects which could qualify for a
LGFA GSS loan. Attachment 1 to the report provides a summary of the
criteria from LGFA.
12. Naenae pool rebuild project is recommended as a first project to progress
through this programme. The application would be in the Green Building
category. The project is working towards a five-star design rating by the
New Zealand Green Building Council which is expected to strongly align
with the LGFA funding category.
13. Other loan categories that Council could potentially apply for loans in the
future are:
a) Clean Transportation- e.g., micro-mobility, Tupua Hono Nuku (Eastern
Bays shared Path Project),
b) Energy Efficiency – eg Huia Pools and Dowse changes underway,
c) Affordable Housing – possibly parts of the UPL programme.
High level outline of LGFA process to be undertaken
DEM15-4-2 - 22/762 - New Zealand Local Government Funding Agency Green,
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14. The following key steps need to be completed:
a) Complete an LGFA Application form
b) Review of the application by the LGFA Sustainability Committee
c) Review and approval of the application by the Chief Executive Officer of
LGFA
d) Plan first draw-down of loan
e) Draw-down of loan and media announcement.
Ongoing reporting obligations

15. Reporting requirements for GSS loans will vary from category to category.
For Green Buildings they are straightforward and will focus on the energy
and water efficiency of the building.
16. LGFA will require a borrower, on an annual basis, to report on specific KPIs
relevant to the loan category - such as energy avoided. The reporting is
expected to be the same or similar to other Green Star reporting
requirements.
Climate Change Impact and Considerations
17. The matters addressed in this report have been considered in accordance
with the process set out in Council’s Climate Change Considerations Guide.
18. By supporting LGFA GSS loans, Council can further demonstrate
commitment to addressing the impacts of climate change.
Consultation
19. Not applicable.
Legal Considerations
20. The LGFA GSS loans would be issued within the existing legal framework of
other Council LGFA loans.
Financial Considerations
21. For the Naenae Pool rebuild project, estimated savings on a $41M loan
would be approximately $20,500 per annum or $615,000 over a thirty-year
loan. With the addition of other projects into the GSS loan programme, there
would be further opportunities to make savings in finance costs.
22. The Treasury Risk Management Policy was last reviewed and approved by
Council in May 2020. The policy is clear about the governance and
management responsibilities in regard to borrowings, which includes:
-

As part of the LTP and Annual Plan process the Council approves the
projected debt borrowings.
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The Chief Executive is responsible for treasury management activity
which includes approving new external borrowings undertaken in line
with the Council borrowing approvals.

23. Council’s Borrowings Strategy is prepared with the support of external
treasury specialist advice from PwC. The proposed use of the LGFA Green,
Social and Sustainability loans will be managed within the overall
Borrowings Strategy.
24. The timing of lending under the LGFA GSS programme, would be
dependent on the cashflow projections for individual projects together with
broader considerations of the overall Borrowings Strategy.

Appendices
No.

Title

1⇩

LGFA Green, Social and Sustainability Lending Programme Criteria summary and loan application process

Page
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Author: Glenn Phillips
Treasury Officer

Approved By: Jenny Livschitz
Group Chief Financial Officer
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Green,
Social and
Sustainability
Lending
Programme
– Criteria
Summary and
Loan Application
Process 30 September 2021
LGFA

New Zealand Local
Government Funding Agency
Te Pūtea Kāwanatanga ā-rohe
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LGFA Green, Social and Sustainability Lending Programme - Criteria summary
and loan application process

A commitment to assist councils
and council-controlled organisations
to finance projects that promote
environmental and social wellbeing
in New Zealand.
New Zealand Local Government Funding Agency Limited (LGFA) recognises the risks inherent in climate change
for both New Zealand and local Councils and supports New Zealand’s shift to a low-carbon economy. LGFA
also recognises it has a role to play in New Zealand’s contribution to meeting the United Nations’ Sustainable
Development Goals (UN SDGs) and helping its members to build a stronger and more resilient society.
The full version of LGFA’s Green, Social and Sustainability (GSS) Lending Programme – Criteria document
(Criteria) sets out the basis on which member councils and council-controlled organisations (CCOs) (together,
the Borrowers) can access a GSS Loan (as defined below) and is available at www.lgfa.co.nz

What is a GSS Loan?
LGFA offers financing to its Borrowers to enable them to undertake green, social and sustainability projects
that will help drive forward ambitious climate, environmental and social projects in the New Zealand local
government sector (GSS Loans). There may be pricing benefits available for GSS Loans. In this summary, we set
out the process requirements for applying for a GSS Loan. The GSS Loans will be documented as debt securities
under LGFA’s Multi-issuer Deed, however, we refer to these debt securities as ‘GSS Loans’ in this Criteria Summary.

The Ōtakaro Avon River was named one of the most
improved waterways in New Zealand recently.
Environment Canterbury

02 Green, Social and Sustainability Lending Programme – Criteria Summary and Loan Application Process
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LGFA Green, Social and Sustainability Lending Programme - Criteria summary
and loan application process

How to apply for a GSS Loan?
All Borrowers are eligible to apply for a GSS Loan and applications for GSS Loans will be subject to a separate
assessment process. The steps below summarise the simple process of applying for GSS Loan approval:

Identify the category and type of project that apply to your project.
LGFA will work with a Borrower to help ascertain the right category in the Criteria
and then the right type of project. You only need to meet the criteria specified for
your type of project. A summary of the categories is outlined in the Green, Social and
Sustainability Lending Programme – Asset Assessment Summary (Asset Assessment
Summary), which is available at www.lgfa.co.nz.

Complete an application form.
There are specially designed application forms for each of the ten categories of green
projects and one for the six categories of social projects. If a Borrower wants to apply
for a GSS Loan for several projects or a project covered by more than one category, a
separate form is required for each project/category (as applicable). Application forms
are available at www.lgfa.co.nz.
The purpose of GSS Loans is for financing new green or social projects, and as a
general rule GSS loans are not eligible for financing projects that were completed
more than eighteen months prior to the application date. When existing GSS loans
mature these can be refinanced within the economic lifetime of the project, but the
projects will be reassessed against LGFA’s latest Criteria.
Our aim has been to ensure the application forms are easy to complete and that the
information requested is easily available from proposals from contractors etc.
If a project changes during the construction or use phase, such that it is probable that
it will no longer satisfy the necessary criteria, the Borrower is required to notify LGFA.

Attach the required documentation.
The Criteria and the relevant application form specify the information for which
supporting documentation must be provided and what needs to be described for
each project type.
To qualify for a GSS Loan, a project must meet the criteria that apply to its type of
project. In addition, the project’s designated climate or environmental impact must be
documented or described in more detail in a separate attachment. Attachments should
be provided to verify information provided as far as possible. For example, we expect
the energy needs calculated for new builds and the expected reductions resulting from
energy efficiency measures to be documented by an energy report from a contractor.
For other types of investment, impact calculations in the proposals submitted by
contractors, project descriptions or similar can be used as supporting documentation.

Submit the completed application form to allow LGFA to process your
request for a GSS Loan.
We will normally be able to determine whether the project does or does not qualify
in the course of ten working days. If we need more information to decide whether the
project qualifies, we will be in touch to request the necessary information and the
process may take more time.

We process your application and then let you know whether your
project qualifies for a GSS Loan.
Where a project satisfies our GSS Loan criteria, we will confirm that a GSS Loan can
be made to the Borrower. Where a project does not satisfy LGFA’s GSS Loan criteria,
the Borrower can continue to borrow under our normal financing terms. By borrowing
a GSS Loan, a Borrower agrees to the project information provided by them being
used in our reporting. You can find more information on how we use this information
in section 4 of the Criteria.

03 Green, Social and Sustainability Lending Programme – Criteria Summary and Loan Application Process
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What project categories qualify for a GSS Loan?
LGFA offers GSS Loans for a wide range of projects across 10 green project categories and six social project
categories. The criteria any project must satisfy in order to qualify for a GSS Loan are set out in section 3 of the
Criteria (these are also summarised in the Asset Assessment Summary).

Summary List of Eligible Green and Social Categories:
Green Categories
•

Energy Efficiency

•

Green Buildings

•

Clean Transportation

•

Sustainable Water and Wastewater Management

•

Renewable Energy

•

Pollution Prevention and Control

•

Environmentally Sustainable Management of Living Natural Resources and Land Use

•

Climate Change Adaptation

•

Terrestrial and Aquatic Biodiversity Conservation

•

Eco-efficient and/or Circular Economy Adapted Products, Production Technologies and Processes

Social Categories
•

Affordable Basic Infrastructure

•

Access to Essential Services

•

Affordable Housing

•

Employment Generation Including through the Potential Effect of SME Financing and Microfinance

•

Food Security

•

Socioeconomic Advancement and Empowerment

LGFA Contact Details
LGFA will provide assistance in answering any questions on the Criteria or the process for applying for a GSS
Loan. We also welcome queries to assist Borrowers in assessing which projects in its asset portfolio could
potentially qualify for a GSS Loan. We can also look at the measures you could take in relation to future projects
so that they may qualify for a GSS Loan.
Nick Howell – Head of Sustainability
Ph: +64 21 227 3738
Email: nick.howell@lgfa.co.nz

04 Green, Social and Sustainability Lending Programme – Criteria Summary and Loan Application Process
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Auckland Level 5, Walker Wayland Centre, 53 Fort Street
Wellington Level 8, City Chambers, 142 Featherston Street
PO Box 5704, Lambton Quay, Wellington 6145
PH +64 4 974 6530 www.lgfa.co.nz

About this Report
This LGFA Green, Social and Sustainability (GSS) Lending Programme – Criteria Summary & Loan
Application Process (Criteria Summary) was developed to provide answers to a few initial questions
regarding access to funding under the LGFA GSS lending programme.
This document is available at www.lgfa.co.nz
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Policy, Finance and Strategy
Committee
20 April 2022

File: (22/982)

Report no: PFSC2022/2/80

Intensification Planning Instrument: Financial
Contributions Assessment
Purpose of Report
1.

The purpose of this report is for the Committee to consider
recommendations from the District Plan Review Subcommittee regarding
financial contributions for Council’s Intensification Planning Instrument (IPI)
and the District Plan Review.

Recommendations
That the Committee recommends that Council:
(1) receives the information contained in the report;
(2) approves Option 2 for financial contributions in the Intensification Planning
Instrument, which provides for limited changes to expand existing financial
contributions for off-site services and adjustment to applying reserves
financial contributions; and
(3) asks officers to explore the potential of using Option 3 for financial
contributions, which provides for an increased scope to include option 2 and
new provisions to mitigate effects on streetscape and/or environmental
offsetting, as part of the wider District Plan Review following the
introduction of the Intensification Planning Instrument.
Background
2.

The District Plan Review Subcommittee (the Subcommittee) reports to the
Policy, Finance and Strategy Committee.

3.

The purpose of the Subcommittee is to make recommendations to the Policy,
Finance and Strategy Committee for recommendation to Council, on the
matters to be addressed in the full review of the District Plan and
development of a Proposed District Plan.
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4.

At a meeting of the Subcommittee (held 7 April 2022), the Subcommittee
considered the item ‘Intensification Planning Instrument: Financial
Contributions Assessment.’

5.

Appendix 1 is the initial report presented to the Subcommittee for this item.

6.

At that meeting, the Subcommittee resolved:
“That the Subcommittee recommends that the Policy, Finance and Strategy
Committee recommends that Council:
(1)

receives the information contained in the report;

(2)

approves Option 2 for financial contributions in the Intensification
Planning Instrument, which provides for limited changes to expand
existing financial contributions for off-site services and adjustment to
applying reserves financial contributions; and

(3)

asks officers to explore the potential of using Option 3 for financial
contributions, which provides for an increased scope to include option 2
and new provisions to mitigate effects on streetscape and/or
environmental offsetting, as part of the wider District Plan Review
following the introduction of the Intensification Planning Instrument.”

Discussion
7. A discussion for financial contributions and Council’s Intensification
Planning Instrument is included in Appendix 1 of this report.
Options
8. Officers have identified options for how the Intensification Planning
Instrument could address financial contributions. These options are outlined
in Appendix 1 of this report.
Climate Change Impact and Considerations
9. Climate change impact and considerations are outlined in Appendix 1 of this
report.
Engagement
10. Engagement for the Intensification Planning Instrument is outlined in
Appendix 1 of this report.
11. If officers are directed to explore using Option 3 (which provides for an
increased scope to include new provisions to mitigate effects on streetscape
and/or environmental offsetting as part of the wider District Plan Review)
there would be additional engagement with the community and developers
on financial contributions as part of the wider District Plan Review.
Legal Considerations
12. Legal considerations with regard to the Intensification Planning Instrument
are outlined in Appendix 1 of this report. With regard to the wider District
Plan Review, the key legal considerations are the RMA requirements for a
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District Plan, including the requirement to review the District Plan and
requirement to give effect to higher order documents, such as national policy
statements and the Regional Policy Statement for the Wellington Region.
Financial Considerations
13. Financial considerations with regard to the Intensification Planning
Instrument are outlined in Appendix 1 of this report. With regard to the
wider District Plan Review, costs associated with exploring financial
contributions to mitigate effects on streetscape and/or environmental
offsetting will be able to be met through the existing budget for the wider
District Plan Review.
Appendices
No.

Title

1⇩

Appendix 1: Intensification Planning Instrument: Financial
Contributions Assessment - report to the District Plan Review
Subcommittee meeting 7 April 2022
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Appendix 1: Intensification Planning Instrument: Financial Contributions
Assessment - report to the District Plan Review Subcommittee meeting 7 April
2022
1

07 April 2022

District Plan Review
Subcommittee
17 March 2022

File: (22/631)

Report no: DPRS2022/2/58

Intensification Planning Instrument: Financial
Contributions Assessment

DECISION MAKING
CHECKLIST
This checklist is designed to assist report writers and decision makers to more easily
understand and comply with the obligations of the Local Government Act, whilst providing
a legal record of how the process was followed.
There are specific obligations in the Local Government Act 2002 for Council to consider a
range of factors when making decisions. The Decision Making Checklist is applicable to
all reports seeking a decision to CLT, Council, Committees or Community Boards.
For information on decision making powers and delegations, check Council’s
Terms of Reference, the Delegations Register and Functions and Delegations for
Community Boards 2019-2022.
For information on Council’s approach to determining the significance of
proposals and decisions, and when it will undertake engagement and/or
consultation on those matters, check Council’s Significance and Engagement
Policy 2018-2022.
LEGISLATIVE REQUIREMENTS

Comments

Does this decision fit the purpose of local government by enabling local decision-making and action by, and
on behalf of, communities; and promoting the social, economic, environmental, and cultural well-being of
communities in the present and for the future ☒
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Assessment - report to the District Plan Review Subcommittee meeting 7 April
2022
2

Does your report explain how the decision will
promote the social, economic, environmental
and cultural well-being of communities, and
include reference to the relevant Council
strategies covering these areas?

07 April 2022

Yes

The four wellbeings have been
considered in the assessment of
options, although this is only an
initial assessment. A full
evaluation under s32 of the RMA
will be prepared prior to the
notification of the IPI, and that
evaluation will more fully address
the four wellbeings.

Yes

Click here to enter text.

Guided by the Significance and Engagement
Policy, does the report address the views and
preferences of persons likely to be affected by
or have an interest in the matter, and provide
opportunities for engagement or consultation
with those parties, e.g. youth, iwi?

No

Engagement on these issues will
occur from April, including through
the statutory submissions and
hearing processes.

If the decision sought is significantly
inconsistent with Council policy or plans
required by legislation, does the report identify
the inconsistency, reasons for it, and any plans
to amend documents in order to accommodate
the decision?

Not applicable

Click here to enter text.

Are you providing opportunities for Maori to
contribute to decision making on this matter?
Refer to Community Engagement Strategy and
Contact the Kaitakawaenga Kaupapa Maori

Yes

Click here to enter text.

Have you identified, and assessed, all
reasonably practicable options in your report?

Comments

OTHER CONSIDERATIONS

Does this report require specialist input (for
example, advice from the Legal team, the
Communications team, People and Capability,
Finance, or Risk Management)?

No

Click here to enter text.

Health and Safety: Are there any health & safety
implications or risks to others in making this
decision? If so have these risks been assessed
No
in accordance with the Health & Safety at Work
Act 2015 and what actions may be taken to
reduce the risk of harm?

Click here to enter text.
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Purpose of Report
1.

The purpose of this report is to seek the approval of the Subcommittee to
proceed with the preferred approach to financial contributions through the
Intensification Planning Instrument.

Recommendations
That the Subcommittee recommends that the Policy, Finance and Strategy
Committee recommends that Council:
(i) receives the information contained in the report; and
(ii) approves Option 2 for financial contributions in the Intensification
Planning Instrument, which provides for limited changes to expand
existing financial contributions for off-site services and adjustment to
applying reserves financial contributions.
For the reasons discussed in section 14 below.
Background
2.

As reported to the Subcommittee on 10 February 2022, in December 2021,
Parliament passed the Resource Management (Enabling Housing Supply and
Other Matters) Amendment Act 2021 (the Housing Supply Act).

3.

This Act seeks to accelerate the supply of housing in urban areas where
demand for housing is high, which includes the Lower Hutt urban area, by
amending the Resource Management Act 1991 (RMA) and National Policy
Statement on Urban Development 2020 (NPS-UD).

4.

As a result of these amendments, territorial authorities are required to:
• Prepare an Intensification Planning Instrument (IPI) – a specific district
plan change to enable greater building heights and density of urban form,
primarily in residential areas (Medium Density Residential Standards –
MDRS).
• Process the IPI through an Intensification Streamlined Planning Process a new district plan change process that is more streamlined and
condensed than the standard plan change process.

5. Council’s IPI will need to amend several chapters of the City of Lower Hutt
District Plan. While the core changes are to residential and commercial
chapters, the Housing Supply Act also enables a local authority to make rules
requiring financial contributions for any class of activity other than a
prohibited activity.
6. This power has been provided to enable financial contributions to be imposed
on developments complying with the medium density residential standards,
which may not require a land use or subdivision consent.
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7. When including a rule requiring a financial contribution, it must specify in
the relevant plan or proposed plan:
a. the purpose for which the financial contribution is required
(which may include the purpose of ensuring positive effects on the
environment to offset any adverse effect); and
b. how the level of the financial contribution will be determined; and
c. when the financial contribution will be required.
8. Unlike the MDRS and NPS-UD policy 3 standards, provisions relating to
financial contributions will not have immediate legal effect when the
intensification plan change is notified under the Intensification Streamlined
Planning Process.
9.

Financial contributions work alongside development contributions to
generate revenue to upgrade Council infrastructure for new development.
Figure 1 below summarises some of the key differences between these two
mechanisms. Council can adjust financial contributions through the IPI
process but changes to development contributions require a different
process.
Figure 1: Comparison of development and financial contributions.

10. Council’s financial strategy set as part of the 10-Year Plan 2021-2031 includes
the following underlying principles:
a. Fairness and equity – the funding of expenditure is equitable
across both present and future ratepayers;
b. Growth pays for growth – the capital costs incurred to develop
infrastructure that supports growth within the city should be
primarily covered by those causing the growth and increasing the
demand on Council infrastructure;
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c. Distribution of benefits – consideration is given to the distribution
of the benefits from Council activities over identifiable parts of the
community, the whole community or individuals (users). Where
there are identifiable direct benefits, the proportion of costs
associated with these benefits should be covered by the user(s).
11. The discussion and options below have been informed by advice from
Dwayne Fletcher (Vale Consulting) reviewing Council’s existing Financial
Contributions provisions. This advice was procured as part of the full District
Plan review. Mr Fletcher has previously undertaken work relating to
Council’s Development Contributions Policy.
Discussion
12. The current District Plan was publicly notified in 1995 and became operative
in the early 2000s. The bulk of the financial contribution provisions were set
through this process, prior to the Local Government Act 2002 and the
introduction of development contributions. Plan change 12 introduced caps
on the reserve financial contribution.
13. The current financial contribution rules are often restrictive and narrow in
their application, differ for different services and land uses, and compel
contribution toward costs from Council in many cases. In addition, they
would not apply to permitted housing developments enabled by the
Housing Supply Act.
14. This report focuses on possible changes to the financial contribution
provision that would address the immediate challenges created by permitted
housing under the MDRS provisions.
15. A Cost-Benefit Analysis of proposed Medium Density Residential Standards
report from the Ministry for the Environment acknowledges that where new
developments do not pay for the full marginal costs of connecting to
infrastructure networks, costs are borne by the rest of the community.
16. The report shows external costs not borne by users of infrastructure are
calculated nationally as between $3,658 and $16,219 per dwelling.
17. The report also provides an estimate of 9,833 new dwellings across the
Wellington region over the next five to eight years following the
implementation of the MDRS.
18. A high-level calculation based on the 2018 census distribution of dwellings
indicates Hutt City holds approximately 20% of the region’s supply.
Assuming the additional housing enabled by the MDRS follows the same
distribution, this would estimate 1,966 new dwellings in Hutt City.
19. Council’s current policy for reserves financial contributions where land is
subdivided is capped at $10,000 per new lot.
20. Revenue resulting from an additional 1,966 dwellings has potential to be
significant to Council’s ability to pay for the infrastructure costs resulting
from those additional developments.
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Options
21. The table below outlines the proposed options for financial contributions in
the IPI
Option

Assessment

Option 1 Retain the
existing
financial
contributions
provisions
without
changes.

Description
•

•

•

This approach would retain the existing provisions
which require financial contributions for residential
developments only if there is a subdivision consent.
This existing approach is working to a reasonable
degree at present, largely because most residential
developments involve subdivision.
This approach would preclude financial
contributions from being levied on any future
residential development that did not require
subdivision consent.

Benefits
•

This retains the existing approach and does not
increase existing costs on development.

Costs
•

•

Option 2 Limited
changes to
expand

With the requirement to enable more intensive
development as a permitted activity, there are likely
to be more residential developments of a larger scale
and in a wider range of locations. This will lead to
more instances whereby the existing local
infrastructure cannot accommodate the new
development and require upgrading, such as
upsizing. The cost of that upgrade must be funded
somehow if it is undertaken by the Council on behalf
of the developer. The cost is unlikely to be covered
through development contributions which are mainly
intended to fund planned upgrades that serve a
larger area and usually multiple developments.
Development contributions are not a suitable tool for
funding localised upgrades that are required only for
a specific site or development because the cost is
spread over all developments within a catchment
area. This could create a funding shortfall.
Permitted developments of up to 3 dwellings on a
site could avoid the provision of reserves
contributions if they chose not to subdivide.

Description
Off-site three waters and roading services
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adjustment to
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contributions
are applied.

•

•

•

07 April 2022

Provide the ability to impose financial contributions
to fund the cost of external works where those works
are needed for a specific development. This does not
apply for developments that aren’t subdivisions at
present.
This obligation on developers would be to meet the
full cost of this work without any expectation that
Council fund any part of the work, and therefore
discount the financial contribution.
This financial contribution would be imposed only if
needed for a specific development and site.

Reserves contribution
•

•

Provide the ability to apply a reserve financial
contribution obligation per dwelling on residential
developments that are not subdivisions.
This would ensure reserve financial contributions
apply to all developments and sites.

Benefits
•

•
•

Provides a reactive response to unplanned
infrastructure improvements to compliment the
planned infrastructure approach that is funded via
development contributions.
Enables reserves financial contributions to be charged
for developments that are not a subdivision
Creates consistency by ensuring reserve financial
contributions apply to all residential developments,
regardless of whether subdivision is undertaken.

Costs
•

This has the potential to increase costs on developers.
Hutt City’s current policies and District Plan
provisions have encouraged high levels of
development. Additional provisions may discourage
some development. However, the changes would
ensure that costs on developers are more consistently
applied.

Next steps
•
•

•

Incorporate feedback from community engagement
Develop guidance policy to outline how the Council
determines its level of contribution (if any) to
unplanned off-site infrastructure works.
Develop policy amendments to determine the level of
reserve contribution for permitted residential
developments and when they are required.
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Option 3 Benefits
Increase scope
• As described for option 2 above.
to include
• Provides an opportunity to enhance local amenity
option 2 and
that is lost through more intensive development. This
new
could result in outcomes such as safer streets, more
provisions to
street trees, or enhanced stormwater management.
mitigate
effects on
• These financial contributions would only be imposed
streetscape
on a development if it creates an effect that needs to
and/or
be managed.
environmental
Costs
offsetting.
•
•

This has the potential to increase costs on developers,
which may discourage some development.
Additional scoping is required to determine the
extent of this provision, including the development of
a policy for the amount and use of financial
contributions for streetscape or environmental
offsetting is required.

Next steps
•
•

•

Incorporate feedback from community engagement
Develop guidance policy to outline how the Council
determines its level of contribution (if any) to
unplanned off-site infrastructure works.
Develop an environmental offsetting financial
contributions policy to provide direction on the
purpose of the contribution, how the level of
contribution is determined, and when it is required.

22. Recommendation
Option 2 is recommended for the following reasons:
•

•

•
•

Option 1 has assisted residential development in the past and present,
however the increased intensity and scale of development anticipated
through the IPI will add additional strain on the infrastructure necessary
to support further growth.
Option 2 ensures that future residential development is required to make
a larger contribution to any upgrades required to service the development
that haven’t otherwise been accounted for through development
contributions policy. This is in line with the financial strategy principle of
growth pays for growth.
Option 2 also ensures residential development that is not subdivided
contributes to the development of the city’s reserves.
Option 3 provides the benefits of option 2 but also adds an environmental
offsetting contribution. While this could provide benefits to local
streetscape and amenity, further policies are required to determine how
and when these are charged and how these contributions would be used.
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This is likely to require a higher level of resourcing from the policy
planning team and may require additional input of consultants to achieve
within the IPI timeframe.
Climate Change Impact and Considerations
23. The matters addressed in this report have been considered in accordance
with the process set out in Council’s Climate Change Considerations Guide.
Engagement
24. Initial engagement on the IPI will take place in April 2022. This engagement
will include discussions with the community and other stakeholders on
financial contributions for the IPI and how the District Plan should respond
to this matter. In addition, the statutory plan change process for the IPI
provides for community input through the submission and hearing
processes.
Legal Considerations
25. The legal consideration for this report is Council’s legal requirement under
the RMA to prepare an IPI and process the IPI using the streamlined process
set-out in the RMA.
Financial Considerations
26. This report provides recommendations to ensure that unplanned
infrastructure costs expected to arise from the MDRS and NPS-UD policy 3
requirements are predominantly met by the those benefitting from the
expense in line with Council’s financial strategy principles. Without such
provisions, any infrastructure shortfall may need to be met through debt
funding and rates, which would result in additional rates increases.
27. The report’s recommended changes to reserves contributions would ensure
that new dwellings that aren’t subdivided from the existing lot are required
to contribute to the development of reserves that serve them.
Acknowledging that while most developers will undergo subdivision (where
this contribution would be incurred currently) the MDRS may encourage
more small scale infill development from landowners that choose not to
incur the costs of subdividing.
28. Revenue resulting from an additional development has potential to be
significant to Council’s ability to pay for the infrastructure costs resulting
from those additional developments.
29. Further work to understand additional infrastructure requirements and
associated costs resulting from growth to arise from MDRS and NPS-UD will
be undertaken by officers ahead of the next Long Term Plan.
30. The cost of the work associated with identifying and assessing financial
contributions will be able to be met through the existing budget.
Appendices
There are no appendices for this report.
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Policy, Finance and Strategy
Committee
28 March 2022

File: (22/593)

Report no: PFSC2022/2/70

New Zealand Local Government Funding
Agency - draft Statement of Intent 2022-2025
and half year performance results

Purpose of Report
1.

The purpose of this report is to provide a review of the draft 2022-2023
Statement of Intent (SOI) for the Local Government Funding Agency (LGFA)
as delivered to Council for Council’s consideration. The half year
performance results from LGFA are also presented in this report.

Recommendations
That the Committee:
(1) notes and receives the contents of the Local Government Funding Agency
(LGFA) draft 2022-2023 Statement of Intent, covering the period up to
30 June 2025, attached as Appendix 2 to the report;
(2) notes that officers do not have any suggested changes to the draft Statement
of Intent; and
(3) notes and receives the LGFA half year report to 30 December 2021, attached
as Appendix 3 to the report.
Background
2.

The LGFA was incorporated on 1 December 2011 with the primary objective
of optimising the debt funding terms and conditions for participating local
authorities. This includes providing savings in annual interest costs, making
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longer-term borrowings available and enhancing the certainty of access to
debt markets.
3.

The LGFA meets the Local Government Act 2002 (LGA) definition of a
Council Controlled Organisation (CCO) and as a shareholder in a CCO,
Council must regularly undertake performance monitoring of that
organisation to evaluate its contribution to the achievement of Council’s
outcomes.

4.

As a CCO, the LGFA must deliver to its shareholders a draft SOI on or before
1 March each year. The LGFA Board must consider any comments from its
shareholders in relation to the draft SOI and deliver a final SOI to its
shareholders on or before 30 June.

5.

As a shareholder, Council is statutorily required to review the draft SOI and,
as soon as is practicable after receiving it to either agree to it or, if it does not
agree, to provide feedback with regard to any changes it wishes to be made.
Feedback can be provided either directly to the LGFA Board or through the
Shareholders Council before 1 May 2022.

6.

The Shareholders Council comprises five to ten appointees from council
shareholders and the Crown. As part of its role, it is required to make
recommendations to the shareholders in relation to the draft SOI.

7.

For shareholder councils, the LGFA is focused on:
a. delivering a strong financial performance;
b. monitoring asset quality;
c. enhancing their approach to treasury and risk management; and
d. ensuring it has an effective governance framework and capital structure
in place.

8.

For borrowing Councils, LGFA seeks to optimise funding terms and
conditions by achieving savings in borrowing costs, providing longer-dated
funding and providing certainty of access to markets.

Draft 2022-2025 SOI key points summary
9.

The cover letter from LGFA and draft SOI are attached as Appendices 1 and
2 to this report.
10. The draft SOI performance targets remain the same as the previous SOI, but
now also include targets relating to improving sustainability outcomes
within LGFA and assisting the sector in achieving sustainability and climate
change objectives.
11. The draft SOI contains the financial forecasts for LGFA for the three-year
period commencing 1 July 2022:
a) Profitability is forecast to remain strong with projections for Net
Operating Gain of $9.9 million, $11.7 million and $10 million for the next
three years. LGFA are cautious on placing too much emphasis on the
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three-year forecast given that over the next three years $5.3 billion of
LGFA Bonds and $5.7 billion of council loans mature.
b) LGFA forecasts for local government loans (short and long term)
outstanding as at June 2023 of $14.6 billion and $15.6 billion as at June
2024 are in line with the forecast in last year’s SOI, with a forecast of
$16.3 billion as at June 2025 in this draft SOI.
c) The Total Shareholder Equity of LGFA is estimated to be $117 million at
30 June 2023, $128 million at 30 June 2024, and $138 million at 30 June
2025.
12. The draft SOI was received by Council officers before the 1 March 2022
deadline. Officers do not have any suggested changes to the draft SOI.
LGFA half year report to 31 December 2021
13. CCOs are required to provide a six-monthly performance report to its
shareholders. The LGFA six monthly report is attached as Appendix 2 to this
report.
14. During the six-month period to 31 December 2021:
a. Standard & Poor’s reaffirmed the credit ratings for LGFA as ‘AAA’, the
same as the New Zealand Government, whilst Fitch reaffirmed their
credit rating for LGFA as ‘AA+.’
b. Total interest income for the six-month period of $185.89 million was a
2.4% decrease over the 2019/20 comparable period result of
$190.38 million, while net operating profit of $5.94 million for the sixmonth period was a 0.3% increase on the 2019/20 comparable period
result of $5.92 million.
c. Both interest income and net operating profit were slightly ahead of the
Statement of Intent (SOI) forecast. A prudent funding approach by
borrowing more, for a longer period than is being lent to councils, i.e. a
more conservative approach to balance sheet management, was adopted.
d. LGFA issued $2.1 billion in bonds over the past 6 months with
outstandings now totalling $15.9 billion.
e. LGFA launched Green, Social and Sustainable (GSS) lending to councils
and also approved the first CCO borrower.
f.

Over the past six months period since June 2021, Southland District and
Otago Regional Councils joined as guarantors and Invercargill City
Holdings Limited joined as the first CCO. Total membership is now 74
out of the 78 councils in New Zealand.

15. Council borrowing from the LGFA increased by $60 million over the sixmonth period from $201.2 million at 30 June 2021 to $261.4 million as at
31 December 2022 (includes accrued interest). This borrowing is to enable
repayment of debt maturing and to fund the capital investment programme
underway which was approved by Council in the Long-Term Plan 20212031.
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16. LGFA Borrowings include those on behalf of Council’s CCOs, and all
borrowings are in accordance with approved limits contained in Council’s
Treasury Risk Management Policy.
Consultation
17. Public consultation is not required.
Legal Considerations
18. The LGFA Board must consider any comments on the draft SOI that are
made within two months of 1 March by its shareholders or the Shareholders
Council. The LGFA Board must deliver a completed SOI to its shareholders
on or before 30 June 2022.
19. Within two months of the end of the first half of each financial year, the
board of a CCO must deliver to the shareholders a report on the
organisation’s operations during that half year. The LGFA half year report
for the six months ending 31 December 2021 was provided to Council
officers within the statutory deadline.
Financial Considerations
20. There are no further financial considerations apart from those noted in the
report.

Climate Change Impact and Considerations
21. The matters addressed in this report have been considered in accordance
with the process set out in Council’s Climate Change Considerations Guide.
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Dear Shareholder

Draft Statement of Intent 2022-25
Please find attached a copy of the Draft Statement of Intent (SOI) for the 2022/23 year and two
subsequent years. A copy is also available for download on our website www.lgfa.co.nz.
LGFA continues to focus on delivering strong results for both our council borrowers and
shareholders.
For our borrowing councils we seek to optimize funding terms and conditions by
• Achieving savings in borrowing costs
• Provide longer dated funding and
• Provide certainty of access to markets
For our shareholders we are focused on
• Delivering a strong financial performance
• Monitoring asset quality
• Enhancing our approach to treasury and risk management and
• Ensuring we have the correct governance framework and capital structure in place
For our guarantors we are focused on
• Minimising the risk of a call upon the guarantee through actively monitoring and managing
the business risks faced by LGFA including operational, credit, liquidity, interest rate and
funding risk.
The following points regarding the Draft SOI 2022-25 are worth noting:
•

Profitability is forecast to remain strong with projections for Net Operating Gain of $9.9
million, $11.7 million, and $10.0 million for the next three years. We are cautious in placing
too much emphasis on the Year Three (2024/25) forecast given that over the next three
years, we estimate that $5.3 billion of our LGFA bonds and $5.7 billion of council loans
mature.

•

Our council members based their borrowing projections in their 2021-31 Long Term Plans on
the assumption that the Three Water reforms were not progressing and we therefore have
made the same assumption in our forecasts. Our council borrowing and LGFA bond issuance
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forecasts in the 2023/24 and 2024/25 financial years may change depending upon whether
the reforms proceed and how councils change their borrowing behaviour in response to
those reforms. We estimate that we could have between $4 billion and $5 billion of Three
Waters related loans by 1 July 2024.
•

Our forecasts for council loans (short and long term) outstanding as at June 2023 of $14.6
billion and $15.6 billion as at June 2024 are in line with the forecast in last year’s SOI.

•

Compared to the prior year SOI, Net Interest Income is forecast to be $200k lower in the
2022/23 financial year and $300k higher in the 2023/24 financial year. A positive impact on
Net Interest Income from higher interest rates is offset by the expectation of tighter lending
margins.

•

Compared to the prior year SOI, issuance and operating expenses, excluding Approved Issuer
Levy are forecast to be approximately $400k higher in the 2022/23 financial year and $500k
higher in the 2023/24 financial year. This is due to higher costs associated with our increased
focus on Sustainability, higher personnel costs and expected costs relating to Three Waters
Reform.

•

The SOI performance targets are the same as the targets in the prior year SOI except we have
included targets relating to improving sustainability outcomes within LGFA and assisting the
sector in achieving sustainability and climate change objectives.

•

As noted above, there is some timing uncertainty within the SOI forecast relating to council
loans and LGFA bonds outstanding as we need to project both the repayment amount and
repayment timing of the council loans that are due to mature in April 2023, April 2024 and
April 2025. Decisions made by our council members regarding early refinancing will have a
phasing impact across all three years in the SOI forecast.

If you have any questions or wish to provide comments by 1 May 2022 then please feel free to
contact myself or any member of the Shareholders’ Council. The LGFA board will consider any
feedback received and provide a final version of the SOI to shareholders by 30 June 2022.

Yours sincerely

Mark Butcher
Chief Executive
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New Zealand Local
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Te Pūtea Kāwanatanga ā-rohe

Statement of Intent
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1. Introduction
This Statement of Intent (SOI) sets out the nature and scope of the activities, objectives and performance targets for
the New Zealand Local Government Funding Agency Limited (LGFA) for the three-year period 1 July 2022 to 30 June 2025.
LGFA is enabled under the Local Government Borrowing Act 2011 and is a council-controlled organisation (CCO) for the
purposes of the Local Government Act 2002.
The SOI is prepared in accordance with section 64(1) of the Local Government Act 2002.

2. Nature and scope of activities
LGFA raises debt funding for the purpose of providing debt financing to New Zealand local authorities and CCOs
(participating borrowers).
LGFA may raise debt funding either domestically and/or offshore in either NZ dollars or foreign currency.
LGFA only lends to participating borrowers that have entered into required relevant legal and operational
arrangements and comply with the LGFA’s lending policies.
In addition, LGFA may undertake any other activities considered by the LGFA Board to be reasonably related,
incidentally to, or in connection with, that business.

3. Our purpose Ta tatou kaupapa
Benefiting local communities through delivering efficient financing for
local government.
Ka whiwhi painga ngā hapori mā te whakarato pūtea tōtika ki ngā kaunihera.

4. Our values Ō mātau uara
We act with
integrity
E pono ana
mātau

We are honest,
transparent and are
committed to doing
what is best for our
customers and our
company

We are
customer
focused
E arotahi ana
mātau ki te
kiritaki
Our customers
are our council
borrowers, investors,
and all other
organisations that
we deal with. We
listen to them and
act in their best
interests to deliver
results that make a
positive difference

We strive for
excellence

We provide
leadership

We are
innovative

E whakapau
kaha mātau kia
hiranga te mahi

He kaiārahi
mātau

He auaha
mātau

We strive to excel
by delivering
financial products
and services that
are highly valued
at least cost while
seeking continuous
improvement in
everything we do.

We are here for
our stakeholders in
being strategically
minded, providing
resilience and
executing our
strategy. We
embrace a highperformance culture
and can be relied
upon to deliver
results.

To meet our everchanging customer
requirements, we
will encourage
innovation and
provide a diverse
range of financial
products and
services.
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5. Foundation objectives
The Shareholders’ Agreement is a foundation document and states that, in accordance with the Local Government
Act, in carrying on its business the objectives of the Company will be to:
(a) 	achieve the objectives of the Shareholders (both commercial and non-commercial) as specified in the Statement of
Intent. The Shareholders agree that the Company shall carry on its business with a view to making a profit sufficient
to pay a dividend in accordance with the Dividend Policy, but that the primary objective of the Shareholders with
respect to the Company is that it optimises the terms and conditions of the debt funding it provides to Participating
Local Authorities;
(b) 	be a good employer;
(c) 	exhibit a sense of social and environmental responsibility by having regard to the interests of the community in
which it operates and by endeavouring to accommodate or encourage these when able to do so; and
(d) 	conduct its affairs in accordance with sound business practice.
This Statement of Intent sets out the company’s strategic priorities, together with associated objectives and
performance targets, which align with the foundation objectives and have been agreed with shareholders.

6. Strategic priorities
The following five strategic priorities encompass the foundation objectives and guide the LGFA Board and
management in determining our strategy, objectives and associated performance targets.

Governance, capability and business practice
LGFA is committed demonstrating best practice corporate governance underpinned by sound business practice
to ensure its long-term sustainability and success.

Optimising financing services for local government
LGFA’s primary objective is to optimise the terms and conditions of the debt funding it provides to participating
borrowers. Amongst other things, LGFA will achieve this by delivering operational best practice and efficiency across
our lending products and services.

Environmental and social responsibility
LGFA recognises the risks inherent in climate change for councils and supports New Zealand’s shift to a low-carbon
economy. LGFA will exhibit a sense of social and environmental responsibility by having regard to the interests of the
community in which it operates and by endeavouring to accommodate or encourage these when able to do so.

Effective management of loans
LGFA will ensure its loan book remains at a high standard by ensuring it understands each participating borrower’s
financial position and managing assets within an appropriate risk management framework to ensure shareholder
value is not compromised.

Industry leadership and engagement
LGFA will take a proactive role to enhance the financial strength and depth of the local government debt market
and will work with key central government and local government stakeholders on sector issues.

7. Objectives and performance targets
This section sets out LGFA’s objectives and performance targets for SOI 2022-2025.
The financial performance targets are focused on the 2022-2023 year and, as applicable, are based on the financial
forecasts outlined in section 8.
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Governance, capability and business practice
Objectives

How we measure our performance

LGFA will:
Demonstrate best practice
corporate governance.

The Annual Report outlines our compliance with the eight core principles
underpinning the NZX Corporate Governance Best Practice Code.

Set and model high standards
of ethical behaviour.

LGFA has adopted a formal Code of Ethics, incorporating its Conflicts of
Interest and Code of Conduct policies, which sets out the standards and
values that directors and employees are expected to follow.

Achieve the shareholder-agreed
objectives and performance targets
specified in this Statement of Intent.

LGFA reports performance against objectives quarterly to shareholders
and in our Annual Report.

Ensure products and services offered
to participating borrowers are
delivered in a cost-effective manner.

LGFA prepares annual operating budgets and monitors progress against
these monthly. Financial performance is reported quarterly to shareholders
and in our Annual Report.

Be a good employer by providing
safe working conditions, training and
development and equal opportunities
for staff.

The Annual Report reports on our health and safety and wellbeing practices
and policies, including Covid-related safety processes, compliance with the
Health and Safety at Work Act, diversity and inclusion and capability and
development.

Performance targets

2022-2023 target

Comply with the Shareholder Foundation Polices and the Board-approved Treasury Policy
at all times.

No breaches

Maintain LGFA’s credit rating equal to the New Zealand Government sovereign rating
where both entities are rated by the same Rating Agency.

LGFA credit ratings
equivalent to NZ
Sovereign.

LGFA’s total operating income for the period to 30 June 2023.

> $18.3 million

LGFA’s total operating expenses for the period to 30 June 2023.

< $8.3 million

Optimising financing services for local government
Objectives

How we measure our performance

LGFA will:
Provide interest cost savings relative
to alternative sources of financing.

Measure LGFA issuance spreads against other high grade issuers in the
New Zealand domestic capital markets.

Offer flexible short and long-term
lending products that meet the
borrowing requirements for borrowers.

Measure LGFA’s share of overall council borrowing.

Deliver operational best practice and
efficiency for lending services.

Monitor settlements errors for new trades and cashflows.

Ensure certainty of access to debt
markets, subject always to operating
in accordance with sound business
practice.

Maintain a vibrant primary and secondary market in LGFA bonds. Monitor
participation by investors at our tenders through bid-coverage ratios
and successful issuance yield ranges.

Survey participating borrowers on an annual basis.

Survey participating borrowers on an annual basis.
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Performance targets

2022-2023 target

Share of aggregate long-term debt funding to the Local Government sector.

> 80%

Total lending to Participating Borrowers.

> $14,558 million

Conduct an annual survey of Participating Borrowers who borrow from LGFA as to the
value added by LGFA to the borrowing activities.

> 85% satisfaction score

Successfully refinance existing loans to councils and LGFA bond maturities as they fall
due.

100%

Meet all lending requests from Participating Borrowers, where those requests meet LGFA
operational and covenant requirements.

100%

Environmental and social responsibility
Objectives

How we measure our performance

LGFA will:
Assist the local government sector
in achieving their sustainability and
climate change objectives.

LGFA is committed to assist borrowers financing of projects that promote
environmental and social wellbeing in New Zealand. Green, Social & Sustainability
(GSS) loan applications from councils are appraised by the LGFA Sustainability
Committee, with approved loans monitored for ongoing compliance.

Improve sustainability outcomes
within LGFA.

LGFA is committed to reducing our carbon emissions and formalised
processes to measure our greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions, as well as
management plans to reduce our company’s emissions.

Performance targets

2022-2023 target

Comply with the Health and Safety at Work Act 2015

No breaches

Maintain Toitū Carbon Zero certification

Carbon-zero
certification maintained.

Meet reduction targets outlined in our carbon reduction management plan.

Reduction targets met.

Increase our GSS lending book

Two new participating
borrowers enter into GSS
loans.

Ensure Annual Report is prepared in compliance with applicable GRI Standards.

100%

Meet all mandatory climate reporting standards.

100%

Effective management of loans
Objectives

How we measure our performance

LGFA will:
Proactively monitor and review each
Participating Borrower’s financial
position, including its financial
headroom under LGFA policies.
Analyse finances at the Council group
level where appropriate and report to
shareholders.
Endeavour to meet each participating
borrower annually, including meeting
with elected officials as required, or if
requested.

LGFA reviews all participating councils and CCOs financial statements on
an annual basis and the agendas and management reports on an ongoing
basis for all councils on the LGFA borrower watch-list.
Participating borrowers are required to complete annual compliance
certificates by the end of November each year.

Number of participating borrowers visited in a year.
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Performance targets

2022-2023 target

Review each Participating Borrower’s financial position, its headroom under LGFA policies.

100%

Arrange to meet each Participating Borrower at least annually, including meeting with
elected officials as required, or if requested.

100%

7. Industry leadership and engagement
Objectives

How we measure our performance

LGFA will:
Take a proactive role to enhance the financial strength
and depth of the local government debt market and
work with key central government and local government
stakeholders on sector and individual council issues.

Report on actions undertaken and progress made on
sector issues.

Assist the local government sector with significant
matters such as COVID -19 response and the proposed
Three Waters Reform Programme.
Support councils and CCOs in the development of
reporting disclosures of the impacts of sector activity on
climate change.

8. Financial forecasts
LGFA’s financial forecasts for the three years to 30 June 2025 are:

Comprehensive income $m
Net Interest income
Other operating income
Total operating income

Jun 23

Jun 24

Jun 25

16.8

18.4

17.2

1.5

1.5

1.5

18.3

19.9

18.7

Approved Issuer Levy

0.8

0.3

0.3

Issuance & onlending costs

2.9

3.0

3.1

Operating overhead

4.7

4.9

5.2

Issuance and operating expenses

8.4

8.3

8.6

Net profit

9.9

11.7

10.0

Jun 23

Jun 24

Jun 25

1,912

2,033

2,230

14,558

15,567

16,270

-

-

-

Total assets

16,470

17,599

18,500

Bonds on issue (ex Treasury stock)

15,335

16,407

17,258

Bills on issue

500

500

500

Borrower notes

303

339

369

Financial position (nominals) $m
Liquid assets portfolio
Loans to local government
Other assets

Other liabilities

-

-

-

Total liabilities

16,138

17,246

18,127

Capital

25

25

25

Retained earnings

92

103

113

Shareholder equity

117

128

138
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Ratios

Jun 23

Jun 24

Jun 25

Liquid assets/funding liabilities

12.2%

12.1%

12.7%

Liquid assets / total assets

11.6%

11.6%

12.1%

Net interest margin

0.12%

0.12%

0.11%

Cost to income ratio

45.9%

41.5%

46.3%

Return on average assets

0.06%

0.07%

0.05%

Shareholder equity/total assets

0.7%

0.7%

0.7%

Shareholder equity + BN/total assets

2.5%

2.7%

2.7%

Asset growth

6.5%

6.9%

5.1%

Loan growth

8.5%

6.9%

4.5%

Return on equity

9.3%

10.0%

7.8%

Capital ratio

12.7%

13.3%

13.7%

Note there is a level of uncertainty regarding the June 2024 and June 2025 financial years forecasts due to the
uncertainty relating to the Three Waters Reform and the impact on councils.
Councils prepared their 2021-31 Long Term Plans (and borrowing forecasts) on the assumption that Three Water Reform
was not progressing and we have made the same assumption with our forecasts. LGFA projects it could have between
$4 to $5 billion of loans to councils in June 2024 that are related to Three Waters. There have been no decisions made to
date regarding the transfer of assets and liabilities from councils to the proposed Three Water entities.

9. Dividend policy
LGFA primary objective is to maximise benefits to participating borrowers rather than shareholders. Consequently,
it is intended to pay a limited dividend to shareholders.
The Board’s policy is to pay a dividend that provides an annual rate of return to shareholders equal to LGFA fixed rate
bond cost of funds plus 2.00% over the medium term.
At all times payment of any dividend will be discretionary and subject to the Board’s legal obligations and views
on appropriate capital structure.

10. Governance
Board
The Board is responsible for the strategic direction and control of LGFA’s activities. The Board guides and monitors the
business and affairs of LGFA, in accordance with the Companies Act 1993, the Local Government Act 2002, the Local
Government Borrowing Act 2011, the Company’s Constitution, the Shareholders’ Agreement for LGFA and this SOI.
The Board comprises six directors with five being independent directors and one being a non-independent director.
The Board’s approach to governance is to adopt best practice with respect to:
•	The operation of the Board.
• The performance of the Board.
• Managing the relationship with the Company’s Chief Executive.
• Being accountable to all Shareholders.
All directors are required to comply with a formal Charter.
The Board will meet on a regular basis and no fewer than six times each year.

Shareholders’ Council
The Shareholders’ Council is made up of between five and ten appointees of the Shareholders (including an appointee
from the Crown). The role of the Shareholders’ Council is to:
Review the performance of LGFA and the Board, and report to Shareholders on that performance on a periodic basis.
•	
•	Make recommendations to Shareholders as to the appointment, removal, replacement and remuneration
of directors.
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•	Make recommendations to Shareholders as to any changes to policies, or the SOI, requiring their approval.
Ensure all Shareholders are fully informed on LGFA matters and to coordinate Shareholders on governance decisions.
•	

11. Information to be provided to Shareholders
The Board aims to ensure that Shareholders are informed of all major developments affecting LGFA’s state of affairs,
while at the same time recognising both LGFA’s obligations under NZX Listing Rules and that commercial sensitivity
may preclude certain information from being made public.

Annual Report
The LGFA’s balance date is 30 June.
By 30 September each year, the Company will produce an Annual Report complying with Sections 67, 68 and 69 of the
Local Government Act 2002, the Companies Act 1993 and Financial Reporting Act 2013. The Annual Report will contain
the information necessary to enable an informed assessment of the operations of the company, and will include
the following information:
•	Directors’ Report.
Financial Statements incorporating a Statement of Financial Performance, Statement of Movements in Equity,
•	
Statement of Financial Position, Statement of Cashflows, Statement of Accounting Policies and Notes to the Accounts.
•	Comparison of the LGFA’s performance regarding the objectives and performance targets set out in the SOI,
with an explanation of any material variances.
•	Auditor’s Report on the financial statements and the performance targets.
•	Any other information that the directors consider appropriate.

Half Yearly Report
By 28 February each year, the Company will produce a Half Yearly Report complying with Section 66 of the Local
Government Act 2002. The Half Yearly Report will include the following information:
•	Directors’ commentary on operations for the relevant six-month period.
•	Un-audited half-yearly Financial Statements incorporating a Statement of Financial Performance, Statement
of Movements in Equity, Statement of Financial Position and Statement of Cashflows.

Quarterly Report
By 31 January, 30 April, 31 July, and 31 October each year, the Company will produce a Quarterly Report.
The Quarterly Report will include the following information:
•	Commentary on operations for the relevant quarter, including a summary of borrowing margins charged
to Participating Borrower’s (in credit rating bands).
•	Comparison of LGFA’s performance regarding the objectives and performance targets set out in the SOI,
with an explanation of any material variances.
•	Analysis of the weighted average maturity of LGFA bonds outstanding.
•	In the December Quarterly Report only, commentary on the Net Debt/Total Revenue percentage for each
Participating Local Authority that has borrowed from LGFA (as at the end of the preceding financial year).
•	To the extent known by LGFA, details of all events of review in respect of any Participating Borrower that occurred
during the relevant quarter (including steps taken, or proposed to be taken, by LGFA in relation thereto).
•	Details of any lending to CCOs during the quarter and the amount of CCO loans outstanding.
•	Commentary on sustainability initiatives.

Statement of Intent
By 1 March in each year the Company will deliver to the Shareholders its draft SOI for the following year in the form
required by Clause 9(1) of Schedule 8 and Section 64(1) of the Local Government Act 2002.
Having considered any comments from the Shareholders received by 30 April, the Board will deliver the completed SOI
to the Shareholders on or before 30 June each year.
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Shareholder Meetings
The Board will hold an Annual General Meeting between 30 September and 30 November each year to present the
Annual Report to all Shareholders.
The Company will hold a meeting with the Shareholders’ Council approximately every six months – prior to the Annual
General Meeting and after the Half Yearly Report has been submitted. Other meetings may be held by agreement
between the Board and the Shareholders’ Council.

12. Acquisition/divestment policy
LGFA will invest in securities in the ordinary course of business. It is expected that these securities will be debt securities.
These investments will be governed by LGFA’s lending and/or investment policies as approved by the Board and/or
Shareholders.
Any subscription, purchase or acquisition by LGFA of shares in a company or organisation will, if not within those
investment policies, require Shareholder approval other than as concerns the formation of wholly-owned subsidiaries
and the subscription of shares in such wholly-owned subsidiaries.

13. Activities for which compensation is sought from Shareholders
At the request of Shareholders, LGFA may (at its discretion) undertake activities that are not consistent with its normal
commercial objectives. Specific financial arrangements will be entered into to meet the full cost of providing such
activities.
Currently there are no activities for which compensation will be sought from Shareholders.

14. Commercial value of Shareholder’s investment
LGFA will seek to maximise benefits to Participating Local Authorities as Borrowers rather than Shareholders.
Subject to the Board’s views on the appropriate capital structure for LGFA, the Board’s intention will be to pay a
dividend that provides an annual rate of return to Principal Shareholders equal to LGFA fixed rate bond cost of funds
plus 2.00% over the medium term.
As the Shareholders will have invested in the LGFA on the basis of this limited dividend, the Board considered that at
establishment the commercial value of LGFA was equal to the face value of the Shareholders’ paid up Principal Shares
- $25 million.
In the absence of any subsequent share transfers to the observed share transfers on 30 November 2012, the Board
considers the current commercial value of LGFA is at least equal to the face value of the Shareholders’ paid up
Principal Shares of $25 million. This equates to a value per share of $1.00.

15. Accounting policies
LGFA has adopted accounting policies that are in accordance with the New Zealand International Financial Reporting
Standards and generally accepted accounting practice. A Statement of accounting policies is attached to this SOI.

Statement of Intent // 2022 – 2025 // Draft

DEM15-4-2 - 22/593 - New Zealand Local Government Funding Agency - draft Statement of Intent
2022-2025 and half year performance results

09

Page 127

Attachment 2

Appendix 2: LGFA Draft 2022-2025 Statement of Intent

Statement of accounting policies
1. Reporting entity
The New Zealand Local Government Funding Agency Limited (LGFA) is a company registered under the Companies Act
1993 and is subject to the requirements of the Local Government Act 2002.
LGFA is a council-controlled organisation as defined under section 6 of the Local Government Act 2002. LGFA is a limited
liability company incorporated and domiciled in New Zealand.
The primary objective of LGFA is to optimise the debt funding terms and conditions for participating borrowers.
The registered address of LGFA is Level 8, City Chambers, 142 Featherston Street, Wellington Central, Wellington 6011.
The financial statements are as at and for the year ended 30 June 2021.
These financial statements were authorised for issue by the Directors on 30 August 2021.

2. Statement of compliance
LGFA is an FMC reporting entity under the Financial Markets Conduct Act 2013 (FMCA). These financial statements have
been prepared in accordance with that Act and the Financial Reporting Act 2013. LGFA’s bonds are quoted on the NZX
Debt Market.
LGFA is a profit orientated entity as defined under the New Zealand Equivalents to International Financial Reporting
Standards (NZ IFRS).
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with New Zealand Generally Accepted Accounting
Practice (NZ GAAP) and they comply with NZ IFRS and other applicable Financial Reporting Standard, as appropriate
for Tier 1 for-profit entities. The financial statements also comply with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).

3. Basis of preparation
Measurement base
The financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis modified by the revaluation of certain assets
and liabilities.
The financial statements are prepared on an accrual basis.
Functional and presentation currency
The financial statements are presented in New Zealand dollars rounded to the nearest thousand, unless separately
identified. The functional currency of LGFA is New Zealand dollars.
Foreign currency conversions
Transactions denominated in foreign currency are translated into New Zealand dollars using exchange rates applied
on the trade date of the transaction.
Changes in accounting policies
LGFA does not consider any standards or interpretations on issue but not yet effective to have a significant impact on
its financial statements.
Financial instruments
Financial assets
Financial assets, other than derivatives, are recognised initially at fair value plus transaction costs and subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand; cash in transit and bank accounts and deposits with an original
maturity of no more than three months.
Purchases and sales of all financial assets are accounted for at trade date.
At each balance date, an expected credit loss assessment is performed for all financial assets and is calculated as
either:
•	Credit losses that may arise from default events that are possible within the next 12 months, where no significant
increase in credit risk has arisen since acquisition of the asset, or
•	Credit losses that may arise from default events that are possible over the expected life of the financial asset, where
a significant increase in credit risk has arisen since acquisition of the asset.
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Impairment losses on financial assets will ordinarily be recognised on initial recognition as a 12-month expected loss
allowance and move to a lifetime expected loss allowance if there is a significant deterioration in credit risk since
acquisition.
Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities, other than derivatives, are recognised initially at fair value less transaction costs and subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.
Derivatives
Derivative financial instruments are recognised both initially and subsequently at fair value. They are reported as either
assets or liabilities depending on whether the derivative is in a net gain or net loss position respectively.
Fair value hedge
Where a derivative qualifies as a hedge of the exposure to changes in fair value of an asset or liability (fair value
hedge) any gain or loss on the derivative is recognised in profit and loss together with any changes in the fair value of
the hedged asset or liability.
The carrying amount of the hedged item is adjusted by the fair value gain or loss on the hedged item in respect of the
risk being hedged. Effective parts of the hedge are recognised in the same area of profit and loss as the hedged item.
Other assets
Property, plant and equipment
Items of property, plant and equipment are initially recorded at cost.
Depreciation is charged on a straight-line basis at rates calculated to allocate the cost or valuation of an item of
property, plant and equipment, less any estimated residual value, over its remaining useful life.
Intangible assets
Intangible assets comprise software and project costs incurred for the implementation of the treasury management
system. Capitalised computer software costs are amortised on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the
software (three to seven years). Costs associated with maintaining computer software are recognised as expenses.
Other liabilities
Employee entitlements
Employee entitlements to salaries and wages, annual leave and other similar benefits are recognised in the profit and
loss when they accrue to employees.
Revenue
Interest income
Interest income is accrued using the effective interest rate method.
The effective interest rate exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial
asset to that asset’s net carrying amount. The method applies this rate to the principal outstanding to determine
interest income each period.
Expenses
Expenses are recognised in the period to which they relate.
Interest expense
Interest expense is accrued using the effective interest rate method.
The effective interest rate exactly discounts estimated future cash payments through the expected life of the financial
liability to that liability’s net carrying amount. The method applies this rate to the principal outstanding to determine
interest expense each period.
Income tax
LGFA is exempt from income tax under Section 14 of the Local Government Borrowing Act 2011.
Goods and services tax
All items in the financial statements are presented exclusive of goods and service tax (GST), except for receivables
and payables, which are presented on a GST-inclusive basis. Where GST is not recoverable as input tax, then it is
recognised as part of the related asset or expense.
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The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the IRD is included as part of receivables or payables in the
statement of financial position.
The net GST paid to, or received from the IRD, including the GST relating to investing and financing activities, is
classified as a net operating cash flow in the statement of cash flows.
Commitments and contingencies are disclosed exclusive of GST.
Segment reporting
LGFA operates in one segment being funding of participating borrowers in New Zealand.
Judgements and estimations
The preparation of these financial statements requires judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the
application of policies and reported amounts. For example, the fair value of financial instruments depends critically on
judgements regarding future cash flows, including inflation assumptions and the risk-free discount rate.
The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and various other factors that
are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results may differ from these estimates and these
estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Where these judgements significantly affect
the amounts recognised in the financial statements they are described in the following notes.
The financial statements as at 30 June 2021 include estimates and judgements of the potential impact of COVID-19 and
the Three Waters Reform Programme on LGFA’s financial position and performance. Whilst there has been no material
impact on the estimates and judgements at the date these financial statements are authorised, it is noted that there is
significant uncertainty with regards to the medium and long-term effects of COVID-19, as well as the outcome of Three
Waters Reform Programme on the local government sector.
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HALF YEAR REPORT

31 December 2021

Benefiting
communities through
delivering efficient
financing for local
government.
Ka whiwhi painga ngā
hapori mā te whakarato
pūtea tōtika ki ngā
kaunihera.

LGFA

New Zealand Local
Government Funding Agency
Te Pūtea Kāwanatanga ā-rohe

DEM15-4-2 - 22/593 - New Zealand Local Government Funding Agency - draft Statement of Intent
2022-2025 and half year performance results

Page 131

Attachment 3

Appendix 3: LGFA Half Year Report to 31 December 2021

Planting day at Tōtara Reserve with Awahou school.
Horizons Regional Council

02 LGFA Half Year Report 2021
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Message from the Chair
and Chief Executive
He karere mai i te Toihau
me te Tumuaki

For the six-months ended 31 December 2021
The six-month period to December was another strong period for LGFA in delivering value to
council members and our investor base while meeting our financial targets. A key highlight
was our first Green, Social and Sustainable loans to councils as part of our focus on
fostering sustainability across the local government sector.
We are pleased to record another period of positive
performance by the company for the six-month
period to 31 December 2021 and to highlight the
following developments.

Strong Financial and Operational
Performance
LGFA’s total interest income for the six-month period
of $185.89 million was a 2.4% decrease over the
2019-20 comparable period result of $190.38 million,
while net operating profit of $5.94 million for the
six-month period was a 0.3% increase on the 2019-20
comparable period result of $5.92 million.
Both net interest income and operating profit were
slightly ahead of the Statement of Intent (SOI)
forecast. We are adopting a prudent approach
to our funding by borrowing a greater amount
than we are lending to councils and for a longer
term. This is having a modest drag on profitability
despite the growth in the balance sheet but is a
more conservative approach to balance sheet
management.

Expenses have been managed below the SOI
budget over the past six months. Lower fees paid
due to a reduced limit of the New Zealand Debt
Management committed credit facility and
lower travel and accommodation costs relative
to forecast were positive contributions. These
savings were offset by higher legal and NZX costs
associated with increased council lending and
LGFA bond issuance.
LGFA bonds are an attractive investment for
investors while delivering savings in borrowing
costs for members. Over the last six months, we
have launched Green, Social and Sustainable (GSS)
lending to councils and approved our first CouncilControlled Organisation (CCO) borrower.
The financial strength of LGFA was reaffirmed
by Fitch Ratings who maintained our domestic
currency credit rating at ‘AA+’ in October 2021 while
our ‘AAA’ rating from S&P Global Ratings remains the
same as the New Zealand Government.
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Borrowing activity
LGFA is the largest issuer of New Zealand dollar
(NZD) securities after the New Zealand Government
and our bonds are amongst the largest and most
liquid NZD debt instruments available for investors.
It is pleasing to note increased activity in the
secondary market in our bonds.
LGFA issued $2.06 billion of bonds over the past six
months and outstandings now total $15.94 billion
(including $1.20 billion of treasury stock) across 12
maturities from 2022 to 2037. The average term of
our bond issuance during the six-month period
at 7.7 years was longer than the prior year period.
The debut of new May 2028 and May 2035 bond
maturities by syndication helped fill in the gaps
between our existing bonds and provided investors
with more investment opportunities. It also reduced
our mismatch exposure between bond issuance
and council lending.
It is also pleasing to observe the increased
participation by offshore investors over the past
six months as NZD-denominated investments have
become relatively more attractive for investors as
the Reserve Bank commenced monetary policy
tightening. We estimate that offshore investors hold
29.7% of LGFA bonds on issue compared to 21.6% a
year ago. Domestic institutional and retail investors
hold 32.4%, domestic banks hold 26.7% and the
Reserve Bank holds 11.3%.
The performance of LGFA bonds over the past six
months has been mixed with LGFA bond spreads
to New Zealand Government Bonds moving wider
while LGFA bond spreads to swap have tightened
slightly, except in the very long end of the curve.
Outright yields rose between 53 basis points (bps)
(2037 maturity) and 127 bps (2024 maturity) over the
six-month period.

Lending to the sector
LGFA was established in December 2011 to provide
long-dated borrowing, certainty of access to
markets and to reduce the borrowing costs
for the local government sector. The original 31
shareholders including the Crown remain as
shareholders. Over the past six months, we added
two councils and our first CCO as members, with
Southland District and Otago Regional Councils
joining as guarantors and Invercargill City Holdings
Ltd joining as our first CCO. Total membership is
now 74 out of the 78 councils in New Zealand.
Long-dated lending to council and CCO members
over the six-month period was $1.64 billion provided
to 46 councils as they refinanced their April 2022
loans and increased their borrowing to finance
infrastructure projects. Our estimated market share
of total council borrowing of 79% was slightly lower

than forecast but remained high on an historical
basis. The average tenor of long-dated borrowing
by councils of 5.8 years over the six-month period
was in line with prior periods.
Short-dated lending for terms less than 12 months
continues to be supported by councils and as at 31
December 2021, LGFA had $382 million of short-term
loans outstanding to 31 council and CCO members.

The impact from COVID-19 and Three
Waters Reform Program on the sector
and LGFA
The local government sector continues to face
unprecedented and uncertain change having to
deal with climate-related events, COVID-19, the
Central Government-led initiatives relating to the
Three Waters Reform Programme and Future for
Local Government Review.
LGFA is assisting on an as required basis, both
Central Government and our council members
as they work through the Three Waters Reform
Programme as required. The Government’s
proposed Three Water Reform Programme would be
the largest change to the local authority sector in
30 years.
LGFA is also assisting the local government sector
led initiative in developing a Ratepayer Financing
Scheme that may provide some financial relief to
ratepayers.

New products and initiatives
We undertook our first loan to a CCO in July 2021
and are looking to approve our second CCO
member in the next six months.
We launched our GSS lending product in October
2021 and are pleased to have made our first GSS
loans to Wellington City and Greater Wellington
Regional Councils in December 2021.

Increasing focus on sustainability
Sustainability plays an important part within the
local government sector and at LGFA. We have
undertaken several initiatives over the past year,
including:
•	
Appointment of a Head of Sustainability.
•	
Establishment of a Sustainability Committee
that advises the LGFA Board and management
team on sustainability issues.
•	
Achievement of CarbonZero certification from
Toitū Envirocare and we have committed to
reducing our carbon emissions.
•	
Launched our GSS lending product that offers a
lower borrowing margin for councils with eligible
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projects. We have pre-approved borrowing for
eligible projects of $407 million and have made
loans to date of $43 million.

Acknowledgments
LGFA’s work cannot be implemented without
the support of our staff, directors, shareholders
and members, New Zealand Debt Management
(NZDM), the Reserve Bank and central and
local government, all whose efforts should be
acknowledged. We also would like to acknowledge
the support of financial institutions, intermediaries
and investors. We believe LGFA’s future remains
positive and look forward to working with all
stakeholders in the next six months.

Craig Stobo
Chair

Mark Butcher
Chief Executive
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Wetlands in Queen
Elizabeth Park, Kāpiti Coast.
Greater Wellington Regional Council
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Performance
against objectives
Ko ngāwhakatutukitanga
ki ngā whāinga

The statement of service performance details LGFA’s performance for the first half of the
year against the objectives and targets set out in the LGFA Statement of Intent 2021-22 (SOI)

2021-22 Performance objectives
The SOI sets out two primary performance objectives and eight additional objectives for the year ended
30 June 2022.

Primary objectives
LGFA will optimise the debt funding terms and
conditions for Participating Borrowers. Among
other things, this includes:
•	Providing interest cost savings relative to
alternative sources of financing;
•	Offering flexible short and long-term lending
products that meet Participating Borrowers’
borrowing requirements;
•	Delivering operational best practice and
efficiency for its lending services;
•	Ensuring certainty of access to debt markets,
subject always to operating in accordance
with sound business practice.

LGFA will ensure its asset book remains at a
high standard by ensuring it understands each
Participating Borrower’s financial position, as well
as general issues confronting the local government
sector. Amongst other things, LGFA will:
•	Proactively monitor and review each
Participating Borrower’s financial position,
including its financial headroom under LGFA
policies;
•	Analyse finances at the Council group level
where appropriate and report to shareholders;
•	
Endeavour to meet each Participating Borrower
annually, including meeting with elected
officials as required, or if requested; and
•	
Take a proactive role to enhance the financial
strength and depth of the local government
debt market and work with key central
government and local government stakeholders
on sector and individual council issues.

8
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Additional objectives
4.	Meet or exceed the Performance Targets.

LGFA has the following eight measurable
and achievable additional objectives which
complement the primary objectives. Performance
against these objectives is reported annually.

5.	Comply with the Health and Safety at Work Act
2015.
6.	Comply with the Shareholder Foundation
Policies and the Board-approved Treasury
Policy at all times.

LGFA will:
1.	Maintain LGFA’s credit rating equal to the New
Zealand Government sovereign rating where
both entities are rated by the same Rating
Agency.

7.	Assist the local government sector with
significant matters such as COVID -19 response
and the proposed Three Waters Reform
Programme.

2.	Provide at least 80% of aggregate long-term
debt funding to the local government sector1.
3.	
Achieve the financial forecasts for net interest
income and operating expenses, including
provision for a shareholder dividend payment in
accordance with the approved dividend policy.

8.	Improve sustainability outcomes within LGFA
and assist the local government sector in
achieving their sustainability and climate
change objectives.

Performance against primary objectives
Providing interest cost savings relative to
alternative sources of financing

This section sets out LGFA’s performance for the
six months ended 31 December 2021 against the
two primary objectives set out in the SOI.

LGFA continues to borrow at very competitive
spreads compared to the AAA rated Sovereign,
Supranational and Agencies (SSA) issuers who borrow
in the New Zealand debt capital markets, the domestic
banks and Kainga Ora, our closest peer issuer.

LGFA will optimise the debt funding terms and
conditions for Participating Borrowers. Among
other things, this includes:

Secondary market spread to swap (basis points)
2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029 2030 2031 2033 2035 2037
LGFA (AAA)

(4)

Kainga Ora (AAA)

(1)

(1)

5

3

10

13

23

11

16

25

Asian Development Bank (AAA)

1

2

7

13

23

IADB (AAA)

0

1

10

15

27

International Finance Corp

1

5

10

14

KBN (AAA)

3

8

14

Rentenbank (AAA)

0

1

6

12

World Bank (AAA)

2

1

1

Nordic Investment Bank (AAA)

1

ANZ (AA-)

25

BNZ (AA-)

17

Westpac Bank (AA-)

11

23

8

25

28

31

33

42

51

59

47
33

18
39

12

18

23

18

24

33

10
31
39

55

40

43

53

SSA Average

1

1

4

10

14

Bank Average

11

22

36

41

54

31

36

33

1. This includes Auckland Council borrowing both in its own name and through LGFA and recognising that the amount
of borrowing by Auckland Council from LGFA is restricted by the Foundation Policy covenants.
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In the 2021 stakeholder survey, our members
responded with a 99% satisfaction rating for LGFA
in adding value to their borrowing requirements.
Offering flexible short and long-term lending
products that meet Participating Borrowers’
borrowing requirements;
Both short and long-term borrowing have been
well supported by member councils and CCOs:
•	
Over the six months ended 31 December 2021,
46 members (45 councils, 1 CCO) borrowed $1.64
million in 125 new long-term loans, across 46
maturity dates ranging between 2022 and 2036.
•	As at 31 December 2021 there were $382 million
of short-term loans outstanding to 31 members
(30 councils, 1 CCO) with loan terms ranging
between one month and 12 months.
•	As at 31 December 2021, nine councils had
entered into Standby facilities with LGFA
totalling $522 million.
Delivering operational best practice and
efficiency for its lending services;
Over the six months, LGFA operations successfully
settled 833 new trades and 5,600 cash flows
totalling in excess of $31 billion.
In the 2021 stakeholder survey, our members
responded with a 96% satisfaction rating for the
LGFA settlement process.
Ensuring certainty of access to debt markets,
subject always to operating in accordance with
sound business practice.
For LGFA to provide certainty of access to markets
for our borrowers, we need to have a vibrant primary
and secondary market in LGFA bonds. The primary
market is the new issuance market, and we measure
strength through participation by investors at our
tenders through bid-coverage ratios and successful
issuance yield ranges. The secondary market is the
trading of LGFA bonds following issuance and a high
turnover implies a healthy market.
Activity in LGFA bonds in both the primary market
(tender or syndicated issuance) and secondary
market (between banks and investors) during
the six month period remained at high levels,
with primary issuance totalling $2.055 billion
and secondary market turnover of $4.45 billion.
In addition, we successfully launched two new
bond maturities, May 2028 and May 2035, by
syndication, reducing the gap between existing
LGFA bond maturities.
LGFA maintains an Australian Medium-Term Notes
Programme which, to date, has not been used but
which provides LGFA with additional flexibility if
there is a market disrupting event in the future.
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LGFA will ensure its asset book remains at a
high standard by ensuring it understands each
Participating Borrower’s financial position, as well
as general issues confronting the local government
sector. Amongst other things, LGFA will:
Proactively monitor and review each Participating
Borrower’s financial position, including its
financial headroom under LGFA policies;
LGFA reviews all councils’ financial statements
on an annual basis and the agendas and
management reports on an ongoing basis for
councils on the LGFA borrower watch-list. This
year, we reviewed councils 2021-2031 Long-Term
Plans and liaised directly with councils’ where we
had issues or queries arising from these.
We have received compliance certificates from all
Participating Borrowers, and all remain compliant
as at 30 June 2021. There are 14 councils who, due to
COVID-19 delays in finalising the audit process, have
provided outcomes based on unaudited financial
statements. LGFA has reviewed these financial
statements and there were no issues of concern.
Analyse finances at the Council group level where
appropriate and report to shareholders;
No council has yet requested to be measured on a
group basis.
Endeavour to meet each Participating Borrower
annually, including meeting with elected officials
as required, or if requested;
Over the six months, LGFA met with 15 councils
which is lower than planned due to COVID-19
travel restrictions over the period. Travel
permitting, we aim to increase visits in the first
half of 2022, with virtual meetings replacing
in-person meetings as required.
Take a proactive role to enhance the financial
strength and depth of the local government debt
market and work with key central government
and local government stakeholders on sector and
individual council issues.
Over the six months, LGFA met with representatives
from Central Government on the proposed Three
Waters reforms and provided feedback regarding
financing of the proposed entities.
LGFA sponsored the Taituarā Funding and Rating
Forum and presented on ‘Financial Risks in the
Local Government Environment’ to a forum
of Council Audit and Risk Committee Chairs
organised by OAG.
LGFA continues to assist the sector and their
advisers in offering to provide support for
solutions to off-balance sheet financing for
councils. LGFA continues to provide technical
expertise to the proposed Ratepayer Financing
Scheme (RFS).
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Additional objectives
LGFA has the following eight measurable and
achievable additional objectives which complement
the primary objective. Performance against these
objectives is reported annually. LGFA will:
Maintain LGFA’s credit rating equal to the New
Zealand Government sovereign rating where both
entities are rated by the same Rating Agency.
On an annual basis, S&P Global Ratings and Fitch
Ratings meet with LGFA and review our credit
ratings.
•	
S&P Global Ratings upgraded our long-term
local currency credit rating to AAA and our
long-term foreign currency credit rating to AA+
on 22 February 2021. Both ratings are the same
as the New Zealand Government.
•	
Fitch Ratings affirmed both our local currency
credit rating of AA+ (stable) and foreign
currency credit rating of AA, positive outlook.
1 November 2021.
Provide at least 80% of aggregate long-term debt
funding to the local government sector 2.
LGFA’s estimated market share for the rolling
twelve-month period to 31 December 2021 was
79%3. Adjusted for Auckland Council borrowing,
this increases to 84%. This market share compares
to a historical average of 75% and remains high
compared to our global peers.
Achieve the financial forecasts for net interest
income and operating expenses, including
provision for a shareholder dividend payment in
accordance with the approved dividend policy.
The following table summaries income, expenses
and operating result for the six months ended 31
December 2021 against the financial forecasts
outlined in our 2021-2022 Statement of Intent.
$000s

Unaudited
result to 31
December
2021

Variance
to SOI
budget

9,178

+267

526

+26

Total operating income

9,704

+293

Operating expenses

3,769

+88

Net operating profit

5,935

+381

Net interest income
Other operating income

The Net interest income (NII) includes the
unrealised mark-to-market movement for fixed
rate swaps that are not designated effective
for hedge accounting purposes. These swaps
reduce exposure to fixed rate loans transacted
outside of the normal tender process and reduce
mismatches between borrowing and on-lending
terms on our balance sheet. The unrealised loss
increases as interest rates fall but turns to a profit
if interest rates rise. Due to a rise in interest rates
since June 2021, the year-to-date unrealised gain
was $1.03 million.
Operating expenses for the six-month period
were $88k below budget. This variance is the
consequence of:
•	Issuance and on-lending costs (excluding AIL)
at $1.308 million were $46k below budget. A
lower NZDM Liquidity Facility fee was offset by
higher legal expenses and NZX fees due to the
additional amount of bond issuance.
•	Operating costs at $2.135 million were $48k
below budget due to lower operating
overhead, travel and IT costs offset by higher
personnel costs relative to budget.
•	Approved Issuer Levy (AIL) payments of $325k
were in line with budget. We pay AIL on behalf
of offshore investors at the time of semiannual coupon payment for a small number of
LGFA bond maturities.
Meet or exceed the Performance Targets.
As at 31 December 2021, we forecast we are on
track to achieve eight out of the 10 performance
targets by 30 June 2022.
Comply with the Health and Safety at Work Act
2015.
LGFA has a Health and Safety Staff Committee
which is chaired by the Risk and Compliance
Manager and reports to the LGFA Board on a
regular basis. There were no Health and Safety
incidents during the six months.
Over the Covid lockdown period, Auckland and
Wellington based staff worked from home as
required and we have adopted safety protocols
to minimise risks to staff on returning to our
offices. All staff, directors and visitors are required
to hold a valid vaccine passport before entering
LGFA offices.

2. This includes Auckland Council borrowing both in its own name and through LGFA and recognising that the amount of
borrowing by Auckland Council from LGFA is restricted by the Foundation Policy covenants.
3. Source: PwC Local Government Debt Report
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Comply with the Shareholder Foundation Policies
and the Board-approved Treasury Policy at all
times.
There were no compliance breaches during the six
month period.
Assist the local government sector with
significant matters such as COVID -19 response
and the proposed Three Waters Reform
Programme.
Over the six months, LGFA:
•	Contributed expertise to the Ratepayer
Financing Scheme project that, if successful,
could offer temporary financial relief to
ratepayers via rates postponement.
•	Provided a Standby Facility product that
will provide greater certainty of access to
emergency funding for councils at a lower cost
than going to traditional bank providers. This
has been well supported by councils with $522
million of standbys written with nine councils.

Appendix 3: LGFA Half Year Report to 31 December 2021

•	Established a Sustainability Committee,
comprising:
•	Three LGFA staff members and
•	Four external members - Alison Howard,
Chris Thurston, David Woods and Erica
Miles.
•	Launched a GSS lending programme for
council and CCO members. Projects that meet
one of 16 green or social lending categories are
now eligible for a discounted loan margin. As
at December 2021, Wellington City (WCC) and
Greater Wellington Regional (GWRC) Councils
have borrowed under this programme
•	WCC financed the construction of ‘Takina’,
the Wellington Convention and Exhibition
Centre.
•	GWRC financed the flood protection work
on the RiverLink project in the Hutt Valley.

•	Outlined its views on the proposed Three
Waters Reform for the Shareholders Council
and this was distributed to all council
members.
Improve sustainability outcomes within LGFA
and assist the local government sector in
achieving their sustainability and climate change
objectives.
LGFA has:
•	Appointed a Head of Sustainability.
•	Achieved Carbon zero certification from Toitū
Envirocare.

The Waimakariri River has been the site of many
recent biodiversity projects and planting days.
Environment Canterbury
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Performance Targets
Performance measure

Result for the six month
period to 31 December 2021

LGFA net interest income for the period to June 2022 will be
greater than $19.1 million

$9.7m

Annual issuance and operating expenses (excluding AIL)
will be less than $7.2 million

$3.4m

Total nominal lending (short and long term) to
participating councils to be at least $13,294 million

$13.513 million

Conduct an annual survey of councils and achieve 85%
satisfaction score as to the value added by LGFA to council
borrowing activities

August 2021 survey outcome
of 99.2%

Meet all lending requests from PLAs

100%

Achieve 80% market share of all council borrowing in New
Zealand

79%

Review each Participating Borrower’s financial position, its
headroom under LGFA policies and arrange to meet each
Participating Borrower at least annually

Council meetings to total 74
over year. Financial position
and headroom review
completed.

No breaches of Treasury Policy, any regulatory or
legislative requirements including the Health and Safety at
Work Act 2015

No breaches

Successfully refinance of existing loans to councils and
LGFA bond maturities as they fall due

100%

Maintain a credit rating equal to the New Zealand
Government rating where both entities are rated by the
same credit rating entity

AA+/AAA

Outcome
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Financial statements
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Statement of comprehensive income
For the six months ended 31 December 2021 in $000s
Note

Unaudited six
months ended
31 December
2021

Unaudited six
months ended
31 December
2020

Interest income

185,886

190,375

Interest expense

176,709

180,523

Net interest income

4

9,178

9,852

Other operating income

5

526

5

9,704

9,857

3,769

3,938

Net operating profit

5,935

5,918

Total comprehensive income

5,935

5,918

Total operating income
Operating expenses

6

Statement of changes in equity
For the six months ended 31 December 2021 in $000s
Note

Share
capital

Retained
earnings

Total equity

25,000

58,616

83,616

Net operating profit

12,007

12,007

Total comprehensive income for the year

12,007

12,007

-

-

(879)

(879)

69,744

94,744

Net operating profit

5,935

5,935

Total comprehensive income for the half year

5,935

5,935

-

-

(857)

(857)

74,822

99,822

Equity as at 1 July 2020

Transactions with owners
Dividend paid on 4 September 2020
Equity as at 1 July 2021

25,000

Transactions with owners
Dividend paid on 3 September 2021
Unaudited closing balance as at 31 December 2021

17

25,000

These statements are to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements.
The Board of Directors of the New Zealand Local Government Funding Agency Limited authorised these
statements for issue on 28 February 2022.

Craig Stobo, Director
Board Chair

Linda Robertson, Director
Chair, Audit and Risk Committee
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Statement of financial position
As at 31 December 2021 in $000s
Note

Unaudited as at
31 December 2021

Audited as at
30 June 2021

42

43,587

374,236

391,835

1,385,022

768,453

Deposits

841,628

654,961

Derivatives in gain

246,072

559,635

13,513,127

12,065,668

1,002

683

218

345

16,361,346

14,485,167

25,000

25,000

68,887

69,744

5,935

-

99,822

94,744

Assets
Financial assets
Receivables
Cash and bank balances
Marketable securities

Loans

8

Non-financial assets
Prepayments
Other assets

9

Total assets
Equity
Share capital

16

Retained earnings
Total comprehensive income for the period
Total equity
Liabilities
Financial liabilities
Payables and provisions

10

93,014

40,900

Bills

11

534,258

609,624

Bond repurchases

12

225,850

110,220

415,046

187,098

Derivatives in loss
Bonds

13

14,732,861

13,217,759

Borrower notes

14

259,934

224,281

15

561

539

Total liabilities

16,261,524

14,390,422

Total equity and liabilities

16,361,346

14,485,167

Non-financial liabilities
Other liabilities
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Statement of cash flows
For the six months ended 31 December 2021 in $000s
Note

Unaudited six
months ended 31
December 2021

Unaudited six
months ended 31
December 2020

(1,427,636)

(1,420,594)

(215,363)

(212,221)

(1,591)

(1,149)

Interest paid on borrower notes

(212)

(137)

Interest paid on bond repurchases

(254)

(599)

76,952

77,156

1,031

377

Interest received from marketable securities

5,624

5,376

Interest received from deposits

2,206

2,978

136,753

139,963

526

-

(3,927)

(4,172)

(1,425,888)

(1,413,023)

Purchase of marketable securities

(594,958)

(27,701)

Purchase of deposits

(185,743)

(140,161)

-

-

(780,701)

(167,862)

2,096,802

2,026,534

(75,367)

(34,910)

Cash proceeds from bond repurchases

158,143

(165,546)

Cash proceeds from borrower notes

35,509

37,876

(857)

(878)

(25,240)

(124,161)

2,188,991

1,738,914

Net (decrease) / increase in cash

(17,599)

158,029

Cash, Cash Equivalents and at beginning of year

391,835

165,826

Cash and cash equivalents at end of half year

374,236

323,854

Cash Flow from Operating Activities
Cash applied to loans

8

Interest paid on bonds issued
Interest paid on bills issued

Interest received from loans
Interest received from cash & cash equivalents

Net interest on derivatives
Cash proceeds from provision of standby facilities
Payments to suppliers and employees
Net cash flow from operating activities

18

Cash flow from investing activities

Purchase of plant and equipment
Net cash flow from investing activities
Cash flow from financing activities
Cash proceeds from bonds issued
Cash proceeds from bills issued

Dividends paid
Cash applied to derivatives
Net cash flow from financing activities

13
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Notes to the financial
statements

Changes in accounting policies

1. Reporting entity

Early adoption standards and interpretations

The New Zealand Local Government Funding
Agency Limited (LGFA) is a company registered
under the Companies Act 1993 and is subject to the
requirements of the Local Government Act 2002.
LGFA is controlled by participating local
authorities and is a council-controlled
organisation as defined under section 6 of the
Local Government Act 2002. LGFA is a limited
liability company incorporated and domiciled in
New Zealand.
The primary objective of LGFA is to optimise
the debt funding terms and conditions for
participating borrowers.
The registered address of LGFA is Level 8, City
Chambers, 142 Featherston Street, Wellington
Central, Wellington 6011.
These financial statements were authorised for
issue by the Directors on 28 February 2022.

2. Statement of compliance
The interim financial statements are for the six
months ended 31 December 2021 and are to be
read in conjunction with the annual report for the
year ended 30 June 2021.
The financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with New Zealand Generally
Accepted Accounting Practice (NZ GAAP) and
in compliance with NZ IAS 34 Interim Financial
Reporting.

3. Basis of preparation
Measurement base
The financial statements have been prepared on
a historical cost basis modified by the revaluation
of certain assets and liabilities.
The financial statements are prepared on an
accrual basis.
Functional and presentation currency
The financial statements are presented in New
Zealand dollars rounded to the nearest thousand,
unless separately identified. The functional
currency of LGFA is New Zealand dollars.
Foreign currency conversions
Transactions denominated in foreign currency
are translated into New Zealand dollars using
exchange rates applied on the trade date of the
transaction.

There have been no changes to accounting
policies.

LGFA has not early adopted any standards.
Standards not yet adopted
LGFA does not consider any standards or
interpretations in issue but not yet effective
to have a significant impact on its financial
statements.
Financial instruments
Financial assets
Financial assets, other than derivatives, are
recognised initially at fair value plus transaction
costs and subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest rate method.
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand,
bank accounts and deposits with an original
maturity of no more than three months.
Purchases and sales of all financial assets are
accounted for at trade date.
At each balance date, an expected credit loss
assessment is performed for all financial assets
and is calculated as either:
•	Credit losses that may arise from default events
that are possible within the next 12 months,
where no significant increase in credit risk has
arisen since acquisition of the asset, or
•	Credit losses that may arise from default events
that are possible over the expected life of the
financial asset, where a significant increase in
credit risk has arisen since acquisition of the
asset.
Impairment losses on financial assets will
ordinarily be recognised on initial recognition as
a 12-month expected loss allowance and move
to a lifetime expected loss allowance if there
is a significant deterioration in credit risk since
acquisition.
Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities, other than derivatives, are
recognised initially at fair value less transaction
costs and subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest rate method.
Derivatives
Derivative financial instruments are recognised
both initially and subsequently at fair value.
They are reported as either assets or liabilities
depending on whether the derivative is in a net
gain or net loss position respectively.
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Fair value hedge

Interest expense

Where a derivative qualifies as a hedge of the
exposure to changes in fair value of an asset or
liability (fair value hedge) any gain or loss on the
derivative is recognised in profit and loss together
with any changes in the fair value of the hedged
asset or liability.

Interest expense is accrued using the effective
interest rate method.

The carrying amount of the hedged item is
adjusted by the fair value gain or loss on the
hedged item in respect of the risk being hedged.
Effective parts of the hedge are recognised in the
same area of profit and loss as the hedged item.
Other assets
Property, plant and equipment
Items of property, plant and equipment are
initially recorded at cost.
Depreciation is charged on a straight-line basis at
rates calculated to allocate the cost or valuation
of an item of property, plant and equipment, less
any estimated residual value, over its remaining
useful life.
Intangible assets
Intangible assets comprise software and project
costs incurred for the implementation of the
treasury management system. Capitalised
computer software costs are amortised on a
straight-line basis over the estimated useful
life of the software (three to seven years). Costs
associated with maintaining computer software
are recognised as expenses.

The effective interest rate exactly discounts
estimated future cash payments through the
expected life of the financial liability to that
liability’s net carrying amount. The method
applies this rate to the principal outstanding to
determine interest expense each period.
Income tax
LGFA is exempt from income tax under Section 14
of the Local Government Borrowing Act 2011.
Goods and services tax
All items in the financial statements are presented
exclusive of goods and service tax (GST),
except for receivables and payables, which are
presented on a GST-inclusive basis. Where GST is
not recoverable as input tax, then it is recognised
as part of the related asset or expense.
The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable
to, the IRD is included as part of receivables or
payables in the statement of financial position.
The net GST paid to, or received from the IRD,
including the GST relating to investing and
financing activities, is classified as a net operating
cash flow in the statement of cash flows.
Commitments and contingencies are disclosed
exclusive of GST.
Segment reporting

Other liabilities

LGFA operates in one segment being funding of
participating borrowers in New Zealand.

Employee entitlements

Judgements and estimations

Employee entitlements to salaries and wages,
annual leave and other similar benefits are
recognised in the profit and loss when they
accrue to employees.

The preparation of these financial statements
requires judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the application of policies and
reported amounts. For example, the fair value
of financial instruments depends critically on
judgements regarding future cash flows, including
inflation assumptions and the risk-free discount
rate.

Revenue
Interest income
Interest income is accrued using the effective
interest rate method.
The effective interest rate exactly discounts
estimated future cash receipts through the
expected life of the financial asset to that asset’s
net carrying amount. The method applies this rate
to the principal outstanding to determine interest
income each period.
Expenses
Expenses are recognised in the period to which
they relate.

The estimates and associated assumptions
are based on historical experience and various
other factors that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances. Actual results may
differ from these estimates and these estimates
and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an ongoing basis. Where these judgements
significantly affect the amounts recognised in the
financial statements they are described in the
following notes.
The financial statements as at 31 December
2021 include estimates and judgements of the
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potential impact of COVID-19 and the Three
Waters Reform Programme on LGFA’s financial
position and performance. Whilst there has
been no material impact on the estimates
and judgements at the date these financial
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statements are authorised, it is noted that there
is significant uncertainty with regards to the
medium and long-term effects of COVID-19, as
well as the outcome of Three Waters Reform
Programme on the local government sector.

Revenue and expenditure
4. Net interest income
in $000s

Unaudited six
months ended
31 December
2021

Unaudited six
months ended
31 December
2020

Cash and cash equivalents

1,036

385

Marketable securities

4,259

1,911

Deposits

3,129

3,493

Derivatives

90,015

107,810

Loans

87,447

76,776

-

-

185,886

190,375

1,591

1,149

319

325

5

9

173,439

177,963

1,355

1,077

176,709

180,523

9,178

9,852

Interest income

Fair value hedge ineffectiveness
Total interest income
Interest expense
Bills
Bond repurchase transactions
Lease liability
Bonds
Borrower notes
Total interest expense

Net interest income

5. Other operating income
As at 31 December 2021, LGFA had provided credit standby facilities totalling $522 million to selected
councils. As at balance date, there were no drawdowns outstanding under the facilities.
in $000s

Unaudited six
months ended
31 December
2021

Unaudited six
months ended
31 December
2020

Standby facilities fee income

526

5

Total other operating income

526

5
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6. Operating expenses
in $000s

Unaudited six
months ended
31 December
2021

Unaudited six
months ended
31 December
2020

Approved issuer levy

325

593

Rating agency fees

324

311

NZDMO facility fee

250

308

Legal fees - issuance

225

294

NZX

390

340

Trustee fees

51

50

Regulatory, registry, other fees

68

97

1,633

1,993

399

367

95

16

212

200

Insurance

43

42

Legal fees

51

95

136

159

55

54

-

-

1,145

1,012

2,135

1,945

3,769

3,938

Issuance and on-lending expenses

Other operating expenses
Information technology
Consultants
Directors fees

Other expenses
Auditors’ remuneration
Statutory audit
Advisory services
Personnel

Total operating expenses
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7. Hedge accounting
LGFA is exposed to interest rate risk from its borrowing, lending and investment activities and uses
interest rate swaps to manage this risk. For hedge accounting purposes, LGFA has designated these
swaps in fair value relationships to its fixed rate borrowings, loans and investments.
The following table shows the gain or loss on the hedging instrument and the hedged item attributable to
the hedged risk for fair value hedge relationships.
in $000s

Unaudited
gain/(loss)
for the six
months ended
31 December
2021

Unaudited
gain/(loss)
for the six
months ended
31 December
2020

Hedging instruments – interest rate swaps

520,010

635,001

Hedged items attributable to the hedged risk

(520,010)

(635,001)

-

-

Ineffectiveness recognised in profit or loss from fair value hedges

The gains or losses on the hedging instrument (interest rate swaps) and the hedged item (bonds,
loans and investments) are mapped to the same fair value account. For this reason, the statement of
comprehensive income will only report any ineffectiveness arising from the fair value hedge.
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8. Loans
in $000s

Ashburton District Council

Unaudited as at
31 December 2021
Short-term
Loans
loans

Audited as at
30 June 2021
Short-term
Loans
loans

10,021

60,757

10,011

60,723

-

3,381,550

-

3,303,915

25,477

161,153

25,428

155,995

-

20,007

-

20,005

4,008

62,189

4,003

59,133

Carterton District Council

4,013

12,752

-

-

Central Hawkes Bay District Council

2,011

20,108

-

20,107

Christchurch City Council

2,003

2,083,566

14,533

1,951,017

Clutha District Council

2,005

20,061

2,004

16,042

Far North District Council

-

71,810

-

51,702

Gisborne District Council

-

80,946

-

68,774

6,016

26,585

6,011

26,563

-

540,335

-

450,945

3,993

21,670

3,995

21,642

Hamilton City Council

-

591,533

-

481,019

Hastings District Council

-

228,619

-

205,357

Hauraki District Council

-

48,139

-

44,101

Hawkes Bay Regional Council

-

29,939

-

18,868

Horizons Regional Council

11,992

42,228

11,991

37,194

Horowhenua District Council

16,014

118,260

16,000

92,178

Hurunui District Council

8,018

30,081

8,002

30,062

Hutt City Council

-

261,416

-

201,225

Invercargill City Council

-

68,677

-

68,666

29,937

60,054

-

-

Kaikoura District Council

-

5,016

-

5,014

Kaipara District Council

-

44,132

-

44,088

Kapiti Coast District Council

-

250,572

-

230,366

11,546

74,153

11,522

72,681

30,243

87,179

30,226

73,136

Masterton District Council

-

56,650

-

48,609

Matamata-Piako District Council

-

30,097

-

26,567

Nelson City Council

-

105,255

-

90,146

New Plymouth District Council

-

181,117

-

169,999

Northland Regional Council

-

14,148

-

14,147

Opotiki District Council

-

8,590

-

8,600

Otorohanga District Council

-

-

-

-

Auckland Council
Bay of Plenty Regional Council
Buller District Council
Canterbury Regional Council

Gore District Council
Greater Wellington Regional Council
Grey District Council

Invercargill City Holdings Ltd

Manawatu District Council
Marlborough District Council
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Unaudited as at
31 December 2021
Short-term
Loans
loans 1

Audited as at
30 June 2021
Short-term
Loans
loans

Palmerston North City Council

-

177,476

-

152,314

Porirua City Council

-

156,927

-

141,794

50,113

210,612

25,030

130,333

-

3,020

-

3,020

Rotorua District Council

12,850

245,204

12,823

215,034

Ruapehu District Council

8,010

21,497

8,005

21,474

Selwyn District Council

-

65,180

-

60,129

South Taranaki District Council

-

95,284

-

95,210

South Waikato District Council

13,975

20,046

8,987

15,030

Southland District Council

Queenstown Lakes District Council
Rangitikei District Council

19,996

16,819

-

-

South Wairarapa District Council

-

24,526

-

24,520

Stratford District Council

-

22,273

-

22,271

1,993

8,528

4,999

-

Tararua District Council

-

46,135

-

44,100

Tasman District Council

Taranaki Regional Council

24,065

176,151

27,037

152,035

Taupo District Council

-

135,302

-

125,177

Tauranga City Council

-

657,330

-

516,688

Thames-Coromandel District Council

-

73,216

-

61,145

22,571

117,402

22,529

117,181

Timaru District Council
Upper Hutt City Council

2,999

74,225

-

65,153

Waikato District Council

4,983

90,277

-

80,189

Waikato Regional Council

-

32,098

-

32,082

Waimakariri District Council

-

170,642

-

170,506

24,533

105,282

8,000

90,123

-

8,042

-

8,041

Waipa District Council
Wairoa District Council
Waitaki District Council (WD)

2,497

17,542

2,498

12,523

7,011

24,052

4,003

30,045

-

1,009,389

-

792,505

2,003

6,611

2,001

6,610

Western Bay Of Plenty District Council

-

70,209

-

70,154

Westland District Council

-

24,880

-

21,858

Whakatane District Council

-

82,265

-

77,203

Whanganui District Council

7,513

100,362

7,507

94,289

Whangarei District Council

9,986

162,416

9,993

162,296

-

(19,835)

-

(1,091)

382,396

13,130,731

287,140

11,778,528

Waitomo District Council
Wellington City Council
West Coast Regional Council

Fair value hedge adjustment

1. As at 31 December 2021, $1,751 million of loans are due to mature within 12 months. This comprises all
short-term loans and $1,369 million of loans.
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9. Other assets
in $000s

Unaudited as
at 31 December
2021

Audited as at
30 June
2021

79

154

Right-of-use lease asset

139

190

Total other assets

218

345

Intangible assets1

1. Intangible assets comprise acquired and internally developed software costs incurred on the
implementation of LGFA’s treasury management system.

10. Payables and provisions
in $000s

Unaudited as
at 31 December
2021

Audited as at
30 June
2021

Loans to be advanced

68,000

40,000

Unsettled investments

24,000

-

Trade creditors

576

658

Credit provision

265

193

Other provisions

172

49

93,014

40,900

Total receivables

11. Bills
Unaudited as at
31 December 2021 in $000’s

Face value

Unamortised
premium

Accrued
interest

Total

12 January 2022

70,000

-

(10)

69,990

18 January 2022

55,000

-

(17)

54,983

3 February 2022

25,000

-

(18)

24,982

9 February 2022

80,000

-

(70)

79,930

1 March 2022

50,000

-

(72)

49,928

11 March 2022

70,000

-

(107)

69,893

15 March 2022

50,000

-

(88)

49,912

21 March 2022

27,000

-

(54)

26,946

7 April 2022

65,000

-

(142)

64,858

13 May 2022

43,000

-

(164)

42,836

535,000

-

(742)

534,258
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Face value

Unamortised
premium

Accrued
interest

Total

7 July 2021

20,000

-

(1)

19,999

15 July 2021

110,000

-

(13)

109,987

5 August 2021

25,000

-

(8)

24,992

11 August 2021

80,000

-

(29)

79,971

10 September 2021

75,000

-

(46)

74,954

17 September 2021

150,000

-

(95)

149,905

6 October 2021

20,000

-

(20)

19,980

14 October 2021

55,000

-

(57)

54,943

10 November 2021

50,000

-

(73)

49,927

8 December 2021

25,000

-

(34)

24,966

610,000

-

(376)

609,624

12. Treasury stock and bond repurchases
Periodically, LGFA subscribes for LGFA bonds as part of its tender process and holds these bonds as
treasury stock. LGFA bonds held by LGFA as treasury stock are derecognised at the time of issue and no
liability is recognised in the statement of financial position. As at 31 December 2021, $1,200 million of LFGA
bonds had been subscribed as treasury stock.
LGFA makes these treasury stock bonds available to banks authorised as its tender counterparties to
borrow under short-term repurchase transactions. The objective of the bond lending facility is to assist
with improving secondary market liquidity in LGFA bonds. Bonds lent to counterparties are disclosed as a
separate stock lending liability on the face of the statement of financial position.
As at 31 December 2021, bond repurchase transactions comprised:
in $000s

Unaudited as
at 31 December
2021

Audited as
at 30 June
2021

14 April 2022

15,163

-

15 April 2023

84,569

32,887

15 April 2024

10,033

-

15 April 2025

20,244

-

15 April 2026

3,826

-

15 April 2027

60,371

-

15 May 2028

4,852

-

20 April 2029

10,963

33,810

15 May 2031

9,505

-

14 April 2033

6,324

38,957

15 May 2035

-

-

15 April 2037

-

4,566

225,850

110,220
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13. Bonds
Bonds on issue do not include $1,200 million face value of issued LGFA bonds subscribed by LGFA and held
as treasury stock. Refer Note 12: Treasury stock and bond repurchase transactions.
Unaudited as at
31 December 2021
in $000’s

Face Value

Unamortised
premium

Accrued
interest

Fair value
hedge
adjustment

Total

14 April 2022

1,605,000

5,592

9,579

15 April 2023

1,750,000

38,281

20,625

15 April 2024

1,648,000

14,928

7,946

15 April 2025

1,619,000

(13,109)

9,541

15 April 2026

1,390,000

3,296

4,468

15 April 2027

1,631,000

90,026

15,728

15 May 2028

700,000

(5,440)

2,045

20 April 2029

1,272,000

(13,369)

3,826

15 May 2031

730,000

(4,336)

2,133

14 April 2033

1,260,000

46,048

9,571

15 May 2035

400,000

2,234

1,558

15 April 2037

730,000

(13,169)

3,129

14,735,000

150,984

90,148

(373,638)

14,602,493

130,000

(20)

388

-

130,368

14,865,000

150,964

90,536

(373,638)

14,732,861

Face Value

Unamortised
premium

Accrued
interest

Fair value
hedge
adjustment

Total

14 April 2022

1,605,000

15,527

9,406

15 April 2023

1,660,000

46,296

19,208

15 April 2024

1,528,000

17,466

7,233

15 April 2025

1,469,000

(20,190)

8,499

15 April 2026

1,240,000

6,911

3,913

15 April 2027

1,486,000

82,140

14,068

20 April 2029

1,172,000

(10,512)

3,458

15 May 2031

650,000

(4,966)

1,868

14 April 2033

1,170,000

37,817

8,727

15 April 2037

700,000

(8,443)

2,945

12,680,000

162,045

79,326

166,138

13,087,509

130,000

(33)

283

-

130,250

12,810,000

162,012

79,610

166,138

13,217,759

Fixed interest bonds

Total fixed interest
Floating rate notes
14 October 2022
Total
Audited as at
30 June 2021
in $000’s
Fixed interest bonds

Total fixed interest
Floating rate notes
14 October 2022
Total
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14. Borrower notes
Borrower notes are subordinated debt instruments which are required to be held by each local authority
that borrows from LGFA in an amount equal to a fixed percentage of the aggregate borrowings by that
local authority. The fixed percentage is 2.5% for loans issued from 1 July 2020. Prior to this date, the fixed
percentage was 1.6%.
LGFA may convert borrower notes into redeemable shares if it has made calls for all unpaid capital to be
paid in full and the LGFA Board determines it is still at risk of imminent default.

15. Other liabilities
in $000s

Unaudited as
at 31 December
2021

Audited as
at 30 June
2020

Lease liability

139

190

Accruals

422

349

Total receivables

561

539

Capital and dividends
16. Share capital
As at 31 December 2021, LGFA had 45 million ordinary shares on issue, 20 million of which remain uncalled.
All ordinary shares rank equally with one vote attached to each ordinary share. Ordinary shares have a
face value of $1 per share.

28 LGFA Half Year Report 2021 Financial Statements

DEM15-4-2 - 22/593 - New Zealand Local Government Funding Agency - draft Statement of Intent
2022-2025 and half year performance results

Page 158

Attachment 3

Appendix 3: LGFA Half Year Report to 31 December 2021

17. Shareholder information
Registered holders of equity securities
New Zealand Government

As at 31 December 2021

As at 30 June 2021

5,000,000

11.1%

5,000,000

11.1%

Auckland Council

3,731,960

8.3%

3,731,960

8.3%

Christchurch City Council

3,731,960

8.3%

3,731,960

8.3%

Hamilton City Council

3,731,960

8.3%

3,731,960

8.3%

Bay of Plenty Regional Council

3,731,958

8.3%

3,731,958

8.3%

Greater Wellington Regional Council

3,731,958

8.3%

3,731,958

8.3%

Tasman District Council

3,731,958

8.3%

3,731,958

8.3%

Tauranga City Council

3,731,958

8.3%

3,731,958

8.3%

Wellington City Council

3,731,958

8.3%

3,731,958

8.3%

Western Bay of Plenty District Council

3,731,958

8.3%

3,731,958

8.3%

Whangarei District Council

1,492,784

3.3%

1,492,784

3.3%

Hastings District Council

746,392

1.7%

746,392

1.7%

400,000

0.9%

400,000

0.9%

373,196

0.8%

373,196

0.8%

Gisborne District Council

200,000

0.4%

200,000

0.4%

Hauraki District Council

200,000

0.4%

200,000

0.4%

Horowhenua District Council

200,000

0.4%

200,000

0.4%

Hutt City Council

200,000

0.4%

200,000

0.4%

Kapiti Coast District Council

200,000

0.4%

200,000

0.4%

Manawatu District Council

200,000

0.4%

200,000

0.4%

Masterton District Council

200,000

0.4%

200,000

0.4%

New Plymouth District Council

200,000

0.4%

200,000

0.4%

Otorohanga District Council

200,000

0.4%

200,000

0.4%

Palmerston North City Council

200,000

0.4%

200,000

0.4%

South Taranaki District Council

200,000

0.4%

200,000

0.4%

Taupo District Council

200,000

0.4%

200,000

0.4%

Thames - Coromandel District Council

200,000

0.4%

200,000

0.4%

Waimakariri District Council

200,000

0.4%

200,000

0.4%

Waipa District Council

200,000

0.4%

200,000

0.4%

Whakatane District Council

200,000

0.4%

200,000

0.4%

Whanganui District Council

200,000

0.4%

200,000

0.4%

45,000,000

100%

45,000,000

100%

Marlborough District Council
Selwyn District Council
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Other Notes
18. Reconciliation of net profit to net cash flow from operating activities
in $000s

Net profit/(loss) for the period
Cash applied to loans

Unaudited six
months ended
31 December
2021

Unaudited six
months ended
31 December
2020

5,935

5,918

(1,427,636)

(1,420,594)

(3,955)

1,937

13

149

(319)

(321)

73

(113)

(1,425,888)

(1,413,023)

Non-cash adjustments
Amortisation and depreciation
Working capital movements
Net change in trade debtors and receivables
Net change in prepayments
Net change in accruals
Net Cash From Operating Activities

19. Related parties
Identity of related parties
LGFA is related to the local authorities set out in
the Shareholder Information in note 16.
LGFA operates under an annual Statement
of Intent that sets out the intentions and
expectations for LGFA’s operations and lending to
participating borrowers.
Shareholding local authorities, and nonshareholder local authorities who borrow
more than $20 million, are required to enter
into a guarantee when they join or participate
in LGFA. The guarantee is in respect of the
payment obligations of other guaranteeing local
authorities to the LGFA (cross guarantee) and of
the LGFA itself.

Related party transactions
LGFA was established for the purpose of raising
funds from the market to lend to participating
borrowers. The lending to individual councils
is disclosed in note 8, and interest income
recognised on this lending is shown in the
statement of comprehensive income.
The purchase of LGFA borrower notes by
participating borrowers. Refer note 14.
The Treasury (New Zealand Debt Management)
provides LGFA with a committed credit facility and
is LGFA’s derivatives counterparty.
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Directory
Rārangi tauwaea
Postal address

Main Phone

P.O. Box 5704
Lambton Quay
Wellington 6145

+64 4 974 6530
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ua

y

St

hou
s
sto
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Bra
nd
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Cu

t

C us
tom
sS

tE
Emil
yP

Auckland
Gor
e St

l

Ln

Gor
e St

Level 5
Walker Wayland Centre
53 Fort Street
Auckland 1010

Cu

142 Featherston Street

eQ
ua
y
sto
mh
ou
se
Q

St

Joh
nst
on

rst
on

Level 8
City Chambers
142 Featherston Street
Wellington 6011
(entrance on Johnston Street)

Wa
rin
gT
ay
lo

the

Registered office

firstname.lastname@lgfa.co.nz

Fea

Wellington

Staff E-Mail Addresses

Lam
bto
nQ
bto
uay
nQ
uay

Monday through Friday,
09.00-17.00 hrs
Except Public Holidays

lgfa@lgfa.co.nz

Lam

Office Hours

General Enquiries

Fort St

53 Fort Street

LGFA Half Year Report 2021

DEM15-4-2 - 22/593 - New Zealand Local Government Funding Agency - draft Statement of Intent
2022-2025 and half year performance results

31

Page 161

Attachment 3

Appendix 3: LGFA Half Year Report to 31 December 2021

LGFA

New Zealand Local
Government Funding Agency
Te Pūtea Kāwanatanga ā-rohe

lgfa.co.nz
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Policy, Finance and Strategy
Committee
26 March 2022

File: (22/752)

Report no: PFSC2022/2/72

Rates Remission on Māori Land Policy 2022
Purpose of Report
1.

To inform the Policy, Finance and Strategy Committee of the process that has
been used to create the proposed Policy for Remission and Postponement of
Rates on Māori Freehold Land (the proposed policy), the legislative
requirements and the rationale for the proposed expansion of the scope of
this proposed policy to enable the Committee to make an informed decision
regarding approving this proposed policy for public consultation.

Recommendations
That the Committee:
(1) notes that under section 108 of the Local Government Act 2002 Council is
required to have a policy on the remission and postponement of rates on
Māori freehold land;
(2) notes that The Local Government (Rating of Whenua Māori) Amendment
Act 2021 imposes additional requirements on councils in relation to Māori
freehold land;
(3) notes officers recommendation to align the draft policy to Greater
Wellington Regional Council, which extends rates remissions to include
Māori land that is collectively owned;
(4) agrees to consult on the proposed Rates Remission on Māori Land Policy
(the policy) attached as Appendix 1 to the report, in accordance with the
requirements of the Local Government Act 2002; and
(5) agrees that the Chief Executive be delegated authority to make minor
changes to the proposed policy if required prior to consultation.
For the reasons that the proposed policy reflects the legislative requirements
under The Local Government (Rating of Whenua Māori) Amendment Act 2021,
the views of our Mana Whenua partners, kaitiaki of Māori freehold land and
aligns with Greater Wellington Regional Council’s proposed policy to ensure
consistency across Te Awa Kairangi ki Tai.
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The proposed policy reflects the intent of the legislation and uses the opportunity
provided by the new legislation to support our Māori whanau by removing
barriers that may stand in the way of them achieving their ambitions for their
whenua.
Background
2.

Under section 108 of the Local Government Act 2002 Council is required to
have a policy on the remission and postponement of rates on Māori freehold
land.

3.

The Local Government (Rating of Whenua Māori) Amendment Act 2021 (the
Act) imposes additional requirements on councils in relation to Māori
freehold land. This Act is part of the Government’s wider commitment to
supporting whānau and regional development through whenua.

4.

The changes to the rating of Māori freehold land are now in effect and the
review of the proposed policy must be completed by July 2022. In order to
meet this deadline, while allowing for consultation with Mana Whenua and
kaitiaki of Māori land and the general public, the final policy will be
considered by Council in early June 2022.[]

5.

The majority of land that is identified as Māori freehold land in Te Awa
Kairangi ki Tai is currently already considered non-rateable.

Discussion
6. Following discussions with Greater Wellington Regional Council (GWRC),
officers propose to align our policy to GWRC’s policy for regional
consistency.
7.

Following consultation with both GWRC and our Mana Whenua Partners,
the most significant addition to what is required under the legislation is that
officers propose to extend this policy from only applying to Māori Freehold
Land to also include certain land in Māori ownership that is not Māori
Freehold land.

8.

The eligibility, criteria and conditions for this whenua are outlined on the
draft proposed policy. This proposed change reflects that there are situations
in Te Awa Kairangi ki Tai where land is in general title, owned by Māori and
has similar characteristics to Māori freehold land, or where rates relief would
help achieve the intentions of the legislation.

9.

It is the view of officers that the proposed extension to this policy enables
Council to use the opportunity provided by this new legislation to support
our Māori whānau by removing barriers that may stand in the way of them
achieving their ambitions for their whenua.

Options
10. Approve the Proposed Rates Remission on Māori Land Policy with the
expanded scope to go out for public consultation.
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11. Amend the scope of the Proposed Rates Remission on Māori Land Policy
and approve it to go out for public consultation.
Climate Change Impact and Considerations
12. The matters addressed in this report have been considered in accordance
with the process set out in Council’s Climate Change Considerations Guide.
Consultation
13. Officers wrote to all kaitiaki of Māori freehold land ahead of drafting this
policy. This letter was to inform them about the legislation change, the
development of a policy and it extended an invitation to provide input
throughout this process. A copy of this letter can be seen in Appendix 2
attached to this report. As a result, a number of Mana Whenua members
have participated in ongoing discussions with officers about the
development of this proposed policy.
14. The proposed policy was discussed with all four Mana Whenua groups at
regular quarterly hui. A copy of the draft proposed policy was shared and
was positively received.
15. Officers have worked closely with GWRC to align our proposed policy with
theirs to enable regional consistency across Te Awa Kairangi ki Tai.
16. Once a proposed draft policy was ready this was sent to all kaitiaki of Māori
freehold land as well as our Mana Whenua partners along with a letter
explaining the proposed policy, the rationale for the proposed decisions and
inviting feedback on what we have proposed. A copy of this letter can be
seen in Appendix 3 attached to the report. Following this consultation, we
have made amendments to the proposed policy in recognition of the
feedback we received.
17. Once this proposed draft policy has been approved by the Committee it will
be opened for public consultation (using the special consultative procedure
under the Local Government Act). This will give the general public the
opportunity to view the proposed policy and make submissions on it.
Legal Considerations
18. The legislative changes under The Local Government (Rating of Whenua
Māori) Amendment Act 2021 specifies changes all councils must make to
their Māori Freehold Land policies. This includes the need to have a Rates
Remission on Māori Land Policy and dictates much of what this proposed
policy is required to include. The Act specifies changes that all Councils
must make to their Māori Freehold Land policies in regard to:
a.

Completely unused land becoming non-rateable

b.

The ability to write off arrears

c.

Rates remission for Māori freehold land under development

d.

Ngā Whenua Rāhui kawenata land to be made non-rateable

e.

Treating multiple blocks as one
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Rating individual homeowners separately.

19. This proposed policy has been reviewed and approved by Council’s Legal
Counsel and aligns with changes made by GWRC following their external
legal review of their policy.
Financial Considerations
20. The majority of land that is identified as Māori freehold land in Te Awa
Kairangi ki Tai is currently considered non-rateable and therefore the
proposed policy will have minimal financial implications.
21. Officers recommend extending the scope of the rates remission to include
Māori land in collective ownership. The parcels of land that meet these
criteria are expected to be small, and therefore the financial implications are
expected to be small.
22. Officers expect there will not be a large uptake following adoption of the
new policy. There have been no applications under the existing policy for a
number of years. It is expected that as awareness of the change in policy
increases, it may align with the aspirations of whānau to lead development
of and/or acquire new whenua over time.
Appendices
No.

Title

Page

1⇩

Appendix 1: Rates Remission on Maori Freehold Land Policy

168

2⇩

Appendix 2: Letter sent to Māori freehold land owners Nov 2021

173

3⇩

Appendix 3: Letter and Draft Policy sent to Mana Whenua and
Maori Freehold Land owners March 2022

178
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Date created

Month 2011

Publication date

Month 2011

Review period

Month 2011

Owner

Kiri Waldegrave

Approved by

Head of Strategy and Planning (Acting)

Version

Author

Date

Description

V 1.0

Name

DD/MM/YYYY

Approved by Council.

V 2.0

Name

DD/MM/YYYY

Reviewed.

Page 1 of 5

DEM15-4-2 - 22/752 - Rates Remission on Māori Land Policy 2022

Page 168

Attachment 1

Appendix 1: Rates Remission on Maori Freehold Land Policy
Rates Remission on Māori Land Policy

CONTENTS
1.

Introduction..................................................................................................................................... 3

2.

Purpose ........................................................................................................................................... 3

3.

Objectives ....................................................................................................................................... 3

4.

Eligibility, Criteria and Conditions ............................................................................................... 3

5.

Criteria ............................................................................................................................................. 4

6.

Conditions ....................................................................................................................................... 5

7.

Decisions......................................................................................................................................... 5

APRIL 2022

DEM15-4-2 - 22/752 - Rates Remission on Māori Land Policy 2022

Page 2 of 5

Page 169

Attachment 1

Appendix 1: Rates Remission on Maori Freehold Land Policy
Rates Remission on Māori Land Policy

1.

INTRODUCTION
Hutt City Council must adopt a policy on the remission and postponement of rates on Māori freehold
land. Hutt City Council has also elected to consider applications for remission of rates on certain land
in Māori ownership which is not Māori freehold land.
Hutt City Council has incorporated the principles of the preamble to Te Ture Whenua Māori Act 1993
and the matters identified in schedule 11 of the Local Government Act 2002 in making this policy,
including deciding to consider applications for remission of rates on general land collectively owned by
Māori in the circumstances set out in this policy. This policy is made under sections 102, 108 and 109
of the Local Government Act which reflects that the policy applies both to Māori freehold land and to
general land collectively owned by Māori.
Hutt City Council has determined that this policy does not offer postponement of rates as it is
inconsistent with the intent of this policy to support the retention of Māori land and reduce rates debts.
In the interests of increasing subregional collaboration, this policy aligns with Greater Wellington
Regional Council’s proposed policy on Rates Remission on Māori Land.

2.

PURPOSE
This policy allows for rates remissions on Māori freehold land and certain land in Māori ownership
which is not Māori freehold land.
The purpose of this policy is to support Māori freehold land to be used in the ‘best way’ as determined
by landowners and to remove/reduce barriers that may stand in the way of achieving the aspirations
for their whenua, such as historic rates arrears. It also provides greater consistency, equity and clarity
around the rating of Māori land for the benefit of Māori landowners and local authorities.

3.

OBJECTIVES
1. To support the connection of Mana Whenua to their traditional lands and resources, and cultural
values, where appropriate, through the short, medium and long-term relief from rates.
2. To contribute to supporting Council’s strategic direction and partnership with Mana Whenua. To
recognise that Hutt City Council and the community benefit through the efficient collection of rates
that are properly payable and the removal of rating debt that is considered non-collectable.
3. To meet the requirements of the Local Government Act 2002 and to support the principles in the
preamble to Te Ture Whenua Māori Act 1993

4.

ELIGIBILITY, CRITERIA AND CONDITIONS
Hutt City Council will consider each application on its merit and remission may be granted where it is
considered that the application meets the relevant criteria and conditions set out below.
To be granted a remission the land must be eligible. Eligible land is either:
1. Māori freehold land or land which was converted from Māori freehold land to general title by status
order change pursuant to the Māori Affairs Amendment Act 1967; or

APRIL 2022
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2. General land in collective Māori ownership.
Land converted from Māori freehold title to general title under the Māori Affairs Amendment Act 1967
must be in ownership of descendants of the original owners at the time of the status order change.
Land in collective Māori ownership is land owned by Māori which:

5.

1.

was transferred to a Post-Settlement Governance Entity from the Crown as the result of a Treaty
settlement, where no rates had been due to Hutt City Council prior to the transfer and the land is
not currently generating a commercial return, and will not generate a commercial return in the
financial year the remission is applied for; or

2.

is held for:
a.

The protection of wāhi tapu or other cultural values intrinsic to the land; or

b.

Providing economic, cultural or infrastructure support for marae (including papakāinga
housing); or

c.

Educational, cultural or community purposes; or

d.

Satisfies the benefit requirements for land under development in section 114A of the Local
Government (Rating Act) 2002.

CRITERIA
Hutt City Council will give a remission of up to 100 percent of all rates due for eligible land for the
years for which it is granted based on the extent to which the remission of rates will meet at least one
of the following criteria:
1.

Support the use of the land by owners for traditional purposes

2.

Support the relationship of Mana Whenua and their culture and traditions with their ancestral
lands

3.

Avoid further alienation of Māori freehold land

4.

Facilitate any wish of the owners to develop the land for economic use

5.

Recognise and take account of the presence of wāhi tapu that may affect the use of the land for
other purposes

6.

Recognise and take account of the importance of the land in providing economic and
infrastructure support for marae and associated papakāinga housing (whether on the land or
elsewhere)

7.

Recognise and take account of the importance of the land for community goals relating to:
a.

The preservation of the natural character of the coastal environment

b.

The protection of outstanding natural features

c.

The protection of significant indigenous vegetation and significant habitats of indigenous
fauna

8.

Recognise the level of community services provided to the land and its occupiers

9.

Recognise matters related to the physical accessibility of the land

APRIL 2022
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6.

7.

CONDITIONS
1.

Applications for remission under this policy can be made by any owner in the case of collective
ownership, must be made in writing and should be made prior to the commencement of the rating
year. Applications made after the commencement of the rating year may be accepted at the
discretion of Hutt City Council. No remissions are able to be granted for a previous financial year.

2.

Remissions will be granted for a period of three years, unless stated otherwise. Hutt City Council
may reduce the period of remission during the period of the remission if it deems that the criteria
for granting the remission are no longer met.

3.

Applications should include the following information:
a.

Details of the rating unit or units involved

b.

Documentation that shows that the land is eligible as detailed above

c.

Supporting information to demonstrate that the remission will help achieve the criteria set out
in the above section.

4.

Hutt City Council may of its own volition investigate and grant remission of all or part of the rates
(including penalties for unpaid rates) on any Māori land in the region.

5.

Where applicable, Hutt City Council may determine that a remission will only apply to part of the
land to which is eligible (for example, wāhi tapu on a portion of a site that limits some but not the
entire use of the site). In these cases, the remission will be pro-rated.0

6.

For remissions on Māori land under development that meet the benefits described in section
114A(3) of the Local Government (Rating) Act 2002, Hutt City Council will determine the duration
and extent of the rates to be remitted in accordance with section 114A(4) and section 114A(5) of
the Act.

7.

The applicant may choose to remit the payment of a lesser amount of rates than the full amount
owing.

8.

Relief, and the extent thereof, is at the sole discretion of Hutt City council and may be cancelled
and reduced at any time. Hutt City Council will advise landowners of the intention to cancel or
reduce the remission or extent of remission, seek feedback from the landowner and take this
feedback into account before making a final decision.

DECISIONS
Decisions on the remission of rates (including penalties for unpaid rates) under this policy, and It is
needed decisions on remissions under section 114A of the Local Government Ratings Act 2002, are
delegated to Hutt City Council officers and the decision must be endorsed by the Kaitātari Tumuaki
Māori (Principal Māori Advisor).

APRIL 2022
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14 December 2021
address

Olivia Miller
Strategy and Planning
Olivia.Miller@huttcity.govt.nz

Kia ora
Central Government has recently made changes to The Local Government (Rating of Whenua
Māori) Amendment Act 2021, which effects the way Councils charge rates on Māori freehold
land in their district. Hutt City Council is reviewing our Remission and Postponement of Rates
on Māori Freehold Land Policy in relation to this new legislation.
We are writing to you as the owner of address to seek your feedback on this policy review.
This letter explains:
•
the context of this legislation change,
•
what changes Council must make to our policy under this legislation
•
the areas we need to make decisions about,
•
the approach we want to take and
•
the timeline for this mahi.
Context
Under section 108 of the Local Government Act 2002 Council is required to have a policy on
the remission and postponement of rates on Māori freehold land.
The Local Government (Rating of Whenua Māori) Amendment Act 2021 imposes additional
requirements on councils in relation to Māori freehold land. This Act is part of the
Governments wider commitment to supporting whānau and regional development through
whenua. The changes to the rating of Māori freehold land are now in effect and the review of
the Policy for Remission and Postponement of Rates on Māori Freehold Land must be
completed by July 2022.
Most of the land that is classified as Māori freehold land in Te Awa Kairangi ki Tai is already
non-rateable, so while this is an exciting piece of legislation which on a national level is
expected to have some positive impacts, the legislative changes will have a small practical
impact in Te Awa Kairangi ki Tai.
The intent of this policy and legislation is to support Māori freehold land to be used in the ‘best
way’ as determined by landowners and to remove/reduce barriers that may stand in the way of
achieving the aspirations for their whenua, such as historic rates arrears.
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While much of this policy is dictated by legislation, we are prioritising engaging with you as a
landowner and where you have input for the areas in which there is room for discretion or
interpretation those views will be valued and will lead our approach.
This review gives the opportunity to update our policy approach to ensure we make the most
of the new legislative direction to support our Māori whānau by removing barriers that may
stand in the way of you achieving your ambitions for your whenua.
Legislative constraints
The legislative changes under The Local Government (Rating of Whenua Māori) Amendment
Act 2021 specifies changes all Councils must make to their Māori Freehold Land policies.
These changes are outlined below:
•

Completely unused land will become non-rateable,
Under previous legislation owners of completely unused Māori land blocks are legally
obliged to pay rates. However, most of the Māori freehold land in Te Awa Kairangi ki
Tai is currently already non rateable. Under the new legislation Historic rate arrears on
unused Māori land will be automatically removed and no further rates will be charged
on wholly unused land blocks.

•

Ability to write off arrears
Power to write off rates of deceased landowners when the whānau who inherit the land
are interested in developing the block and are willing to take on responsibility for the
rates going forward.

•

Rates remission for Māori freehold land under development
Local authorities are now able to remit rates on whenua Māori to encourage
development. We will be amending our policy to reflect this change in the legislation.
This change means all Māori landowners will be able to apply for rates remission while
their land is under development and if the applications are successful, it will provide
some rates relief for Māori landowners while they bring their land into ‘greater’ use.

•

Ngā Whenua Rāhui kawenata land to be made non-rateable
Under the new legislation all land protected by Ngā Whenua Rāhui will be non-rateable
and outstanding rate arrears will be written off. There is currently no whenua with this
protection in Te Awa Kairangi ki Tai, however if this changes, rates will not be charged
on that whenua.

•

Treating multiple blocks as one
Under previous legislation Multiple land blocks from the same parent block are rated
individually. However, under the new legislation Māori landowners can make an
application to have multiple land blocks that come from the same parent block to be
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treated as one rating unit. The reason for this change is to encourage the development
of unused land by reducing the overall rating liability for the blocks and support
economic development in the region. Instead of paying several uniform charges on
individual blocks originating from one parent block there will only be one set of uniform
charges to pay.

Under previous legislation multiple homeowners on the same block of whenua Māori
are treated as a separate rating unit. If there are low-income homeowners on Māori
land and the property has more than one home, or is used for a variety of purposes,
they were not eligible for a rates rebate. However, under the new legislation, if the
owner wants, they can request Council to rate individual houses on whenua Māori as a
separate rating unit. If the houses are chosen to be rated individually, the occupant of
the house becomes responsible for the rates on the house, and each homeowner will
also have access to the Rates Rebate Scheme. It appears from the information we
hold that there are not any properties on Maori Freehold land with multiple homes on
one block. If that is incorrect for your property, please let us know.

Where the legislation gives Council discretion/ decisions to be made:
Much of the changes to Council’s policy are dictated by the legislative changes under the
Local Government (Rating of Whenua Māori) Amendment Act 2021. However, beyond that
and in areas where there is discretion for interpretation etc., we welcome input from the voices
of Māori freehold landowners and will be guided by any feedback we receive. The intent of the
legislative changes is to support development and provision of housing on whenua Māori,
while recognising that the ‘best use’ of land is not always economic and as such input/
feedback from Māori in relation to aspects over which we have discretion will be prioritised in
the decision making.
•

Under the new legislation the Council’s Chief Executive (CE) must write off rates that
“in the CE’s opinion” cannot be reasonably recovered – we (in conjunction with our
finance team) will be putting together guidance/ criteria to enable the CE to make this
decision in a consistent and fair way. We welcome your suggestions/ thoughts for
factors or circumstances that should be considered when the CE is making this
decision.

•

‘Unused’ land will now be non-rateable – to determine what land is ‘unused,’ we can
set an amount where improvements to the land below that amount are categorised as
‘unused’ and therefore not charged rates. The amount suggested by central
government is $10,000, however we are proposing to set the amount as $20,000. This
is on the basis that most small improvements that have been made to Māori freehold
land in Te Awa Kairangi ki Tai are either below $17,000 or upward of $70,000, so on
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this basis we consider that $20,000 will cover most low-level improvements to the land
such as a fencing. We welcome your input on what you think this amount should
be set at and why you think this is the right amount.

Your Whenua
For context, here is a summary of the likely impact the legislative changes will likely have for
your land: insert photo of land with the property highlighted on a map and the implications of
the new legislation explained.
We are currently in the relatively early stages of this work. We have gathered information
about Māori freehold land in Te Awa Kairangi ki Tai, so we understand the impact of the
legislation on you and other Māori freehold landowner’s whenua. Before we begin reviewing
our policy, we wanted to discuss this mahi with you to ensure you can feed into and be
involved in this mahi from the beginning if you want to.
We welcome all korero regarding this mahi and are happy to discuss this with you or your
whānau if you have any pātai. Please let us know what would suit you best for this (hui kanohi
ki te kanohi, via email, etc). Please send any feedback you have about this mahi and your
views on the areas we have discretion over to Council by 23 December 2021, to
Olivia.Miller@huttcity.govt.nz or if you would like to write to us, Olivia Miller, c/o Hutt City
Council, 30 Laings Road, Lower Hutt, 5010.
From there, we will take any feedback we receive from you and other Māori freehold
landowners and use that and the legislation to review and update our current policy. Once this
draft is ready, we will share it again with you as well as Mana Whenua for further feedback.
We will amend the draft as needed based on any feedback we receive. The draft policy will go
to Komiti Ratonga Rangatōpū me te Rautaki Council’s Policy, Finance and Strategy
Committee in February 2022.
Once approved by this Committee it will go out for public consultation, the dates for this are to
be confirmed, but will likely be March - April 2022. Anyone can make a submission during this
stage of consultation.
We will make any amendments needed to the draft policy based on this consultation. The final
draft of this policy will then go back to Komiti Ratonga Rangatōpū me te Rautaki in April 2022.
The final policy proposal will then be ready for adoption before July 2022.
If you have any pātai about this mahi at any point in this process please do not hesitate to get
in touch, email Olivia.Miller@huttcity.govt.nz . Alternatively Te Puni Kōkiri has a helpful
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pamphlet on the legislative changes and what they mean on their website, you can find it here
https://www.tpk.govt.nz/docs/tpk-rating-maori-land-2021.pdf
Ngā mihi,
Olivia Miller
Policy Advisor, Hutt City Council.
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<Date>

<Name>
<Address line 1>
<Address line 2>
<Address line 3>
<CITY> <5040>

Olivia Miller
Policy Advisor
Strategy and Planning
Olivia.Miller@huttcity.govt.nz

Tēnā koe/ Tēnā kōrua/ Tēnā koutou<First name>
This letter is following on from the letter we sent you late last year outlining the changes
recently made by Central Government to The Local Government (Rating of Whenua Māori)
Amendment Act 2021. This legislation effects the way Councils charge rates on Māori freehold
land in their district.
In response to feedback we have received we have drafted our Rates Remission on Māori
Land Policy. As stated in the original letter much of this policy is dictated by the legislation.
There are a few opportunities for Councils to make their own decisions and in addition to this
we are proposing to extend the scope of this policy as we feel it will better align this policy with
the intent of the legislation and provide greater support to our Māori whānau.
As you will see in the attached draft policy the most significant addition to what is required
under the legislation is that we have proposed to extend this policy from only applying to Māori
Freehold Land to also include certain land in Māori ownership that is not Māori Freehold land
(the eligibility, criteria and conditions for this whenua are outlined on the draft policy). This
proposed change reflects that are situations where whenua in Te Awa Kairangi ki Tai where
land is in general title, owned by Māori and has similar characteristics to Māori freehold land,
or where rates relief would help achieve the intentions of the legislation. It is our view that this
proposed extension to this policy enables us to make the opportunity provided by this new
legislation to support out Māori whanau by removing barriers that may stand in the way of you
achieving your ambitions for your whenua.
This policy will go to Council’s Komiti Ratonga Rangatōpū me te Rautaki, Policy, Finance and
Strategy Committee on April 28th. However, before they receive it, we would like to give you
the opportunity to comment on the draft policy. To allow sufficient time for us to incorporate
any feedback we receive and allow for any further kōrero about this mahi to happen before
this draft policy needs to be submitted in early April, we ask that you please send us any
feedback, comments, or pātai by March 28th. We appreciate that this is a tight deadline and if
that is an issue for you or your whānau please get in touch.

DEM15-4-2 - 22/752 - Rates Remission on Māori Land Policy 2022

Page 178

Attachment 3

Appendix 3: Letter and Draft Policy sent to Mana Whenua and Maori Freehold
Land owners March 2022

Our Mana Whenua partners have discussed this mahi in our regular hui and will also be
receiving this draft copy ahead of it going to committee to allow them the same opportunity to
comment.
It is important the Councillors hear your views on this mahi to help them make an informed
decision on the direction Council takes on this policy by those who will be most impacted by it.
In addition to seeking your feedback on this proposed draft, we invite you to attend the
committee meeting which will give you the opportunity to speak to your Councillors directly if
you would like to. Information about attending and speaking at Council meetings can be found
on our website www.huttcity.govt.nz , click on the Pae kaunihera Council tab, and then click
through to ‘Council Meetings’ you should find all the information. If you have any pātai about
this process, please feel free to get in touch.
This policy will go to the Council’s Komiti Ratonga Rangatōpū me te Rautaki Policy, Finance
and Strategy Committee on 28th April 2022.
Once approved by this committee it will go out for public consultation 1st May -30th May 2022.
Anyone can make a submission during this stage of consultation.
We will make any amendments needed to the draft policy based on this consultation. The final
paper submitted to full Council meeting for adoption (additional ordinary meeting) 7 June
2022. This will be a public meeting and you are welcome to attend.
The final policy will then be ready for adoption before 1 July 2022.
If you or your whanau have any pātai about this mahi or any part of this process please get in
touch, Olivia.Miller@Huttcity.govt.nz
Ngā mihi,

Olivia Miller
Policy Advisor, Hutt City Council.
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Policy, Finance and Strategy
Committee
05 April 2022

File: (22/863)

Report no: PFSC2022/2/71

Policy, Finance and Strategy Committee
Forward Programme 2022

Recommendation
That the Committee receives and notes the Forward Programme for 2022
attached as Appendix 1 to the report.

Purpose of Memorandum
1. To provide the Committee with a Forward Programme of work planned for
the Committee for 2022.
Background
2. The Terms of Reference for the Committee requires the Committee to assist
Council in setting the broad direction of the city, discharging statutory
functions and overseeing organisational performance.
3. The Forward Programme for 2022 provides a planning tool for both members
and officers to co-ordinate programmes of work for the year. The Forward
Programme is attached as Appendix 1 to the report.
Forward Programme
4.

The Forward Programme is a working document and is subject to change on
a regular basis.
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Appendix 1: Forward Programme 2022
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Author: Judy Randall
Democracy Advisor

Reviewed By: Kate Glanville
Senior Democracy Advisor

Approved By: Kathryn Stannard
Head of Democratic Services
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Description

Author

Cycle 3
5 July
2022

Cycle 4
6 Sept
2022

Forward Programme

Cycle 4
19
Sept
2022

Cycle 4
6 Oct
2022

Democracy
Advisor

✓

✓

✓

Three Waters Reform (placeholder for
ongoing reporting)

J Livschitz/B
Hodgins

✓

✓

✓

Māori Freehold Land

K Waldegrave/
M Jennings/ A
Andrews

✓

Application for loan guarantee - Petone
Rowing Club

G UsoaliiPhillips

✓

Proposed Remits to LGNZ

K Waldegrave/K
Stannard

✓

UPL approved constitution

B Cato / D
Moriarty

✓

Ngā Kīwei o Te Kete – Māori
Engagement Strategy

P Hepi / K
Waldegrave

✓

✓

Council performance overview quarterly
report

E Davids/K
Eagle/C
Taylor/C Ellis/J
Livschitz/K
Shaw/ S Sales

✓

✓

Nov/Dec Pending
2022
2022/23
(TBC)
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Author

Cycle 3
5 July
2022

Cycle 4
6 Sept
2022

Hutt Valley Chamber of Commerce six
monthly report

G Craig

✓

Te Reo Policy

M Jennings/K
Waldegrave

✓

Sale and Supply of alcohol (fees)
regulations 2013 (Annual reporting - due
September 2022)

D Bentley

✓

HCC Group Annual Report

D Newth/M De
Boer

Lower Hutt gaming venues and
machines data annual report

C Taylor

Cycle 4
19
Sept
2022

Cycle 4
6 Oct
2022

Nov/Dec Pending
2022
2022/23
(TBC)

Attachment 1

✓

✓

S Page

✓

Urban Plus Group half year report

G Simon

✓

Encroachment Policy

K Waldegrave

✓

Review of Local Alcohol Policy

K Waldegrave

✓

Seaview Marina Ltd half year report
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Description

Author

Cycle 3
5 July
2022

Cycle 4
6 Sept
2022

Cycle 4
19
Sept
2022

Cycle 4
6 Oct
2022

Housing Plan

K Waldegrave

✓

Parking Policy Review

J Kingsbury/K
Waldegrave

✓

Nov/Dec Pending
2022
2022/23
(TBC)
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